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James Sal-coda on SegrQjnation 

June 26, 1943. Segregation. 
Don Elberson believes that segregation will take plac e sooner or later. 

Pie has heard from Mr. Coverley that this matter was seriou sly discussed at 
the directors meeting in Washington. They also surmised t hat if segregation 
Lwere to take place Tule Lake would most likely be chosen as the "black" center — 
the center in which the disloyal ones would be rounded  up .7 

July 10, 1943. Opler on Segregation. 
Opler had received a letter from Province asking him what he thought 

would happen if segregation were to take place. He has been asking various 
colonists what they thought about segregation. In his d iscussion with  JS 
the following points were brought out. 

First Opler showed JS a newspaper clipping from the San Fr ancisco 
Chronicle, giving Myer?3 testimony before the Dies' Com mittee. Myers is re-
puted to have said that there was going to be a great ch ange inside of the centers 
and that 6300 Niseis were going to be put into a segregati on camp. Both Opler 
and JS believe that this is a result of the pressure bein g put on the V.'RA from 
reactionary elements in Congress to hinder the resettleme nt program of the 7/RA 
and their attempt to put the camps under Army rule. Opler b elieves that the 
VtRA is too concerned about these congressmen, and thinks th at it would be better 
if they were ignored. JS recalled that ever since the Man zanar incident there 
has been a tendency on the part of the TCRA and newspaper accounts to blame 
incidents inside a center upon a group of agitators or disl oyal Japanese. Con-
sequently, there has been a continuous clamor for segre gation of these disloyal 
elements. Until now, there has been no basis for this se gregation, and some' 
people believe that the registration offers just such a  basis. That the WRA 
is seriously considering segregation of some sort can b e seen from the fact 
that inquiries are being sent out to social analysts to g et their opinion on 
the matter of segregation. 

JS questioned the basis for segregation. Opler offered t hree — repatri-
ation, non-registration, and a negative answer to quest ion 28. He presumed that 
all three might be employed, in which case a large number wo uld be involved and 
the resulting upheaval within the projects would be gre at. Both Opler and JS 
agreed that non-registration and a negative answer to q uestion 28 did hot show 
loyalty or disloyalty. There were so many other factors,  such as mishandling 
by the administration, that it would be grossly unfair to d etermine loyalty-" 
disloyalty on the basis of those answers alone. Both saw t he feasibility of 
another registration or allowing those who wanted to chan ge their answer if the 
registration were to be used as a basis for determining l oyalty. JS felt that 
repatriation would offer the best basis for segregation. The number inrolved, 
m the first place, would not be very large. If they were to be exchanged with 
prisoners m Japan, they v̂ rould have to be removed fro m the centers anyway. The 
issue m repatriation was clearer — those applying for it k new that they would 
stand the chance of being sent back to Japan. The registr ation was compulsory 
but repatriation was not. But there were a large number w ho took out repatriation 
papers during the heat of registration. Many of them did so to avoid the necessity 

^ s t e r i n S . Consequently, even if repatriation is used as a basi s for segregation 
JS believed that those who asked for repatriation should be given a chance to change 
their minds if they want to. ~ 

Opler, on the other hand, doubted the wisdom of even segr egating those who 
repatriated. In the first place, he questioned whether t hose who"took out repatria-
tion papers really wanted to return to Japan. He also felt that segregation as a 
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means of appeasing the reactionaries would not succeed. No matter what the 
TNRA did it would be criticized, and segregation might o nly give the reactionaries 
more ammunition, just as the registration did. Opler 1s sympathy seems to be very 
much with the evacuees. He hoped to use as an argument agai nst segregation the 
fact that a large number of families would be broken up, a nd the fact that there 
would be trouble again within the projects. Also, he cou ld see no good that 
would come of segregation, just as he saw 110 advantage i n limiting those who 
could hold elective positions in the City Council to tho se who answered  "yes" 
to question 28. Both Opler and JS pointed out that segreg ation was bound to 
slow up the resettlement program. 

Here we find a fundamental difference in viewpoint on camp g overnment. 
On the one hand, we find the V.BA instructions specifyin g that the'disloyal 
shall not be allowed to hold office. Opler's contention is , however, that 
there was trouble within the center because Isseiswere n ot allowed to hold 
office previously. The same thing vrould happen if only the so-called loyal 
ones were allowed to run the camp. Segregation would be b ased on the assumption 
that there is a clear-cut difference between the two an d that they can be identi-
fied in some way. 

It seems that the WRA is again being confused by a change in policy. Opler 
says that the last time he talked to layers he was talking a bout a "positive 
segregation." 3y this he probably meant that the loyal ones would receive help 
in resettling, and that the disloyal ones would remain wit hin the center. This 
type of segregation, which is desirable, is bound to go o n as long as evacuees 
leave the project. They cannot leave without first being  cleared by the FBI. 
If this keeps up, however, there is bound to be a larger pr oportion of people 
left in the project who are considered disloyal. In many ways this is desir-
able because it encourages those -who are considered t o be loyal to leave the 
project, if only to avoid association with people with w hom they have little 
in common. But it means that the reactionaries would have increasing reason 
for pointing out that the centers are filled with disloyal people. In other 
words, the program of "positive segregation" was essen tially sound in every 
respect. Restriction of the rights of those who were considered "disloyal" 
served no purpose except to encourage those who were loya l to remain longer 
within the project, aside from causing general dissatisfac tion. Segregation 
would be just another type of restriction on the disloyal , which would be a 
hindrance to the resettlement program. One good that s egregation would do would 
be to appease reactionaries in Congress and give the  WRA more security, although 
sufficient trouble could be generated by such a proce ss to give more ammunition 
to the reactionaries. It might also eliminate a number of trouble makers and make 
it easier for the others to run the project more smoothly, a nd ease some pressure 
toward disloyalty. 

It should also be pointed out that loyalty and disloyal ty as one observes 
it in people is a matter of degree. On the one hand, we f ind persons who are 
willing to volunteer for combat duty or for Camp Savage, o thers  who  are willing 
to contribute their labor, while on the other hand, we find those who are 
apathetic, those who sympathize with Japan, and fina lly those who actively sup-
port pro-Axis sentiments. It is probably true that the se gregation of those who 
are considered "dangerous" would eliminate one source of trouble in the projects. 
But at the same time such a procedure would revive resentm ent and a fear of 
"informers" and may start another major incident. The m ain problem here is one of 
attempting to identify a "dangerous" individual. Presuma bly, at the time of 
registration the more dangerous ones were sent to an isola tion camp. If segregation 
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must take place, it seems best to limit it to a very small nu mber of the extremists. 
For the rest, it would seem more profitable to offer better opportunities for 
resettlement. 

July 12, 1943. Segregation. 
Dr. Jacoby said that he himself was not in favor of segre gation, but that 

if it should come, he would make use of it to get some unde sirable people out 
of this center. He thought that Myers was really not in favor of segregation, 
either. He felt that the only reason that layers would c arry out such a step 
would be in order to appease the reactionaries in Congress . It was a step 
calculated to give some concession in order that the WRA w ould not lose every-
thing. He seemed to imply that from this angle segrega tion would have significance. 
But he thought that it was a negative measure. 

Dr. Jacoby felt that the group most likely to be segregat ed would be 
those who had taken out repatriation papers. There were m ore than 500 of those, 
and more than half of them Niseis. The segregation of the se people had been 
talked about since last fall. Shirrell, for instance, was in favor of having 
them removed from the center along with "agitators." J s agreed with Dr. Jacoby 
that the issue in case of repatriation was relatively clea r. However, those 
who took out repatriation papers during registration rea lly didn't mean that 
they wanted to return to Japan, and some have cancelled the ir repatriation since. 
Both agreed that segregation of those who did not reg ister and who answered no 
to Question 28 would involve a great deal of injustice. Dr. Jacoby hoped that if 
segregation did take place that it would not be mechanical , but the result of 
great care and investigation. 

JS felt that segregation would have significance on^r as a n appeasement 
policy, but Dr. Jacoby felt that seme good would result i f some of the more 
troublesome people who T.ere obstructing the resettlemen t program, for instance, 
were taken out. JS pointed out the error of thinking in te rms of loyal and 
disloyal, which to him were relative matter« While  he,  agreed that the removal 
of the more extremists would help, he did not expect a great deal of improvement 
from such a recourse. It was difficult to draw the line betwee n the desirable 
and the undesirable; too much antagonism toward the adm inistration would be re-
kindled, and the more loyal ones would be accused of having informed. Both 
agreed that mechanical procedure of segregating on the b asis of the registration 
¡yras not helpful. JS wanted to know how the more disloya l ones would be identified, 
without getting the more loyal ones into trouble. 

Dr. Jacoby felt that with the cooperation of the more lo yal ones, the 
trouble makers could be identified to his satisfaction a nd be sent to the segre-
gation center. He said that it required a great many repor ts which had to be 
checked against each other in order to determine a troubl emaker. He wanted to 
know why the more loyal ones couldn't help in identifying these persons since 
it would add to their own welfare. He gave the illustratio n of a fellow who 
said that there was a troublemaker in his block who woul djbe picked up sooner 
or later. He was afraid that in case he should be picked up, he himself 
would be blamedftor informing the administration. So he said he might as well 
tell everything now. He did so, requesting at the same ti me that the matter 
be handled in such a way as to free him of suspicion. This  was done, Dr. Jacoby 
said, and he hasntbaanlroubled ever since. ITiat he cou ldn't understand was 
why the people were not more willing to cooperate in getti ng rid of the trouble-
makers. Even his wardens were likely to hush up an incident  rather than to bring 
them up for trial. Lately he has taken those responsibl e for gambling joints to 
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jail outside. While he always didn't get the real leaders , he knew that he was 
making it uncomfortable for them to continue to operat e. When some people were 
be aten up during registration, he was able to arrest a few in ea ch case'and send 
them to Leupp. He feels that for this reason we no?/ ha ve less fear of another 
beating. He does not see why those obstructing resettleme nt cannot be removed, 
with a little cooperation from the people. 

JS pointed out his own point of view on the matter. As he was a research 
worker, he did not dare cooperate with the administration  in identifying trouble-
makers. Because of the nature of his work, he was like ly to be suspected anyway 
of being an informer, and he could not run the risk of havi ng any connection with 
the administration. For the same reason he could not advoc ate resettlement openly 
because it would antagonize some people and would ma ke them inaccessible to him. 
While the pressure brought to bear upon him might be small a t times, it could be 
strong enough at other times to make it impossible to do an y further research 
work or to live in the community. Dr. Jacoby then asked hi m what his stand 
would be if he were not a research worker. JS said that e ven then he would not 
point to a person as being dangerous except in extreme c ases. He might if a 
person were thinking of beating someone up or contempl ating sabotage. But he was 
doubtful whether he would do anything about a man who we nt around telling people 
that it was wrong to resettle. While it was opposing adm inistrative policies, JS 
could not see that it was sufficient grounds for having him  removed. Such matters 
were best left up to the wardens, whose duty it was to lo ok into such matters. 
If they were unwilling to do anything ¿bout it, he did no t see why he should 
meddle with it either. 

Part of this reluctance, JS pointed out, was based on th e resentment from 
evacuation being centered upon the administration. Dr. Jacoby said that he under-
stood this, but still didn't see why he couldn't get more c ooperation, even from 
his wardens. JS concluded that it was a racial matter, perhaps. The people were 
loyal to their own race. Even -hen they were being mistrea ted, they would prefer 
to suffer in silence, rather than turn someone in. They wou ld much rather get a 
band of stron^/melf and protect themselves than ask hel p of the administration. 
Informing is about the worse thing a person can be accuse d of, and he would rather 
not run that risk. Dr. Jacoby wondered if it weren't bett er if these people 
cooperated with the administration and had the dangerous ones removed/ JS pointed 
out that the pressure would still be forthcoming from ot her people if one were 
suspected of informing. After all, one had to eat in the same messhall and use 
the same showerroom. It would be a little different if yo u could live in your 
own home and do your shopping at a store. 

Rumors . 

Both Joe Hayes and Coverley are resigning soon. This r umor was heard in 
both Block  2  5  and Block 71. 

Segregation is going to begin on August 1. This was heard on the farm. 
It was also stated that all those who repatriated, who did not reg ister, and who 
answered "no" to Question 28 were to be segregated. 

Those who registered are going to be asked to leave this Project. 

July 13, 1943. Planning Board (P.B.) 
J^ went to the PB yesterday afternoon to see how things wer e coming along. 

Opler was discussing the possible repercussions of the announced segregation with 
Mr. Yoshida. Watanabe w s just sitting at his desk, whi le Lily Nakamura was 
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standing, doing or saying nothing. Dr. Kuki came in later , and so did Kent 
Morimune. The first announcement of the segregation had b een released in the 
Dispatch, and everyone was concerned about the possible r epercussion. All of 
the PB members seemed to agree that they didn't want to be come involved in 
another trouble, which they speculated might be worse tha n the registration 
incident. 

Dr. Opler's prime concern was to find out what might happ en, so that 
he could point out in his report to Washington what to ex pect and how to avoid 
trouble. He was still against segregation, aid was inten t on fighting it, al-
though he realized that a Senate resolution was not anyt hing to be trifled 
with. 

Mrs. Yoshida thought that there was going to be a great dea l of trouble — 
worse than the one Tule Lake had during registration. She co uldn't see what 
good would come of it all. The others could not say definite ly what would happen, 
but they seemed to fear the worse. Kent thought that there  would be a great 
deal of trouble, too, and that the resettlement program w ould come to a stand-
still. Although the P.B. had received ressure from vario us hotheaded individuals, 
the PB members did net feel that the removal of the so-cal led disloyal would 
improve anything in the center here. 

Watanabe.  ; 
Watans.be's attitude probably showed best of all the reac tion of those 

who would be involved in the segregation. He said, "What do I care. Let it 
come. I'm not afraid. I'm not going to change anything. " This attitude of de-
fiance will probably be the dominant mood of those who are to be segregated. 

JS pointed out the possibility of a riot if the people t hought of re-
sisting the segregation  process.  They could refuse to attend the court trials, 
or they could refuse to leave the project. If soldiers had to be brought in 
to carry out the segregation, the chances for a riot wer e very good. The 
others did not seem to be impressed with this possibilit y. 

Issei Meeting with Coverley. 
The other questions were not important. Toward the end o ne man asked 

how the segregation between the loyal and the disloyal wo uld be effected. Mr. 
Coverley's reply was that he did not know more than was  mentioned in the Dis-
patch this evening. He said that he was in favor of segregat ion from over a 
year ago, and thought that it should have been effected at the time pepple were 
moved from the assembly centers to the relocation center s. This statement will 
probably be one of the main sources of friction between  the colonists and the 
administration. Practically no evacuee sees any good i n the segregation. Coverley 
is heartily in favor of it. 

Reaction to Segregation in Block 25. 
Yesterday evening the segregation made a little stir in t he block, but 

not a great one. The Isseis did not seem to know the deta ils of the announcement 
very well, while even some Niseis had not read the Dispatch . The only definite 
remarks heard by JS were made by several boys about 20 t o 25 years of age. Their 
attitude was: "What do we care. Let it come. We'll go "wh erever they take us. 
We're not afraid." But behind their attitude, J^ could f eel a sense of fear lurk-
ing in the background. They seemed to be more afraid of showing any fear than 
anything else. 
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Mrs, Akahoshi on Segregation._ 
Mrs. Akahoshi has been in favor of registration, and co nsequently is not 

in sympathy with the rest of the people in her block; mo st of whom were at best 
reluctant to register. Her reaction to the announcemen t of the segregation pro-
cess was one of wanting to feel that her family had do ne the right thing and con-
sequently would not be troubled by the segregation proce ss. She said: "Both  f 

Mr, Akahoshi and I answered Jres' to question 28. Of course , Ziggy answered 'no 
to that question, but he ought to be all right because he c hanged it right away." 
JS, however, pointed out the fact that Ziggy would pro bably have to go through 
the hearing before he was cleared of the charge of bein g disloyal. 

Ziggy was recently married and moved to Block 41 to live. But since there 
are indications in that sector alres.dy of trouble bec ause of the impending segregra-
tion process, she wants him to move to some other w ard. 

July 14, 1943. Mrs. Kaya on Segregation ana Resettlemen t. 
Mrs. Kaya is a Kibei girl who has been ir&rried to her h usband for about 

ten years now. She has spent her days in America prior  to evacuation working as 
[a.  maid in a home, where her husband worked also as the cook. B ecause of her 
contact with the Caucasian family, she does not feel so re sentful toward Caucasians 
in general. Also, both she and her husband do not feel so  resentful of the 
evacuation, for one thing, because they did not have ver y much to lose. In 
fact, for Mrs. Kaya, life in a relocation center is a vacati on since she is' 
not required to work at present. Her present ideas and f eelings reveal some 
of the factors which contribute toward her attitude toward resettlement and segre-
gation. The following is the gist of a conversation between JS and Mrs. Kaya: 

JS: "I'm afraid that lot of families are going to be spl it by the 
segregation." 

K: "I don't mind at all. I can go someplace else from my husband," 
JS: "Did you answer 'no'?" 
K: "Well, my husband he toru (told) me tsu (to) ansa (answer)  'no.' I 

do as he say," (This in English, Most of the time she sp oke in Japanese. Note 
the change of tongue when wanting to admit something e mbarrassing.) 

JS: "And did he answer 'yes'?" 
K: "I donto (don't) know. Maybe Ishizuka-san and Kishiya ma-san dat way, 

too." 
JS: " "Do you think they're the same? My gosh.  ,  It may mean that all of 

you may have to be separated." 
E: "Oh, America won't do such a thing as to separate husban ds and wives." 

(Note a degree of trust in the American way.) It doesn't mat ter in what sort of 
camp you are/ you'll be housed  a nd fed in the same way. I don't care where I'm 
sent, as long as they take care of me. 

JS: "Well, for one thing, you won't be allowed to go out to work." 
K: (Becoming slightly heated) "Who wants to go out to wor k. You have to 

be watching out all of the time because you're a Japanese . And it's hard to get 
along on the outside from reports that I have heard." 

JS: "I know, for seme families it's hard to make a living.  But for a 
couple like you who work in a home, you can't help but s ave money." 

K: "it's really not the work I mind so much,as the mental anguish you 
have to go through. You are constantly under a strain ab out what you say and do, 
and it's going to be awful right now during wartime. I've worked hard up till now, 
and it's easier staying in a camp." 

JS: "I'm afraid that you have become lazy." 
K: "I tell you it's not laziness. My husband tells me that I don't 

have to work unless I feel like it. He knows that I've wor ked hard until no?/, 



James Sal-coda on SegrQjnation 

and that if we go out I'll have to work hard again. (Not e her intention to go 
out.) Maybe, you don't know, but it's a very great strain trying to get along 
with a Hakujin. I remember when I still didn't know much E nglish and had only 
started to work for the BrownCs, they wanted me to go to the ir summer house in 
Lake Tahoe. I didn't want to go, but I had to go along. I had t o do a lot of 
work, taking care of the children, lighting the wood stov e, getting breakfast, 
taking care of parties till late at night. I didn't get to  sleep till about 
11:30 every night. Then once when I asked for more roast b eef to make another 
sandwich, Mrs. Brown exclaimed, "Gosh." I didn't know Engl ish then, but I 
knew what she meant. I felt so bad that I wanted to go home . Her son cut 
the meat for me later, but after that I didn't feel well . And they gave me 
so much work to do. I finally insisted on going home when Mrs. Brown went 
back to Walnut Grove to keep an engagement. I told my husb and all about it, 
and he complained to Mrs. Brown that I was being overworke d. Mrs. Brown 
apologized, asked me to go back to Lake Tahoe again. I d idn't want to, but 
I went because my husband thought that it would-be better if I did. They 
treated me much nicer after than, but I still remember i t all." 

(Both Mr. and Mrs. Xaya are satisfied with life in a camp, and do 
not mind staying for the duration. But they are not with out plans of someday 
resettling,' since they want to work several more years be fore"returning to 
Japan. But faced with the possibility of being forced into segregation camp, 
she recalls all of the arguments against resettling. This i ncident which 
occurred years ago, has seared its imprint on her delicate  nature. But her 
subsequent good relationship with the Browns had effected a satisfactory ad-
justment, removing the feelings of inferiority, insecu rity, shame attendant 
to a position of domestic servant. But with the possibili ty of segregation 
these feelings come back to her again.) 

Mr. Kaya on Segregation. 
Mr. Kay a is a levelheaded person, and was in favor of regist ration. 

He is dogmatic, however, and while he does not succumb to the fantastic notions 
held by some of the Isseis, he sticks to his interpretation of matters at times. 
This often is at fault because he does not know all of the f actors which underly 
a problem. His attitude toward segregation reveals this.  That he or his wife 
stand the possibility of being included in the segregat ed group probably puts 
him on the defensive on this matter. This is an after-dinn er conversation 
that took place between JS and Mr. Kaya in front of his place . 

JS: "The Dispatch hasn't printed the translation of the announcement 
of the segregation, yet, has it?" 

K: "Ho. What did it say?" 
JS: "It's something like this. They want to separate the loyal from 

the disloyal, and put the disloyal in a separate camp. Thos e who repatriated are 
sure of being put in the disloyal camp. Others will have t o go through a court 
hearing. Then those in the disloyal camp will not be allow ed to go out to 
work." 

K: "Ah, you know what. They are getting ready to throwth e loyal ones 
out of the centers. They're going to say that they have  no right to keep the 
loyal ones inside a camp, and hence they're going to be told to leave. I know." 

JS:  :! If you know for  sure,  I suppose there's no sense in nry talking." 
Ks "Even if you're in a segregation camp, you're going to be housed 

and fed just as we are now. And you can be assured of stayin g for the duration. 
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If you're in the loyal camp, youi-e going to be asked to leave. How else can 
you interpret this segregation?" 

JS :  'Veil, it's something like this. Up tilljnow all of the  incidents 
within a center were explained away as being caused byl dis loyal elements. Con-
sequently, the outside public was given the impressio n that" if the disloyal 
ones were segregated, law and order could be maintained within the centers. 
Now, the TCRA received a great deal of pressure from the Die s Committee and 
rmembers of Congress to separate the loyal from the dislo yal. The Senate passed 
a resolution to that effect. Now, even if the ViRA does n ot rnsh to carry on 
segregation, it has  to.  There are people on the outside who do not like the 
Japanese who want to keep them inside of the centers. That 's because they don't 
like the Japanese. The WRA wants to get them out. What we ha ve to think about 
is whether it will be more profitable to go out'or to stay in. If we are to 
go out, it's going to be much harder after the war." 

K: "Yes, that's right. After the last war I was working wi th 18 others 
in a big restaurant. The owner liked us very much and said th at he couldn't 
get along without us. But he had t6 let us go because veter ans demanded our 
positions. He asked us to come to see him again and to b e good. That's the 
way it's going to be again." (Mr. Kaya was impressed with wha t JS said. 
Probably he saw light, where it was all darkness before.  He was able to see 
things in better perspective.) 

JS: "The Yasui and Hirabayashi case decisions uoheld t he legality of the 
evacuation , but it did not show that it was legal to hold  citizens in a camp 
without good reason. They are going to hold hearings whic h will determine a" 
person's loyalty or disloyalty in order to be able to ho ld the disloyal in a 
camp. Of course, you can't tell whether they'll throw o ut the loyal ones or not." 

K: "Yes, I think they're going to do it right this time. I do n't think 
that the people are going to make a lot of mistakes by li stening to poor leaders 
again. They learned their lesson the last time." 

JS: "I don't know about that. There's still a possibility of a riot if 
they bring in soldiers to try to get people out of here." 

Talk about Segregation 
Hattie Kurose asked JS whether they might not go through w ith the segrega-

tion process, and JS thought that they would go throug h with it. She and others 
were wondering where people from Tule Lake would go, if i t is selected as the 
segregation center. There is talk that the people from T ule Lake will go to 
Arkansas. Movement between centers have been stopped,  and the Funai family 
is without much to wear because they were going to another  center and sent 
their baggage on ahead. It is being rumored that some fam ilies are preparing 
for movement already. Hattie asked her parents whether  they shouldn't start 
buying some rope and getting some boxes together. Mrs. Kurose has heard a 
rumor that on July IS they are going to announce the names of those who are 
to be moved. Perhaps, it is a confusion with the list of fam ilies reauested 
by Japan for exchange. 

July 15, 1S43. Mr. Kubo on Segregation. 
Mr. Kubo, the General Manager of the Co-op, had this to say a bout segre-

gation yesterday: "There probably won't be so much trou ble. There may be some 
but I don't think there will be much of it. Vie may have  to liquidate the Co-op 
if the majority of the people have to leave the Project , but it's better not to 
because it's so hard to start a Co-op." 

Nish Kumagai on Segregation. 
Nish was talking to a man who wanted some young fellows t o move in with 

some other fellows to vacate an apartment in his block. Ni sh thought that it could 
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be done, but ended up -with the advice: "Maybe the best thin g to do is to let 
the matter remain as it is at present. Until segregation is c ompleted we don't 
know who may have to leave, and it's not worth the troubl e to bother with changes 
just now." 

July 16, 1943. Harry Mayeda on Segregation. 
The registration issue came as a surprise to most peopl e — including 

the administration and t he evacuees. Segregation, ho wever, was vaguely expected 
by many people, and now that it has been announced, more attention is being 
given to it than was given to the handling of the registra tion. There is evi-
dence of more cooperation between the administrative offi cials and evacuee 
leaders, both intent on avoiding the trouble they incurr ed on the earlier issue. 
The Social Analyst, for instance, has already been con sulted on the possible 
effect of the segregation process. The Project Director ha s called together 
a group of leaders to discuss 

ways and means to avoid unnecessary complications 
caused by lack of information and misunderstanding. Th ese points have been 
brought out in an interview with Harry Mayeda. The follo wing is his account 
of the development of the segregation process. 

hen Myer last visited the Project, he assured Harry and ot her leaders 
who had an interview with him that he was against any sort  of "negative segrega-
tion." He desired positive segregation, whereby the more l oyal ones would be 
resettled on the outside, rather than attempt to segregat e the disloyal element. 
Possibly due to pressure from the Dies Committee and othe r reactionary elements 
on the outside, Myer was required to put into effect the seg regation of the loyal 
from the disloyal. The decision to carry out the segregati on was reached in 
Washington. The Project Directors were consulted on this matter in June at a 
meeting of all of the roject~directors, but at that time  no definite decision 
had been reached. 

The segregation was first announced in the Dispatch on Mo nday, July 12. 
On Thursday, July 15, Coverley called a meeting of leader s from both the 
administrative staff and the colonists to discuss the impe nding segregation. 
Those present included Harkness, John D. Cook, Dr. Ich ihashi, Kuramoto (President 
cof the Board of Directors of the Cooperative Enterprises ), Kihei Ikeda (from 
the Planning Board), Bob Shirai (Executive Secretary of t he CC), Harry Mayeda, 
and Rev. Tanabe. Neither Zimmer nor Frank C. Smith v/er e present. Perhaps 
they were invited, but could not attend. Joe Hayes was  in his office across the 
corridor, but he was not asked in. Coverley probably foun d out his competence, 
although it took him a long time to do so. (Since the natu re of the meeting was 
to discuss means of getting proper information to the peop le, Coverley perhaps 
felt that it was unnecessary to call in his inner circl e of division chiefs. 
On the other hand, the liberal elements of the administ ration were not called 
in, either.) 

Coverley announced that he expected the procedures of the segregation to 
arrive soon. At the present time he did not have any more inf ormation than v/hich 
appeared in the Dispatch.^ He and the Project Attorney, S ilverthorne, v/ere leav-
ing for a conference of project directors in Denver to recei ve instructions. 
Several points were brought up for discussion. First, it  was felt that the 
full information should be allowed to reach the people wi th the least amount of 
distortion. For this purpose the Dispatch, both Engli sh and Japanese sections, 
would be utilized to the fullest. Since delegates of ten failed to convey the 
correct information back to the people, it was suggest ed that meetings should be 
held 

on a ward basis, perhaps in the high school gymnasium, whe re the problem could 
be discussed fully. (Note the need for a large assembly hall for better contact 
between leaders and the people.) Another consideration t hat was taken up was a 
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counseling service for individual families vihich would find difficulty arriving 
at a decision because of lack of understanding or split wit hin the family. Such 
a service which arose from the people was thought to be a goo d idea. There was 
also a discussion of demands that the project director migh t take to the con-
ference in Denver to avoid mistakes. One question that  was brought up was'that 

" if the repatriates were not going to be tried at all, it wou ld cause some injustice 
since many people took out repatriation papers only to avoid registration. (Note 
this gesture to consult the evacuee leaders.) Some hypoth etical cases, including 
those involving family splits, were discussed, but no def inite conclusions were 
reached. 

More meetings of this type are expected in the future, mean ing closer 
cooperation between the administration and.the evacuees , 

July 17, 1943. Ward V on Segregation 
Many people believe that the segregation process is not  going to raise 

as much trouble as did the registration issue. There is reason to believe, 
however, that in Ward V, where there are a large number of people who will be 
called up for a hearing, there is more tension than in o ther sectors of the city. 
JS asked Matsuda how things were coming along there, and h e replied that he 
really did not know. The day segregation was announced h e went to the mess-
hall in the evening and found boys that he sat with act ing a little queerly 
toward him. He did not know the reason for this until h e went back to his" 
apartment and read the Dispatch for that day. He could s ee no reason for the 
boys reviving the attitude of suspicion and resentment t oward which they main-
tained during registration. The funny part of it all is th at many peo.le in his 
block believe that he answered "yes" to Question 28, wh ereas in reality he 
answered  ir no. !1  One man from his block that did mention segregation to h im said, 
"We're going to have a lot of trouble again." 

If tension in Ward V has not really mounted as yet, at l east it is being 
rumored by people in other Wards. Mrs. Akahoshi from Bl ock 25 said: "My son,° 
Ziggy, was married recently and moved to Block 41. But I hear trouble is already 
starting in that Ward, and I think it's going to be safer to have him moved out 
of that ward n o w . T h i s rumor cannot be entirely unfounded , because Mrs. Akahoshi 
has friends in Ward V from Oakland, but who moved out to th e White Zone. 

George Ike on Registration. 
Right after dinner yesterday jS  S at in the shade with George Ike. George 

has been one of the few people in the block who has consis tently greeted JS in°a 
friendly manner. The conversation ran somewhat as follo ws: 

JS:  !;  ell, when are the wedding bells going to ring?" (George is engaged 
to Clara Sakamoto.) 

George: "I don't know, with this segregation coming up. " 
JS: "Why don't you get married befor it takes placed" 
George: "But supposing Clara answered 'no' and I answered 'yes.'" 
JS: "Do you think she answered 'no?'" 
George:  r, lo, but how about my family. I don't think that my parent s 

answered 'no,' but I think my sisters did." 

JS: "I suppose girls would be more likely to do what thei r parents tell 
them to do." 

George: "I'm afraid so. John Itoda and I were the only on es in this 
block that were going to go register the first day at the Ad Building. Then I 
talked to some Kibeis who discouraged me. At that time  kids in Block 26 and 27 

1 
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and all of ray friends were against registering and I though t it was best to avoid 
trouble. Consequently, I went and took our repatriatio n papers with the others, 
but of course I cancelled that right away." 

JSj "What happened the morning we were supposed to register ? Did you attend 
the meeting proposed by the representatives from Block 42?" 

George: "No, I kept away because I had intended to register. I attended 
a meeting of Kibeis in Ward  III,  and, I bet you that they themselves didn't know 
what they were saying. I could have made a better speech m yself. They didn't 
know what they were doing. Maybe I should have come out st ronger for register-
ing, but  I  thought it was better not to stir up any trouble. 

Analysis  :  Here we find community pressure at work to make a fellow c hange his 
mind on an important issue. George was too intimately ti ed up with the community 
to ignore the majority decision. 

Segregation. 
Among those who fear that they will be classified as disloya l there is talk 

that those who are loyal are going to be thrown out of the ce nters. According 
to Mr. Kurose, he finds people like that working on the Pro ject farm. They talk 
about segregation from morning till night, worrying nee dlessly. The contentions 
of some are: "It's going to be too bad for some of you who  registered, be-
cause you're going to be thrown out of the camp,  lie're  going to be allowed to 
stay for the duration." Mr. Kurose, himself, does not feel t hat anybody is *-oinr 
cto be thrown out, although he is not sure on this point. 

Mr. Akahoshi on Segregation. 
This morning Mr. Akahoshi, the block manager (#25) came to see JS for 

news about segregation. He wanted to know what the proced ure was going to be. 
JS said that the procedure hadn't been announced as ye t, but there"was'going to 
be a meeting of the project directors soon. He explaine d that care was "being 
taken this time not to repeat the mistake made during re gistration, and that̂ " 
attempts would be made to get complete information down to the peoole. Mr. 
Akahoshi said: /»If the matter is handled well by the adm inistration, we won't 
have so very much trouble. If they mishandle it, we're goin g to have all sorts 
of trouble." JS explained what he knew of  the.  history of the segregation movement. 
He also explained that those who were loyal were not go ing to be thrown out of 
the projects. He sheaved the BM a quotation of a letter from Acting Director 
Rovra.lt to Coverley, dated February 1, which ran: "P lease make it clear we are 
not going to force people to relocate when they do not w ant to be relocated." 
Both agreed that it was a great misfortune that that st atement had not been 
made public. They recalled that even the simple fact .that  those who answered 
"no, no" would not be drafted was not made clear until Blo ck 25 inquired about 
it specifically. 

Analysis  :  The interesting thing about "this account is that Mr. Ak ahoshi took the 
time to consult JS. For one thing it meant that he had won hi s confidence as one 
who knew what was going on about here. It also meant that h e was concerned enough 
about the segregation issue to take the trouble to find o ut as much as he could 
about the matter. This concern on the part of leaders not to reoeat the mistakes 
made during registration seems to be general, TRhat is n eeded now is a wholesale 
campaign to dispell whatever fear that may arise. One r umor that should be spiked 
is that those who are loyal are going to be thrown out of t he centers. There 
should also be an article in the Dispatch giving the hist ory of the segregation 
movement, the pressure groups at work to oppose the Japa nese people and the WRA. 
On these points the Information Division has not done enoug h. 
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July 19, 1943. Yaye Takasugi on Segregation. 
Yaye asked JS whether "they" would make girls join the WAC  if they were 

proven to be loyal and answered "yes" to Questions 27 and 28 . JS said that he 
didn't think so. She also wanted to know whether ther e would be a good chance 
of being thrown out of the place if they are proven loyal. JS again said that 
he didn't think so. About the prospect of moving, Yaye sai d:  MI don't want 
to move any more. I want to be with my friends. What's the use  of doing any-
thing any more, when we don't know what's going to haope n. This segregation 
business is really terrible, isn't it?" Yaye didn't even want to go to Gila, 
where she has many friends. JS pointed out that moving mightjoffer more opportuni-
ties of meeting people, more adventure, and Yaye didn't see/in that light at all. 

Tonomura and Matsumoto on Segregation. 
Tonomura and Matsumoto have been two of the more trouble some co-op mem-

bers active in co-op affairs. Both have the desire to bas k in public gbry, so 
typical of the A type of personality. They are not popular w ith their co-
workers because they tend to be dogmatic. Matsumoto find s satisfaction in 
reflected glory from Japan's conquests. Their opinions on registration are those 
most likely to be held by the segment of the population l eaning toward Japan. 
They told JS: 

"The purpose of the segregation is to make an excuse to get people out of 
the camps. It's clear that they're getting ready to thro w people out of the 
camps." 

JS: "Do you think they'll do anything like that?" 
M and T: "What are they going to do with all of the woun ded soldiers 

that are coming back from the war area? In San Diego sc hools and churches are 
now filled with wounded soldiers, and they don't know what  to do withihem. 
If the war is carried on to the mainland here, it is goi ng to become acute. 
They have to put them someplace, and if they do, they're goi ng to have to move 
out some of the Japanese to make room for the soldiers." 

JS: "iihat do you think that they are going to do with the C o-op? Don't 
you think that it's best to leave the Co-op for whomever is g oing to be here?" 

M and T:  ,f It doesn't have to be liquidated. The structure can be l eft 
for anyone who is left. But the emphasis should be place d on those who are 
going away. The assets should be divided up among them. After all, there's no 
assurance that anyone is going to be allowed to stay here." (Both seem to be 
under the impression that the disloyal are going to have to go out first.) 

r. Kajita, another co-op worker, was present at the discu ssion, but he 
kept a significant 'silence. He is quieter and more level- headed. He is definitely 
not an A type of personality. He is more friendly to J^ tha n are either Matsu-
moto or J-onomura. 

Mrs. Tanabe's Dilemma« 
The dilemma of the Tanabe family is probably being duplic ated in many 

parts of the project as segregation is becoming imminen t. "While segregation 
has been announced as forthcoming, there has been no offic ial explanation of the 
reasons why segregation is taking place at this time. Thi s is increasing the 
already difficult problem of maintaining unity within a  family on the matter of 
segregation. In the Tanabe family, Kazuye, who has gradua ted" from the University 
of utah, is working now in Salt Lake City and does not intend  to live in a center. 
Kazulco, the elder sister, is still in the project, but is contemulating leaving 
as soon as she can find suitable employment. The father  and mother have not re-
gistered yet because of fear on the part of the father that i f they should register 
they may be forced to leave the project at some future da te. The mother feels 
that this will not take place. Her main concern is to be wit h her children. She 
does not feel that she has a right to hold Kazuko back be cause it would leave 
Kazuye outside alone. She feels that it would work out be tter if they both registered 
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and waited for an opportunity to join their children. 

Mrs. Tanabe related to JS: "Papa and I didn't register bec ause he was 
afraid that if we registered we may be forced to leave this p lace some time in 
the future. I can't work because of my health. And he says t hat he's too old 
now to go out and work on a farm like other people. He's afrai d that if he 
should go out, people on the outside will be unreceptive to Japanese and he'll 
be unable to make a living. Ytfhat I'm most concerned ab out is to have my children 
close to us. Kazuko and Kazuye may live in the city and we may have to live 
in the country, but at least we'll be able to see each other. Maybe there's 
a possibility that we can go to a disloyal camp until our ch ildren get ready 
to call us out, I don't know. The children think that we sho uld regi  ster,  and 
so do I. They've talked to papa, but he won't  listen to  them. I wish there were 
someone who could really explain things to him and assur e him that those who 
are considered loyal will not be forced to go out. I don't thin k that America 
would do such a thing as to force a person out.when he was n ot able to make a 
living on the outside. 

July 20, 1943. Crystallization of Attitude Toward Segrega tion. 
Segregation was announced in the TD on July 12, but no furthe r information has 

beaipublished since then. The Japanese translation did no t appear until several 
days after the English version was published. At the meet ing with Isseis Coverley 
was asked how loyalty and disloyalty would be determined, and his reply was 
that he had no more information on the matter than appea red in the TD. In other 
words, segregation had been announced without any explanat ion. liyer had given 
his assurance that he was against negative segregation, so that segregation at 
this point needed an explanation. Why had Myer changed his mind in the meantime? 
Lacking a suitable explanation, the more vocal members of th e Colony began to 
give interpretations of their own. 

The more vocal colonists are those who like to gather in lat rines, sit 
in front of their doorsteps after lunch or dinner, who pre fer to spend their 
time talking out on the farm rather than to work, who want to b e heard rather 
than be quiet. They are most likely to be ones who hope for a quick Japanese 
victory, who take delight in discussing news broadcast s via Radio Tokyo. They 
are also the ones who are most likely  to  be against resettlement for themselves 
and sometimes even for others. On the registration issue th ey were most likely 
to have been against registering and did not register or e ven answered Question 
28 în the negative. The explanation of the coming segrega tion coming from 
this vocal group has been uniform: "Segregation is going t o be an excuse to 
get the Japanese out of the camps. Those of you who registered are going to be 
thrown out soon."Others have elaborated on this simple explanation. "Many wounded 
soldiers are returning from war areas, and they have no place to put them. They're 
planning to move the Japanese out of camps in order to make r oom for them." 

Two factors can be pointed out' to explain the popularity o f this sort of 
explanation of the segregation. One is the f act that for various reasons this 
more vocal group as a whole does not intend to resettle, and that a great many of 
them have repatriated, have not registered, or have answer ed "no" to Question 
28. This group is made up largely of Isseis and Kibeis, Ni seis generally prefer-
ring to remain silent on political issues. For this grou p this explanation takes 
on an aspect of wishful thinking. Since they are alread y included among the 
possible disloyal, they want to believe that those who ar e loyal will stand to 
lose by the segregation. In a way, it bolsters their sense of security to feel 
that they have more to gain than those who will be classif ied as loyal. 
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The other factor is the deep-seated sense of insecurit y felt by many 
evacuees, especially the older ones. Stepped of their home and property and 
former mode of making a living, they are now unwilling to  leave the security of the 
camp to venture out into what they consider a hostile worl d to struggle for a 
living. Their greatest fear now is that even the security o f living in a camp 
will be taken away from them. Many evacuees are willing to believe the worst of 
the intentions of the WRA. Being offered no other plausible e xplanation for the 
segregation, the explanation based on this underlying fe ar finds ready acceptance• 

During the last week this explanation has spread from the mo re vocal 
elements to other segments of the population, faced with  arguments which seem 
convincing and not having any information to counteract them, even the more 
sensible segment of the population is beginning to wonde r whether the explanation 
might not be true. Many of them still remain silent, pr efering to keep their 
own opinions to themselves. Their attitude is very well ex pressed in the phrase, 
"I don't think that America would do such a thing as to force  people to leave 
when they don't want to, but you can't really tell." Oth ers on the borderline, 
however, have already accepted the explanation offered  by the more vocal group. 
They have joined them in spreading the argument that the  more loyal are going to 
be forced out of the camps• 

In the meantime the administration seems to be relatively u nconcerned, 
mainly because of their ignorance of what is going on in the minds of the 
evacuees. Even those sympathetic to the evacuees ask: " Do you think that segrega-
tion will increase resettlement, or is it,possible tha t it will hinder it?" 
A week after the announcement of the segregation the Soci al Analyst said: "Don't 
you think that perhaps it's b est not to play up the segreg ation too much and make-
it seem so important?" It is not surprising that the Projec t Director or the 
head of the Information Division have not come out with  a stream of explanations 
to counteract false explanations that are being offered by l atrine philosophers. 

Those who have made up their minds definitely about which side of the 
fence they were on generally seem to take definite stan ds. Both sides claim 
that they don't mind the segregation process. Tlhile ther e was a general reluctance 
to move from their present home, they were willing to ac cept movement into a 
segregation center if they were on the disloyal side al ready, 1or join the loyal 
forces if they were committed on the other side. But there  are a large number 
of persons, especially among Niseis, who are not committin g themselves one way 
or the other. Many of them seem to be postponing think ing about the question, 
while others seem to be watching to see which way the win d blows. They are the 
fence-sitters who are unable to make up their own minds . Most Niseis, who dislike 
thinking about political questions, belong to this non-c ommital group. 

JS and Opler on -Explanation of Segregation. 
JS dropped in to see Dr. Opler in his office, but he was not in. JS 

believed that he ought to maintain his neutrality in co mmunity affairs to 
protect his own position of a research worker, but he coul d not stand to see 
explanations of the segregation widely spread without a ny effort made from pro-
per sources to counteract them. For one thing, his tie with t he evacuees was 
strong enough to want to avoid their making decisions on the segregation issue 
?/hich they would regret later on. He felt that segregat ion was being carried 
through because of pressure from reactionary elements in Congress on the TAERA. 
He felt certain that the v'lRA would not dare push evacue es out of the centers 
when they did not want to go. He had a statement from Rowalt to Coverley to that 
effect written in February, but he felt that this would n ot be sufficient to 
counteract the explanation spreading among the colonist s that the reason segregati 
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was to take place was to get ready to push out the more loyal on es from the 
relocation centers. He wanted to see Dr. Opler about th e possibility of counter-
acting this false explanation that was going around. Dr . Opler dropped in to 
see JS yesterday. 

Evidently Dr. Opler did not realize the seriousness of th e situation that 
was developing. He had heard that there were some who were vailing to have 
themselves considered disloyal in order to stay here in  Tule Lake.° But.he had 
heard nothing about the common explanation of the seg regation. In fact, he said: 

Don't you think that it might be wiser hot to play up the se gregation so much 
and make it seem so important?" 

JS explained the developing situation and then asked fo r two things. One 
was a statement from % e r to the effect that no one who did not w ant to "leave a 
relocation center would be forced to do so. He thought that  even such a state-
ment would not be sufficient to counteract the belief tha t the loyal would be 
forced out because the people distrusted the adminis tration — it"had changed 
its policy too often in the past. 

The other thing that he asked was an explanation of the  segregation process 
from Coverley or from John D. Cook or from himself. JS t hought it would  be"  wise 
to include the fact that segregation was not a new idea, but one which was considered 
by persons sympathetic to the Japanese at the time of evac uation. Another fact 
that he thought should be included was that segregation was being made necessary 
by reactionary pressure groups and was not a desire of the  fiRA.  He thought that 
it would be a good idea to play up such groups as the Dies Committee as the 
enemy of the Japanese people, since they were in the ha bit of lumping all 
Caucasians, especially the YffiA, as enemies of the Japan ese. 

Dr. Opler agreed with JS that segregation was probably caused by the 
pressure brought to bear by reactionary pressure groups . But he wondered whether 
the real explanation could be given by WRA officials wit hout doing damage to their 
own prestige. He himself had been trying to tell as many peo ple as he met and 
talked to. He said: "Do you think the  WRA ought to admit that segregation is 
taking place because they 'butched' the registration and were being high-pressured 
by reactionary and Fascist pressure groups? Dies has alwa ys been a racist, and 
he's not satisfied with the brand of war we're waging at th e present time. He 
wants to turn it into a race war." 

JS's opinion was that if the WRA were smart it would identif y the Dies 
Committee and other reactionary elements as the enemies o f the Japanese 
people and remove some Of the resentment of the evacuees f rom itself. Dr. Opler 
felt that perhaps that would be a good idea, and went away  promising to do what 
he could. 

Segregation Center 
Yesterday George S. brought hoine the news that it woul d be announced to-

day that Tule Lake would be the aegregation center. He got this from Kallam, who 
told him that we would have "bad news" today. He promise d George to do all he 
could to help him go to the center he wanted to go to. 

July 21, 1943. Trend in Segregation. 
Yesterday there were reports that Tule Lake was selecte d as the segregation 

center. The news was released in the evening through the T ulean Dispatch°(TD). 
While people were warned not to believe rumors until offi cial news was published, 
no explanation of the reason for'segregation was forth coming. Consequently, the 
explanation that the loyal ones were going to be thrown out of the centers was 
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still being vehemently spread by the more vocal group. Fe ar was being expressed 
by some who had answered "no" as to whether they still had a chance to change 
their answers. Some wanted to have the chance to go out. O thers wanted to^avoid 
family splits. For many  whether  to be loyal or disloyal seems to be something 
they cannot make up their minds about. any seem to be willi ng to leave the 
matter in the hands of the hearing board. Many seem satisfi ed to follow the 
course of least resistance. Those who have repatriated, es pecially Kibeis, seem 
content to accept repatriation if it should come. Many Is seis are willing to 
be classified as disloyal, if only to remain in Tule La ke or assure themselves 
against the possibility of/;nr$$i out. In other words , there are many who are 
still wavering in their decision. 

Ray Mizuno and the Chief Cook on Segregation. 

" Ray is^a typical Nisei in Block 25 who had taken out repat riation papers 
during registration and then answered 'no' to Question 28. The chief cook 1 is 
a Kibei, rather typical, except for the fact that he is m arried and is not likely 
to do or say anything too rash. Ray had heard that Tule L ake was to be selected 
as the segregation center, and the chief cook stopped JS t o ask him if this were 
true. He seemed to feel that JS ought to know. JS said that  he had heard that 
the news was going to be released this afternoon. The c hief cook was definite 
in his stand: 

"I'm not going to change my answer. I've taken out rep atriation papers, 
and they didn't even bother to ask me whether I would be l oyal or not. I 
suppose I could go to Cairip Savage, but I can't be help ing America now.' Look 
what would happen to me if I went back to Japan. .America always lies, anyway. 
They've made a combat unit, but I bet they're going to use  it  to lug suoplies 
and do the dirty work. They'll let them practice with guns, but won't give them 
any when they go to battle. At Attu they say that Nisei sol diers weren't allowed 
to have a gun at all. Well, that's the way America does t hings. She mistreats 
anyone with a different skin color." 

JS: "I think the war is going to last a long time, though." 
Cook: "I don't think so. It should be over soon. Take' Attu, for instance. 

America says that she got it, but she hasn't done anythin g with it. I bet there 
are still Japanese soldiers on Attu." 

Ray: "But Japan can't win the war unless she invades Am erica, and that's 
going to take some time." 

The interesting part of this conversation is Ray's atti tude. His silence 
is as significant as what he says. He took out repatri ation papers, but has shown 
some concern because he did not have it cancelled till t he middle of June. It 
was announced that cancellations before June 1 only woul d be effective. He 
agrees with the Kibei on many points, for instance, whe n he says: "America 
mistreats the Japanese, even the soldiers. I know that at Ca mp Riley the Japanese 
soldiers were locked up in a barrack and guarded by off icers when President 
Roosevelt visited the camp.  My  brother who was there said so." But he does 
not agree with the Kibei wholeheartedly. He differs with him, for instance, on 
how quickly Japan is going to win the war. He probably has doubts as to whether 
Japan will really w}n the war. He did not reveal  M A own stand on segregation, 
although the subject was brought up and his opinion was i n order. This silence 
is typical of many Niseis who cannot make up their mind s one way or the other. 

Matsuda on Family Split. 
It was expected that segregation would cause family splits, but it was 

difficult to imagine just how it would take place. Now  with actual cases coming 
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up for discussion the spectacle is beginning to take on asp ects of reaSfcy. In 
words alone, family splits do not sound so very bad. But when one witnesses the 
anguish that the parties involved have to face, it looms  as a tragedy of major 
proportion, especially when one feels that segregatio n is only a policy to appease 
reactionary elements and that very little good will come  of it. Masayoshi Matsuda 
is faced with a family split and is determined that he ca nnot sacrifice his future 
in order to stay with his family. He related to JS: 

"My old man (oyaji) told me not to register at the time of reg istration. 
I felt that I couldn't do that because I was afraid of v.ha t would happen to me 
if I didn't. Consequently, I decided to register. Then he t hreatened to disown 
me if I answered 'yes' Question 28. The rest of the famil y took out repatria-
tion papers, except me. I was determined not to do anythin g of the sort. Since 
we lived in Block 41, where sentiment against those registe ring was very heated, 
I vvas put in a very bad spot. My folks were worried about wh at the block people 
would say to them if they had a son who went to register. I to ld my folks that 
I would go elsewhere to live for a little while to make it easier for them. 
Consequently, I moved to Ward VI for a couple of weeks. P eople thought that I 
had left my family, and it was rumored that my friends i n Ward IV and I had 
been disowned. I answered 'no' to Question 28, and then came home again. Later 
I had my answer changed from 'no 1 to 'yes. 1 

"I care for my folks but I couldn't go along with them becaus e I felt 
that my future was at stake. And I knew they wer^Lgnorant an d didn't know what 
they were doing. People in the block began to say that educ ation didn't do any-
one any good. One Kibei said, 'I'm glad that I quit going to school early. 
At least the people have some respect for me now.* 

"If there's going to be a split in my family, I can't help it . I can't 
help it. I can't go along with them now because my whole futu re is at stake. I 
want to do the things that I should be doing. I should hav e gone out long ago 
when I had job offers, not exactly what I wanted, but somet hing I could have 
done." 

John Matsuraoto on Segregation 
John is a typical nember of the block, an older Nisei who is already mar-

ried. His family were farmers prior to evacuation, but te nds to attempt some 
status. This is recognizable by the fact that George, h is brother, has shifted 
from messhall work to office -work and is thinking of goin g on to a trade |^?ol 
and the younger brother is being sent on to college. John is one of t h e / m l he 
block Yiho has consistently talked to JS rather freely . During registration he 
was sick, but his family took out repatriation papers, r egistered ^no*, and 
cancelled repatriation papers along with the others. No w he finds that many 
in the block have also changed their answers from "no" to "yes," and he feels 
a little uneasy about it. He said to JS: 

"How do you change your answer? Go to Huycke's office? I m ighty as well 
change my answer because everybody in the block seems to have changed his. I 
don't want to be the only one in the block that didn't c hange his answer and be 
left alone. Shit, you can't believe these guys in the bl ock. Some of those 
who taked the loudest during registration changed their answer the quickest. That 
I  old man Hishida, for instance, talked loud, but he says he has his leave 
clearance for himself and his wife, and his children h ave changed their anwers 
from "no" to "yes." It's going to be unfair if they don' t give the guys that 
answered "no" another chance. Heck, they didn't know wha t they were doing. If 
they don't, there's going to be a lot of loyal guys who are g oing to remain dis-
loyal." 
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Nishida'a Attitude. 
Mr. Nishida is one of the quieter men in the block but who has  been called 

upon to take leadership roles within the block. In othe r words, he is not so 
quiet that he cannot take leadership roles. On the oth er hand, he doesn't have 
the qualities indicative of frustration possessed by tho se of Type A. He is confi-
dent, does not make rash statements, and tends to follow a judici ous course. He 
is also confident in his ability to make money by farmi ng, and even before registra-
tion was thinking of going out to farm. During registratio n his son, Jimmy, 
shouted with the other young people in the block that it w as unnecessary to be 
loyal to the U.S. because we didn't have ar$r rights an d were discriminated against. 
His daughter, Betty, too, for some reason answered "no ." In preparation to 
leave the project, however, both of them changed their a nswers after registering. 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Nishida go about smiling, as if there were nothing wrong with 
the stand they had taken. They give the impression that they pride themselves 
on having done the Yd  se  thing, and regret that Jimmy and Betty made the wrong 
move. There is, however, a hint of fear in their open at titude — as if they were 
whistling in the dark. That this is not unfounded is indi cated by John Matsumoto's 
outburst against Mr. Nishida, hint/jhdft he mislead the p eople in the block. Mr. 
Nishida was heard telling some people: 

"Why we got our clearance a long time ago. Only Betty a nd Jimmy have been 
held up, although they changed their answers a long ti me ago. If it were only 
Jirnmy that was held back, we would have gone out a long tim e ago, but we can't 
very well leave Betty here alone." 

Mrs. Nishida was telling Mrs. Kishiyama: 

"Are you in the disloyal group? We're in the loyal grout ), you now, and 
are going to have to move out of here." 

Social Welfare Department on Segregation. 
After it was announced that Tuie Lake would be the segre gation center, JS 

strolled into the Social Welfare Department office. Thè w orkers didn't have 
very much to do, and JS talked to a few of them casually. T hose that he talked 
to he knew to be in the loyal group. The chances were that most persons working 
closely with Caucasians in offices weretooJTone of them seemed unduly excited about 
the announcement that they would have to leave. One qu estion that was discussed 
was what center they would want to go to. More than anyt hing else they disliked 
the idea of having to pack again and go through the whole pr ocedure  4 of leaving a 
familiar scene and adjusting themselves to another one. Mrs. Akamatsu's comments 
were typical. "I don't mind leaving so much, but someone  is going to have to 
help us pack. Doctors will be expected to work till the la st'minute, and we'll 
probably have to work till the very end, too." 

Mr. Obayashi on Segregation. 
Mr. Obayashi seems to have come from a good home in Japan, In this country 

he went to several universities and was very well educat ed. For some reason or 
other, however, he stayed over here, not being able to fin d a suitable position 
for himself. For this reason he feels that Japan is the plac e for him and that he 
does not want to stay in America, any more, mien JS asked h im what his future plans 
were, he said: 

"During registration I took out repatriation papers. I fe lt that I had/in*° 
America long enough, and I didn't want to stay here any lo nger. (He said this 
in a tired sort of way.) I've contacted the Spanish Embassy  to get on the priority 
list to return to Japan, but they've told me that there' s a long waiting list 
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and that I shall not be able to return for some time. I'v e always had friends 
in Japan who wanted me to return. I have friends in Kits ui, in Tokyo, and I 
also have my family over there to depend upon. I want to g et a job working in 
a personnel departirent of a large company. ¥he work is s uitable to my nature. 
I'm most anxious to do s omething and keep busy as soon as  I get over there." 

Mr. Akahoshi on Segregation. 
Mr. Akahoshi's comments on the announcement that Tule La ke was selected 

as the segregation center was simple: "I guess we'll hav e to go." 

Kibeis. 
The Eibeis in Block 25 seem to be satisfied with trends of things. They 

did flaunt the fact that the loyal were forced to go out,in J S's face, for one 
thing because they were now on fairly good terms. The chi ef cook, for instance, 
received some pork from the Sakodas, and in return gave t hem what material they 
desired from the messhall. The chief cook's comments are typical: *I'll have 
a lot of friends coming here from other centers. It's goi ng to be fun. Segrega-
tion won't do any good because Japanese are all the same and they have the same 
feelings." 

Art Morimitsu, Loyal. 
Prom Art Morimitsu comes the first hint that the loyal one s may resent 

the fact that they are bein ĵpenalized by having to leave . Art said: "The loyal 
ones are going to be angry ir they have to leave and they' re not well taken care 
of. One girl was saying: "Are we going to have to leave al l of our furniture 
here and then get to the other center without any?" It's all right if they take 
all of the stuff for us, but if they don't, there's going to be a lot of kicks. 
Especially "when the other side is laughing at them for being loyal and having to 
go out." 

Mrs. Kishiyama. 
JS sat in the shade with Mrs. Kishiyama and watched her f eed her baby, Pearl, 

some oranges. Pearl was born on December 7. Mrs. Kishiyam a had answered 'no' to 
cQuestion 28 because she was a citizen, a Kibei. Her husb and, an Issei, answered 
his question in the affirmative. Asked what she intended to do to avoid a 
family split, she said that she really wanted to go out if she had a chance. JS 
told her to change her ansv/er now, or rather apply for a h earing now, in order to 
rget it over with as soon as possible. She seemed to be  considering it, but 
did not commit herself one way or the other. 

July 22, 1943.  Mr.  Kurose on Loyalty. 
Mr. Kurose is an Issei -who does not gain particular deli ght from hearing 

war news from Japan. Mr. Sakahara, a family friend, often co mes around to dis-
cuss "good news," but Mr. Kurose is good natured and merely tolerates his presence 
and his talk. Mr. Kurose has always avoided too intimate contact with Japanese, 
and had adjusted himself well prior to evacuation in a saw mill job, working among 
Caucasians. He says: "After all, I've been in this coun try for forty years. I 
don't know Japarî rery well, you know. I feel more oblig ated to this country. I 
tell people that'I have a sense of loyalty." 

Day before yesterday he was on his way to the farm, whenhe  had occasion to 
speak to a couple of wardens. They were telling him that  at a meeting of ward 
representatives it was announced that the loyal ones we re going to be thrown out 
of camp. Mr. K. replied that America wouldn't do such a thing as to throw out 
people who were not able to make a living. That evening it was announced in the 
TD that. Tule Lake would be the segregation center. S ome farmers in the block (71) 
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who had sided with the wardens sat in front of Mr. Kur ose and stated, "Look here, 
it says in the paper that the loyal ones are going to be thro wn out. The wardens 
were right this morning." Mr. K. not having read the anno uncement kept still, 
wondering whether it could be true. He went home and read the TD, and found out 
that.the loyal ones were going to be moved to other cen ters. "There's no use talking 
to tkose ignorant people because they can't even read a thi ng right. I'm going 
to keep still from.now on," he said. 

Gonzo Sakai« 
According to George S.'s description, Mr. Sakai is a typ ical Issie latrine 

philosopher. He was formerly a îg farmer. He talks on and on by himself, and de-
lights particularly in talking about the war. He tells peo ple that Japan has just 
about won her war already. To the Niseis he turns around and says: "You Niseis 
had better not go outside. Japan is sure to win this war , and if you go outside, 
you won't be able to get any indemnity." 

Heard at Grammar School. 
Hattie heard this one day before yesterday. "The loyal on es are going to 

be sent to Arizona so that they'll want to go outside." 

Yesterday one of the teachers was saying: "Well, you loy al ones are 
going to be thrown out of here." 

George S. on the Hog Farm. 
"This segregation is going to be sad because it's going to d isrupt every-

thing. There's going to be no one to take over the hog fa rm. Many of the best 
workers are going to have to leave, and those who are stay ing behind are saying: 
'After you kids go I'm not going to hang around the hog farm a nymore.'" 

George is afraid that all of his efforts to build up a goo d hog farm are 
going to go to waste. So far he can see no one to whom he can turn over the farm. 
Last night he was talking to a Kibei whom he didn't know, urg ing him to come to 
work in the hog farm and bring his own friends who wer e willing to take interest 
in the work. 

The Disloyal on Work» 
"Prior to the announcement that Tule Lake would be selecte d as the segregation 

center, some people argued that Tule Lake would not be c hosen because it had a 
large farm and disloyal ones were not going to work at all, on ce they were branded 
as disloyal. JS thought that work would proceed as it was a t the present time, al-
though probably at a slower pace. For one thing, the more capable workers m i l 
be going out, leaving behind many Isseis and Kibeis who are not as capable as the 
present Nisei leaders. On the hog farm, for instance, t here seems to be no one 
who m i l remain who knows the hog business well enough or is interested enough 
in it to run the farm smoothly after the loyal ones leav e. In Mr. Smith's office 
in the last week or so he has had to change his private secre tary two times, and 
less capable girls have had to fill up the vacancies. Th e Chief Cook in Block 
25, a Kibei, said: "When this segregation takes place , I'm going to quit work. 
I'm tired of working." 

Isseis on Loyalty-Disloyalty. 
Many Isseis want to have themselves considered as dislo yal. One of the rea-

sons for this is that they don't want to move from Tule Lak e. Another is that 
they are afraid that if they are considered loyal, they  will be expected or even 
forced to go out to work. But at the same time they are afr aid of punishments that 
might be meted out for being disloyal. Consequently, the de sire of some is to be 
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classified the same as disloyal Niseis by virtue of the  fact that they are enemy 
aliens. This desire is reflected in such statements by Iss eis as: "Of course, we 
Isseis are considered disloyal even if vie answer 'yes' t o Question 28, aren't we?" 
And some of them are somewhat dismayed when they are told tha t they will be con-
sidered loyal. 

Matsuda on Ward V. 
According to Matsuda, the disloyal elements in Ward V are feeling rather 

triumphant. To inus in the ward they are likely to flaun t the fact that the 
loyal are getting a dirty deal. One person wasfieard sayi ng: "You see, those who 
registered are going to be thrown cut. They were fooled by t he administration 
into registering." 

A young fellow whose brothers registered said to his friends:"i*  11  have to 
be parted from you people. I wish we didn't have to go awa y." 

Friday, July 23, 1943. Talk in Block Manager ys Office (#25). 
The trend of conversation in different blocks will differ , primarily with 

the position of the block people in regard to registrati on and the subsequent 
adjustment of opposing forces to each other. InWard V, fo r instance, those who 
registered have been branded as inus, and the gulf betwe en the two factions can 
be expected to be great. Since the majority did not registe r, the trend of con-
versation and feeling can be expected to be one of open criticism of those who 
registered in the affirmative. In WaidVII open hostility c an again be expected, 
with more people upholding the loyal side. The situatio n in "Wards II and III is 
probably somewhere in between. In Block 25, where the s plit among the block people 
was not great, there is an air of tolerance on both sides.  Those who are to stay 
are not openly laughing at those who have to pick up the ir belongings to leave. 
Those who have to leave are not making any particular eff ort to protest that fact. 
"While there are some signs of friction, such as indignatio n at an about-face 
attitude toward Question 28 since registration, they are largely kept below the 
surface. This state of affairs is illustrated by conve rsation that goes on in 
the block. The girls' baseball team,which won the leagu e championship, is receiv-
ing a great deal of support, having been donated uniforms. The old men's team, 
•which won two victories out of three games played, is rec eiving enthusiastic support. 
Much of this unity is based on the fact that most of the peo ple in the block registered. 
While many young people registered "no," most of the Issei s answered "yes." Those 
who took out repatriation papers and are sure to remain in the segregation center 
are not being arrogant about it. 

The conversation between the block manager and Yamamoto, a n educated Kibei, 
exemplifies the unity that exists in Block 25. Yamamoto  is definitely pro-Japanese, 
and has probably taken out repatriation papers. 

Yamamoto: "...I pity the Nisei soldiers-who have to fi ght against Japanese 
soldiers. After all they are fighting their own flesh and blood. One soldier 
that came back from Attu is said to have remarked that there w ere enough dead 
bodies to make him sick, although he didn't mention whethe r the bodies were 
Japanese or American. Many girls (actually only about te n in number) that I know 
are learning to speak Japanese now. Alice Mukai, for inst ance, never associated 
with Japanese before, is learning it. Ihen they are ask ed why they want to learn 
Japanese, they say that they are going to need it in order  to take part in trade 
with Japan after the war. 

"The Isseis in the Recreation Department are angry because p eople in Blocks 
51, 52, and 53 passed a resolution asking Mr. Coverley to  leave the loyal ones 
here and take out the disloyal ones. Those in the Recreati on Department say 
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that the matter has already been decided upon, and there 's no use for anyone 
to protest." 

To all of this the block manager and his wife and JS listen  quietly, without 
any sign of disagreement. 

JS: "Japan wants its people to spread out to other countrie s." 
Yamamoto: "In that regard the immigrants in America ha ve done Japan a 

service. They also sent money back to Japan. That's why J apan thinks a lot of 
its immigrants in America." 

The Akahoshis agree wholeheartedly to the idea that the immigrants hare 
already done their duty to Japan by staying overseas, but  Mrs. Akahoshi disagrees 
on one point: 

Mrs. A: "But I don't know about Japan's concern for us. I'm  starting to 
become a little doubtful about it." 

Akahoshi: "Instead of going to another center, if there 's a good chance 
on the outside, I think it's better to go straight out." (He is contemplating 
accepting a job in a cleaner in Rockford, Illinois.) 

Yamamoto: "Sure, I think that's a good idea. Even if y ou .don't have such 
a good job, you'll have the opportunity to look for one . You'll be ahead of 
others a couple of months. Then it'll also mean that you' ll open the way for others 
to follow." (Note the lack of opposition to resettlemen t on the outside.) 

Akahoshi: "This block is good because it holds together , once it under-
stands the issue. .Yard V must be impossible now." 

There is general agreement on this and Mrs.. Akahoshi say s: "They say that 
they're starting trouble already. It's because there ar e a great many people 
here who came out from the hills." 

Yamamoto brought up the story about Frank Sakamoto and his wife, and every-
one laughed about it, thinking that it was a good joke. T hey thought that the huQsband 
was being too proud to change his answer. 

Frank Sakamoto and His Wife. 
According to Yamamoto, Frank Sakamoto's wife works in Mr . Smith's office. 

He had answered "no" to Question 28 while his wife answer ed "yes." Tfthen Mr. 
Smith asked the wife -why her husband has answered "no ," she explained that he was 
afraid of being drafted. He advised her to persuade her  husband to change his 
answer now if they wanted to stay together. She said that it wouldn't do any 
good because he had also taken out repatriation papers. Mr, S mith replied 
that they may still consider his change, since it was the WRA policy not to 
split up families. The wife was convinced that her husb and should change his 
answer immediately. She went home and told him this. The h usband's reply, ac-
cording to Yamamoto was: "Baka, (fool) you'change your a nswer." The Isseis 
in the Recreation Department who were relating this ane cdote were delighted over 
it. 

Colonist Leaders Meeting with Coverley. 
The second of the colonist leaders meeting vdth Coverley was held in his 

office at 2:30 p.m. yesterday. This meeting was request ed by Harry Mayeda. He 
explained that the coming conference in Denver of TflRA of ficials might be a 
meeting at which some of the policies in regard to segreg ation might be formed. 
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In this case he wanted Mr. Coverley and others attending th e conference to be equip-
ped with knowledge of the feeling of the people on the matte r. Those present 
were: John D. Cook, Dr. Ichihashi, Kuramoto (Co-op), Ike da (PB), JS, Yoshida (PB), 
Viallace Tsuda (BM), Rev. Tanabe, Harkness, Harry Mayed a, Silverthorne. Dr. Jacoby 
and Dr. Opler, who were scheduled to attend the conference,  did not appear for this 
meeting. The meeting was notable for its exclusion, as we ll as its inclusion. 
Those present were largely those who were concerned abo ut the welfare of the 
evacuees. Dr. Ichihashi seems be in a class by himself, s ince he does not hold 
any official leadership position within the Colony. JS was invited for the first 
time for his knowledge of colonist problems. It is a signi ficant fact that Joe 
Hayes, Frank Smith, or Huycke v/ere not invited. Noboru  Shirai, Executive Secre-
tary of the CC, should have been invited, but was not. It w as largely a gathering 
of appointed personnel members who were inclined to be sy mpathetic to the evacuees, 
and evacuee leaders who were desirous of cooperating with the administration for 
the best welfare of the colonists. 

Concern of Loyal Leaders. 
One of the first points brought up, first by Harry Mayeda and then by others, 

was the fact that the selection of Tule Lake as the segregat ion center was working 
hardship on the loyal leaders. The leaders were afraid th at they would be blamed 
for the loyal ones being required to leave the center . They felt that they 
were entitled to some consideration — to some protection — for their cooperation. 
The point was brought out very clearly that taking out the l oyal ones was penaliz-
ing them, and that the leaders would be called upon to bea r the brunt of protests 
resulting from such disadvantages. Mr. Ikeda stated tha t one man had threatened 
his wife already. He also stated that people kept coming int o the Planning Board 
Office to complain. Some demand that the loyal ones, too , be given a hearing to 
change their answers if they wish to. Harry gave the exam ple of a man in Ward V 
who took part in registering people. Since people kept com ing to him with 
complaints, he made it a rule not to stay at home in the  evening. When questioned 
as to the possibility of violence, Ikeda answered that it was very possible that 
this state of affairs could lead to-violence. Harry vis ioned the loyal ones being 
ftaken out of the center at the point of bayonet, (ikeda la ter related one person in 
his block who declared that he would not move unless he  were taken out at the 
point of a gun.) The loyal leaders protested that there  were  very little advantages 
in remaining loyal. It had been announced already that the treatment of individuals 
in the segregation center would not be very much different f rom that in any other 
center, except for the fact that they would not be allowe d to leave the center. 
Harkness wanted to know whether the leaders desired to ma ke conditions in the 
segregation center worse than in other centers. Carry' s reply was that it would 
[be unfair to the minors who would have to go along with-th eir parents regardless 
of their own stands. Mr. Ikeda said that the loyal ones shoul d be given some 
inducement, such as the choice of centers. Coverley's an swer to this was that 
he couldn't promise anything right now. 

Move to Prevent the Ousting of the Loyal. 
While stating their concern for their own position and that of the loyal 

ones, the leaders concentrated a large part of the discus sion on the possibility 
of not having to move the loyal ones. This move was lead b y Dr. Ichihashi and was 
supported by others, except JS. He felt that the others we re not taking the nine 
other centers into consideration, but were thinking only of their own group in 
Tule Lake. Also, he feared that any consideration of the  possibility of preventing 
the movement of the loyal out of Tule Lake would result in mass action and a riot 
and also a split in the ranks of the loyal. What he feared m ost of all was an 
incident which would make the situation of the Japanese  worse than it was at present. 
The others, however, discussed the possibility of making other arrangements earnestly. 
Dr. Ichihashi suggested that another center might be set up to which the disloyal 
could be taken. Coverley answered that there was enough  room in the other centers 
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for about 20,000 more people, since the total capacity  of the centers was 120,000 
and there were only about 95,000 or so people within the centers now. Silverthorne 
thought that there would be difficulty in getting priori ties. Dr. Ichihashi then 
suggested the possibility of making a separate carap on one  of the relocation areas. 
There was even a suggestion that somehow the people all be allowed to stay where 
they are and the loyal and the disloyal be separated on pape r only. Coverley pointed 
out that the people on the outside would not be satisfied w ith this arrangement. 
This was especially true when they wanted only the loyal ones to come out to work. 
Coverley seemed rather cool to this idea of not having to tak e out the loyal ones. 
The leaders tried to impress him with the fact that there w ould be a lot more dis-
loyal people if the loyal ones were going to go out. 

"Why the Loyal Ones Want to Stay. 
Harkness asked whether the loyal ones who talked of st aying here didn't 

consider the stigma that would be attached to them afte r the war. Wallace Tsude 
answered this adequately by saying that the people had lost everything already, 
and consequently they could not see how they could lose any more. To them it 
was just as good staying in Tule Lake for the duration as it was to move t¿another 
center and have the chance to resettle. Coverley though t that the issue to) the 
people was not a matter of loyalty or disloyalty, but o f having to part from friends, 
from established homes. Harry Mayeda reiterated this sen timent. Dr. Ichihashi 
stated that some of the people were afraid of moving to a freer camp because they 
would be going to a town to spend money which they could ill -afford to do. Another 
point that was brought out was that the disloyal were laug hing at those who had 
to leave and that it hurt. For this reason it was thoug ht desirable to have 
some inducement, besides freedom of movement out, to encou rage the loyal ones to 
leave quietly. JS said that another reason why people did not leave was their 
fear of being thrown out of a center if they were conside red loyal. Still another 
reason expressed "was the fact that Tule Lake was consider ed the best center. Still 
another was that people did not know conditions in othe r centers and imagined the 
unknown to be worse than it actually was. 

Family counseling system. 
Aside from attempting to impress the Caucasians with the seriousness of 

the situation, the one constructive discussion was on ha ving counselors to help 
families arrive at a decision. Although this matter was br ought up at the last 
meeting, it was JS who insisted on its importance. He thou ght that the major 
problem would be that of individual families trying to iron out differences 
within the fanily unit. Consequently, what Yfas needed we re counselors to whom 
these families could go for advice if they needed it. D r. Ichihashi claimed 
that it was unnecessary to have official counselors becaus e the charces were 
that they would not be consulted anyway. He suggested t hat counseling be left 
up to individual choice of the family. Coverley refuted him by pointing out 
that such counseling was apt to be faulty because there  was no way of getting 
accurate information into the hands of all informal coun selors. He favored 
the idea of having definite counselors to whom the peopl e might go for advice. 
All the others were in favor of having counselors, and D r. Ichihashi withdrew 
his stand by saying that if they had official counselors i t would relieve him 
from a great deal of work. JS suggested that the counselo rs might be elected 
by the people on the basis of an exact description of the j ob they were to per-
form. Wallace Tsuda did not thinkthis would Y/ork, since p eople did not trust 
block managers whom they recommended themselves. One blo ck manager was quitting 
because he saw that he was getting into trouble with his block people. There 
were suggestions that this group could select the counse lors, about a dozen 
in number, and have them keep office hours. Coverley did n ot see the necessity 
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of selecting the counselors immediately, but JS urged tha t they be selected immediately 
and be given the background material to fit them to do ade quate counseling. 

Explanation of the Segregation. 
JS said that an explanation of the segregation should be ma de in order to 

keep down rumors. Coverley's answer was that he couldn't  explain it because he 
didn't have any definite information as to what went o n in Myer's mind when he 
decided upon segregation. He thought he would only add to  the confusion by at-
tempting an explanation. At best they could only make gues ses. He suggested 
that the people wait till they received official word. S ilrerthorne said that 
certain incidents and pressure groups could be given as p ossible reasons for the 
segregation taking place. John D. Cook said nothing to clari fy the matter. This 
insistence on official instructions for everything from A to Z is a bottleneck 
in fighting false rumors that constantly keep cropping up locally. 

Parade of Personal Opinion. better 
Throughout the discussion personal factors, which would h ave been/left out 

of the discussion, kept cropping up. Dr. Ichihashi, for i nstance, kept building 
himself up. When he came into the room, he acted in a ver y friendly manner toward 
Coverley, and sat close to him. He brought up the fact th at in Japan a person of 
his standing who had served an institution faithfull y for a long time would not 
be interned as he was. He had received an assurance from  Attorney General Biddle 
personally that he would not be disturbed, but the Arm y order made it necessary 
to evacuate. He said that during registration at least 8 00 persons came to get 
advice from him. Therefore, he thought that it was unnec essary to have official 
counselors. And only one boy came to thank him three or fo ur times, and the rest 
were ungrateful for what he had done for them since they never came to see him 
again. 

Later Ikeda, Yoshida and Dr. Kuki commented on Dr. Ichihas hi. They thought 
that he acted so big, when actually he had no following i n the colony at all. They 
had hoped that he would not be invited at this meeting, but h e showed up again. It 
seemed to be more than just a jealousy between leade rs — they seemed to resent 
his superior attitude. 

John D. Cook took notes all during the discussion, and sai d very little. Frobably 
this meeting was one of the few sources of information ab out the colonists that he 
had. 

Mr. Kuramoto, at one point, burst out into a magnificent s peech. He didn't 
think that the loyal ones should be penalized. He himself h ad been as loyal as 
possible, and would conti nue to be. He had a daughter outside and a son in the 
Army. 

Wallace Tsuda did it too. People didn't care whether they were loyal or 
disloyal because they had lost everything already. Look at himself. He had a 
thousand acres of vine, which would be worth less in two years. It would take seven 
years to grow a vine once more, and he didn't have that m uch fund. He had three 
tractors, but by the end of the war they would be of no use to him.  Taxes  still 
had to be paid and people aren't able to keep it up. These f arm owners know that 
they've lost everything, and are now watching out for j obs in the Middle West. 

Mr. Yoshida did not say a word. Rev. Tanabe only spoke t o tell Dr. Ichihashi 
that Dr. Hannaford had received a \vire informing him tha t all Americans in Japan were now-
interned. 
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After the meeting Ikeda expressed doubt as to whether very much had been 
accomplished. "It's much more serious than they (sens ei-ra) think it is,  1  he said. 

Masayoshi Tanaka 
Mas' father is 65 years old, and too old to work. His pare nts registered, but 

want to stay, even if they are considered disloyal. He say s that he was planning to 
resettle, anyway, and he's going to separate from his famil y. He said it without 
much emotion. His sisters, however, cannot leave his f olks, he says, and they plan 
to stay with them. 

July 24, 1943. 
Coverley's Meeting with Isseis. 

On Thursday evening Coverley had his regular meeting with Isseis. Practically 
all of the questions asked concerned the segregation. At  the lastf meeting only one 
short question concerning the segregation had been as ked. It seems that it is dawning 
on the evacuees that the segregation is more serious tha n they thought it was. Accord-
ing to one report, the questions were all trivial. Accor ding to another, the following 
c two questions were asked: "Can we have lumber to make boxes  to pack our things 
in?" Coverley is said to have said that he thought that it w as unlikely that he could 
get any more lumber and he could not take such a request to the Denver conference. 
According to another report he did not  coffimit  himself one way or the other. ''Can 
an answer to Question 28 be changed from 'yes' to 'no.• ,,  Coverley's answer to this 
was that it had never been done beforehand he thought tha t it was unlikely to be 
done. These reports are obviously conflicting and unre liable. 

Coverley announced that he was joining the Navy or the A rmy (according to 
the source). According to the TD (July 23), he is to atte nd a school for military 
governors. He is to be replaced by Ray Best, now at Luep p, Arizona. 

^ Issei on Segregation. 

The following conversation between Mr. Masui and Mr. Ka ya reveals some of 
the thoughts of Isseis, especially of Block 25, of which  they are residents. Mr. 
Masui is a rather quiet man, while Mr. Kaya, while not ex treme, tends to be more 
dogmatic. 

M: "It looks as though we have to move." 
K: "It's going to be freer in other centers. If you stay here you aren't 

going to be allowed to go out. In other centers you will be a llowed to go to work 
with any permit and come back again." (He seems to be repe ating something that 
was passed on to him from Coverley's meeting.) 

M: "But they are going to deduct the maintenance for your family when you come 
back." 

K: "Sure, so that you won't have anything left even if you do go out. There's 
no advantage in going out because it's so hard to make a living. If you do domestic 
work, as we can, you can save a little, but if you have t o support a wife or family 
on the outside now you won't have a cent left. I know a couple who just barely get 
along on $200. The best thing to do is to go wherever the y tell you to go and eat 
what they feed you. It can't be much worse than it is her e. They feed you rice 
and fish, at least and provide a bath for you." 

Mj "They say that because people find it hard to get alo ng on the outside 
all the girls are becoming prostitutes. The Rocky Hippo warned the parents to be 
careful about their girls ... But it's not good if you can 't have freedom." 

K: "Freedom is a matter of heart. There's no barrier if y ou don't think 
^ about them. After all, this is war." 
B M: "It would be swell if you could get a cold drink now and then." 

K: "There's lots of cold water coming from the faucet." 
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M: "But that's not sufficient." 
K: "Niseis are going to be called upon to serve pretty s oon, especially 

those who have training. They are short of men with e ducation, and Niseis like 
you (JS) are going to be drafted in the Army eventually." 

JS: "I don't mind. You have to go to war wherever you are. If I were in 
Japan I would be drafted too." 

K: "That's right. You can't help it because this is war." 

Tanabe 
Tanabe is a good example, of a latrine philosopher and the m odel Type A for 

Block 25. He wormed into the position of stewart for the messhall in time of 
crisis, but when things became normal again, he was forced  out by the rest of the 
crew. He has restricted his activities of late to tending his vegetable and flower 
garden with care, axid to talking to those who come by his  way. JS never talks 
to him, but sometimes catches snatches of conversation t hat come floating through 
the back  wi  ndow. 

Tanabe: "There's going to be a lot of trouble. You can't pre vent it, no 
matter what you tell the people..." (Coverley had asked that  the colonists not 
listen to rumors and wait for accurate information after his return from the con-
ference.) "I'm going to take my avocado and gobo plants. T he beans had better 
come in in a hurry..." 

Evidently Mr. Tanabe is planning to leave along with the others in the block, 
since most of the Isseis registered, which also means that  they answered "yes" to 
Question 28. It is for this reason that segregation will n ot accomplish very much. 
It is difficult to separate the loyal from the disloyal, because that concept 
cannot be applied to Isseis. 

Tsuyuko Kobayashi. 
Tsuyuko is Mabel Takashima's friend. She comes from Por tland and is a quiet 

type of girl. She used to attend Buddhist services regu larly with Mable and Yoshio 
Ota. She said that Mabel wrote a month ago saying that she was getting along all 
right. Tsuyuko was engaged to Tommy Tamiyasu in Febru ary and married in May. 
Tommy had a severe complex, feeling inferior, trying t o put up a big front, and 
finding difficulty getting along with girls. Mien asked ho w married life was, 
she said, "Just fine." When asked whether she would recomme nd that all girls get 
married, she hesitated a little and said, "Depends on whe ther you find the right 
person." 

According to Tsuyuko, the children in her family regist ered and answered 
"yes". Her folks, however, did not register. Most of the Isseis in Block 6 did 
not register. Those who did register, including the Takash imas, were fran the 
Forth. She and Tommy are planning to leave for work outs ide before segregation 
takes place, because they do not want to bother about packi ng and unpacking all 
the time. Her folks want to stay here rather than go to an other center. She feels 
that this is all right because they don't intend to go out anyway. It did not 
occur to her that there mightTdifficulties such as not being able to visit her parents 
easily, their wanting to go out to join her at some future dat e, etc. 

July 27, 1943. Kishiyama 
"Whether Mr. Kishiyama would go or stay in Tu3s Lake was brought up for discus-

sion. His wife had answered "no" because she was a Kib ei, while he registered as 
an alien (which means "yes" in practically every case). He said: 

"I don't intend to go outside, so it doesii't matter whet her I stay here in 
Tule Lake or go to another center. To tell you the trut h, I have a feeling that 
it's going to be better to remain as disloyal as possible. (Note the light way in 
which the word is used. The meaning of the word is not the sa me as it is on the 
outside). I think there's some advantage in it." 
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He was probably thinking of the indemnity that he might r eceive after the 
war. JS pointed out to him that if he stayed in Tule Lake  it might make it difficult 
to have visitors and the war would last a long time. Then h e said: 

"Maybe it is better to be loyal." 

Mr. Kishiyama is still uncertain as to what stand he'll  take, 
be swayed oneway or the other. 

He can  s  till 

Mrs. Miyaji 
The Miyajis are in their thirties and have a girl of two and a baby. The 

husband, an alien, is said to h ave come to this country when he was very young and is 
very Americanized while the wife is probably a Kibei. Dur ing registration they 
took different stands, but there seems to be no conflic t over it. At present they 
are uniecided as to what they should do when segregation c omes. From what Mrs. 
Miyaji says, one would suspect that they had made up thei r minds to stay here. 
She said: 

"We do n't want to move again because it's so much trouble ra cking up your 
things and going through an awful train ride. We had a ter rible time when we came 
down here, and we don't want to go through it again. I'd r ather stay here than go 
though all  that  trouble." 

When JS told her that when all of the "bad" people cam e in to this center 
it would not be good for her growing children, she paused  a moment. She said, 
"Well, yes (so ne)," as if she meant, "You may be right a t that. Perhaps we shall 
be moving aflTer all." They are another family which is at a crossroad, probably 
watching to see which way the crowd is going to go. 

Trend in Segregation. 
Active discussion of the segregation question has died d own over the weekend. 

Everyone is awaiting the results of the Denver conference t o be announced, and in the mean-
game £ time life in Tule Lake proceeds smoothly. In Bloc k 25, for instance, the attention 
played \of the whole block was centered on the championsh ip softball game played by the girls and th 
by  -the  cfl̂ pen in the block. Some people think that the argume nt that the loyal ones are going 

to be thrown out of the centers has died down. JS believes that it lies dormant 
in the back of the minds of a great number of people. 

July 28, 1943. Block 25, Type A. 
Today JS heard the following arguments, all slanted to d iscourage trust in the 

administration. The constant harping on the dark side of the picture alone seems to 
be almost psychopathic. People in general do not respect  individuals of this type, 
but at the same time very few refute their arguments openl y. 

" V i e ' r e  going out. You can't help it because they won't let you ch ange your 
answer from 'yes' to 'no.' The purpose is to get people o ut of the centers; that's 
why they won't let you change your answer from 'yes' to ' no', although you can 
change it from 'no' to 'yes' readily. Some Niseis were att acked by Filipinos in 
Chicago, but the Government doesn't care if the Japanese die, as long as they get 
them out. In fact, they probably want the Japanese to die  because they can't verv 
will kill them off." 

July 29, 1943. Trend in Segregation. 
Things are very quiet now, a sort of a lull before the stor m. There is 

some anticipation of results of the Denver conferenc e, which will not be announced 
till early next week. Many people are just not concerned at all. Some are going 
to register, others to change their answers. Still other s are storming the Social 

i 
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Welfare Department to tell them that they want to sign f or Minidoka or Colorado, etc. 
The department is taking down the requests just to keep them appeased. There is also 
talk of Myer's saying that only two centers would be kept — the segregation camp in 
Tule Lake, and one other for the old and the sick. This bri ngs up the fear again 
that the loyal are going to be thrown out of the centers. E xcept for some, it seems 
that most of those on the loyal side are willing to move out , especially if their 
friends are going out too. 

July 30, 1943. Mr. Akahoshi 
Mr. Akahoshi is now in the habit of asking JS for recent d evelopments of 

events. He asked: 

"Did anyone come home from the conference? I guess we ha ve to wait till next 
week for the news. If they are going to take us in block u nits, I'll have to get 
jay  son to move over here. The block people want to stay as a uni t when they get 
to the other center and don't want to be scattered all over the center." 

Use of Form 130 for Hearing. 
JS stopped at the Planning Board office. A man was compla ining to Mr. Yoshida, 

the Executive Secretary, about the necessity of having to fill out Form 130, Applica-
tion for Indefinite Leave, in order to change one's answ er from "no" to "yes." He 
feared that a person was likely to be thrown out of the center if he signed such 
an application. For all those who desired to change th eir answers, this procedure 
seems to have been used in the past. In yesterday's TD, ho wever, it was announced 
publicly that it was necessary to fill out this form in order to apply for a hearing 
to change one's answer. The fear of being forced out of a c enter is probably one of 
the greatest fears experienced by Isseis, and the use of For m 130 for application 
for a hearing immediately brings up the suspicion that t hose who apply for indefinite 
leave are going to be asked to or not. The use of this form can be interpreted as 
a scheme to get people to leave, and it is being interpr eted in this way. And it is 
difficult to assure aiyone that this is not the case, beca use there is no assurance 
from the WRA to the contrary. And even if there were, the peo ple know that administra-
tive instructions can be changed. Xlso, from past experie nce the people do not feel 
that they can trust the word of the WRA.. Additional ligh t is thrown upon this phase 
of the problem by JS's telephone conversation with Mr. H uycke. 

Huycke on Use of Form 130. 
JS called up Mr. Huycke from the Planning Board Office to find out why Form 

130, Application for Indefinite Leave was being used as an a pplication for hearing 
to change one's stand/during registration. The conversat ion ran somewhat as follows: 

JSj "I would like to know why Form 130 is being used in order t o apply for a 
hearing to change one's answer." 

Ht "I would imagine because it is necessary to apply for l eave clearance in 
order to be cleared. I really don't know why Form 130 is b eing used. I believe it's 
only a technical procedure." 

JS: "Then it's an instruction from Washington?" 
H: "Yes." 
JS: "A fellow has come in to ask whether it would mean tha t he would be 

thrown out of a center*" 
H: "No, it doesn't mean that. If a person wants to be c leared he wants to 

govout on indefinite leave, say to Chicago, or he wants  to leave the segregation center 
for another project. If he wants to go to Chicago, he c an't unless he has an assurance 
of a job which is approved by the WRA officer. If he wants t o go to another center, 
he has to be cleared first." 

JS: "But they are afraid of being forced to leave a center." 
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H: "There's no worry of that "because you can't go out unl ess you have a job. 
And if the government wants to throw the people out of the centers, they will be 
thrown cut whether he signs a piece of paper or not. You weren 't asked to sign a 
paper then you were evacuated or moved from the assembl y center, were you?" 

JS: "No, but the people are going to want to stay in here if they don't 
have some assurance that they will not be thrown out in the future. They will advise 
members of the family not to changed their answers in o rder to be able to stay here, 
even though they themselves may have answered, 'yes.'" 

H: (He doesn't get the point for a while) And then: "Yes, I  see  what you mean. 
There's a possibility that the loyal ones will be. allow ed to stay here with their families 
We won't know definitely till we get reports from the Denve r conference. Butjl don't 
think anyone would be allowed to change their answer from 'yes' to 'no'," 

JS: "What I want is an assurance for the people that th ey will not be thrown 
out of a center if they don't want to leave. We might g et such a statement from 
Washington." 

H: "It's unnecessary to get a statement like that from ?iashi ngton. If you 
rea.d Administrative Instructions No. 22, you'll see  that a person can't go out 
with being assured of a job." 

JS: "But the Administrative Instruction can be changed , you know." 
H: "The Government can throw the people out any ti.me it wi shes, for that 

matter." 
JS: "Well, thanks a lot. We'll wait for further word of  the Denver conference." 
H: "Sure, I'd like to get down, there sometime and talk thing s over with you. 

Don't hesitate to ask questions. i! 

Analysis: 
It is evident that Huycke does not understand the sign ificance of the use of 

Form 130 for application for a hearing. There is nothing in what he said that would 
dispell the fear that the use of the form is only a scheme to get more people started 
on their way out, perhan  s  by force. In fact, he specifically said that the people 
could be thrown out by force. There was no sign of sympath y for the evacuees in what 
he said. He didn't seem to care whether many evacuees were held here in the segregation 
center as disloyal or not. 

Wata nabe T s  Family 
Watanabe's family is split on the loyalty issue becaus e the  pa  rents registered 

•»yes" and the chi 1 dren registered "no". Watanabe sai d today: 
"My parents are going to take out repatriation papers th is afternoon because 

they want to make sure that they can stay here. They regis tered, and the rest 
of the family registered in the negative." 

When told that they should wait till procedures are announ ced because parents 
will probably be allowed to stay with their children, he a nswered: "They can't sit 
still until they do something about it to make sure that th ey can stay here. It's 
all right if my parents return to Japan — although I don't th ink that it's likely 
that they'll ever get back to Japan for the duration. The only thing they have to 
leave behind are their children. They can take the younge r ones with them." 

July 31, 1943. Miss Montgomery 
Recently, Miss Montgomery, Harry and Carter had been wor king on a plan to 

present to the Project Director when he arrived on the Proj ect, which would embody 
many of the suggestions made by evacuees themselves. Thi s plan seemed to center 
around a system of family counselors, which Miss Montgo mery hoped to set up in her 
own department. She was hoping to get persons who were re spected by the community 
to serve as counselors. She had in mind Father Dai, Rev . Tanabe, Mr. and Mrs. 
Yoshida, Dr. Kuki, Mr. Ikeda, and others. 
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Concerning Huycke's attitude toward the use of Form 130 in order to apply for a 
hearing,  Miss Montgomery expressed two opinions. One was that Hu ycke was  on "the  '"other 
side" the side not sympathetic to evacuees. The other was that she was not going to 
vouch for anything that she was not sure of. During regis tration teachers had told 
people that no one who had filled out applications for l eave (Form 126) v/ould be 
required to leave the center. Now the so-called loyal ones w ere being asked to leave, 
making liars out of the teachers. She said that she still h ad repercussions of 
promises made by the 'CCA and never carried out. She did  rot think' that she should 
tell the people that the VffiA did not intend to use Form 130  to get people out of 
centers, because she did not know. She thought that the ev acuees should be 
told the true state of affairs — that she didn't know — an d that they should  take 
their own chances one way or the other. 

Applications for Transfer 
Recently about twenty persons a day have been coming into the Social Welfare 

Department to apply for transfer. The^ocial Welfare Dep artment is merely taking the 
names and addresses of these peroons and the center to which t hey want to go, even 
though it feels that it is all useless. At least it helps to s atisfy some of the 
people that want to do something right away in order to be a ble to go where they 
want to. From an analysis of the list of names, JS gathered th e following. Those 
from Wards  VI  and  VII  in general wanted to go to Minidoka (some from Ward I, too ). 
Those from other wards more often than not desired to go to T opaz, and to a lesser 
degree to Granada. Transfers to other centers were not r equested except to join 
relatives. The most obvious reason for requesting transfe r was to be able to be with 
relatives or frcJ-nds. It is interesting to note that no ne of them requested Heart 
I. ountain,  where presumably the climate is not so very different from Minidoka, but 
where people in Tule  Lake  seem to have practically no friends at all. This is a lso 
interesting in li.̂ ht of the fact that news from Tuleans who  have visited Minidoka 
all agree that living conditions there are much worse th an in Tule Lake. Many applica-
tions specifically stated that they wanted to go to a cer tain center because they had 
a relative th re. Other applications listed several fami ly groups together, showing 
a desire to keep together. One application even said that t he families did not care 
where they were sent as long as they were kept together. 

Form 130 
JS told the Block Manager about the use of Form 130 in or der to apply for 

hearing. Apparently this fact was discussed by a few  of the block residents. Mr. 
Ishizuka, who usually does not say much remarked: 

"They -were saying that you have to fill out an applicati on for leaving before 
you can change your answer. Crazy. Who's going to do such a t hing, anyway.'" 

Mr. Ishizuka registered, but his Kibei wife answered "no ." If he fears that 
the loyal ones are going to be thrown out if they sign Form  130, he probably intends 
to keep his wife from changing her answer. 

August  2, 1943. Talk with Opler on Denver Conference Results. 
JS wanted to hear the results of the Denver conference . He met Carter, and he 

only told him that it was definite that segregation was to take place and that Tule 
Lake was to be the segregation center. He also said that the re were some concessions 
for the loyal ones going out, but beyond that he only cared to say that there would 
be a public statement made of the whole problem. JS felt tha t the only one he could 
talk to intimately was Opler, since he was a Social Analy st and not an administrator. 
He found Opler and his office, in conference with two memb ers of his staff — May Oye 
and Lily Nakamura (now married). JS and Opler sat in his ca r to talk over the results 
of the conference. The following is the summary of what Opl er told JS. 
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Tule Lake as Segregation Camp. 
The group from Tule Lake had gone down to the conference wi th the intention 

of getting Tule Lake changed as the segregation c^^:r .  01110 

other center considered or an assembly center / Dr. Opue r talked to Embree and 
Province the evening before the conference, pointing ou t that there would be a lot of 
problems if the loyal ones in Tule Lake had to move out. He said that for one thing the 
people in Tule Lake had not been prepared for segregation by Coverley. Manzanar, for 
instance, had an educational program for two months, preparing the people for segregation. 
Coverley had not announced to the staff at all that seg regation was discussed at the 
Washington conference, only disclosing the new adminis trative procedure at a staff 
meeting in Tule Lake. In fact, he had put a notice in t he Dispatch, saying that 
nothing definite had been discussed about segregation.  Embree felt that Tule Lake 
might not have been selected as the segregation center if h e and others had known 
of local conditions in Tule Lake. Opler was angry becau se his reports on the possible 
efject of segregation 011 residents in Tule Lake had no t reached the higher officials 
because they were too busy setting up procedures. Tul e Lake had been chosen without 
consulting local conditions there. In the morning I.Iyer announced  that,  segregation 
would take place and that Tule Lake would be the segrega tion center. After the 
conference Myer was impressed with the fact that Tule La ke should not have been 
chosen the segregation center by the group from Tule Lake. T his point was brought 
home very strongly, but it produced no change in the segregation program because 
so much of the procedure had already been set up. For inst ance, arrangements had been 
made with the Army for transportation, and even the rou te had been determined and 
charted. 

Tule Lake was chosen as the segregation camp, it seemed, no so much because 
of the number of people involved, but more for other reaso ns. One was that it was 
situated in a military zone. Another was that it had an Army camp right next to 
the project. A third factor was that it was large and compa ct. Coverley was in 
favor of Tule Lake being chosen the segregation center at the directors* meeting in 
"Washington, but when he left the project, he had under gone a change in heart. In 
his statement to the AP he had sympathized with the peo ple who had to be segregated. 
Opler felt that his reports on the possible effect of segr egation on the people had 
been effective in changing Coverley's attitude. 

Concess ions. 
Failing to get the segregation center changed the deleg ates from Tule Lake worked 

for concessions for the "loyal" ones who were forced to leave Tule Lake would be 
given the first choice of outside jobs. All jobs would be referred to Tule Lake before 
being filled by people from other centers. Another conc ession was that the people 
would have a choice of centers to go to. It would also be a matter of first come 
first serve, giving the loyal ones who had already made  up their minds the choice 
of center to go to. 

Procedures. 
It was expected that a system of family counseling woul d be set up in the 

Social Welfare Department. Families were to be kept toge ther as much as possible. 
The loyal ones would not be allowed to change their ans wers, which meant no more 
repatriation. The repatriates were to be given a hearing, perhaps after others had 
their hearings. 

Resettlement Program 
The segregation center was to be definitely closed to lea ve for the duration. 

One reason for this was to impress upon the people that they had a more important 
choice to make at this time than one of mere staying in one center or another. In 
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believed that segregation would serve to reduce object ions to Japs leaving cause it was not 

the other centers the resettlement program was to continu e as before. It was7kl?tb£ r 

Cthey were loyal or disloyal. Oplcr himself thought that it  would be difficult to 
close any center within two years. There was no thought  on the part of the WRA to 
force people to leave the centers. A relocation team was t o be sent here to Tule Lake 
to aid in the resettlement on the outside. (Note the functi oning of two pro-rams 
simultaneously — resettlement and segregation. The peop le have already tied up the 
two together, and they are going to continue to do so.) 

Causes of Segregation. 
At the Washington conference many of the project direct ors, including Coverley, 

favored segregation. % e r and Province were opposed to  it. The Senate resolution 
had only served to hurry up a process that probably would ha ve taken place anyway. 

Attitude Toward Segregation Center. 
The segregation center is to be a "Japanese" camp for th ose who want to be 

«Japanese rather than to be assimilated. School would not be compulsory, although 
it was expected that most children would go to ©hool. Japa nese language schools would 
be permitted if the people wanted it, although it wouldn 't be financed to any large 
extent by the WRA. There was to be no stigma attached t o those who wanted to remain 
m a  segregation center. There was no WRA program of deportat ion, although some 
of those who took out repatriation papers might be sent b ack in exchange for American 
prisoners. It was expected that a sizable number of thos e who stayed in a segregation 
reenter would still want to remain in U.S. after the war was over. WRA officials 
admitted that the issue was not loyalty or disloyalty alon e which was being determined 
by the segregation process. There was even a consideratio n of "no" answers inrro-
test to registration and segregation as still indicating  loyalty, but l̂ rer felt that 
the evacuees would have to decide one way or the other for themselves and they stick 
by the actual answers. 

Best 
Opler described Best as a "darn good man" and definitely "not another Coverley " 

Best is said to have told some project directors, "elf th ese men whom you sent 
to Leupp are the bad ones, what sort of persons do you have in the centers — saints?" 
ue was so popular in Leupp, that the persons there didn't w ant to go back to their 
own centers. There were even indèfinite leaves issued f rom Leupp/ 

Form 150 

. °P l e r  didn't know that Form 130 was being used as an applicatio n for a 
hearing, and that the people had reacted to it unfavorabl y. He"said that he would 
look into the matter and see if the form couldn't be changed. 

Personal opinion 

Opler felt that the war would not be such a long one — not fiv e or ten years 
anyway Consequently,- he seemed to feel that the segreg ation center would not be very 
much different from other centers. He thought that it was to the advantage of the 
people to resettle. He himself was thinking of the timing of returning to teach in 
a university, since the end of the war would make it more difficult for him, too. 

Attitude of evacuees 

,, Throughout the conversation JS watched out for hints o f efforts on the part of 
the v.RA to force people out of the centers. It was true that the WRA was making efforts 
to make it easier for them to resettle on the outside,  assuming that this was the best 
for them and what they really wanted for themselves. For the same reason the WRA of-
ficials seemed to assume the fact that the segregation center would b e / a 4 % ^ u î % i î i r a t i o n ' 
advantage for those who preferred to remain. Plans ha d been formulatedfoffer the best 
jobs to those in Tule Lake first - this being an inducement  to the more loyal elements 
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for having to move out of their homes. They saw segreg ation as making it easier for 
evacuees to resettle because they would be less prone t o be accused of being disloyal. 
What the people were worried about was they would lose the economic basis of security if 
they were forced out of a center. They wanted to be assure d that they could fall back 
on a center in case of need. Many of them did not want to leave for the duration. 
Consequently, being able to stay in Tule Lake loomed as a p rivilege to stay within a 
center for the duration to some. Any move to find them a jo b on the outside was inter-
preted as an effort to force them out of the security of a camp . This fundamental dif-
ference in outlook accounts for much of the misunderstandi ng between the WRA and the 
evacuees . 

Mrs, Yemaznoto (Block 25) 
At the Planning Board  JS  met Mrs. Yamamoto, sitting there with the rest of the 

office staff. During registration Mr. Yamamoto oppose d JS when he suggested that 
those who want to stay in the U.S. should answer 'yes* t o Question 28. Consequently 
relations with  JS  were a bit strained until recently, Lately, Mr. Yamamoto even offered 
to introduce a girl to George S. On the segregation iss ue most of the people in 
Block 25 seem resigned to leave with the loyal group. Mrs. Y amamoto said that her 
husband had taken out repatriation papers. But since sh e wanted to go outside, he was 
reconsidering his application. JS said that those who ha d taken out repatriation 
papers might be given a hearing later. Also, those who m ade up their minds first 
were going to be given their choice first. Consequently, s he wondered whether she 
shouldn't go on ahead to a center of her own choice, and awai t her husband there. 

August 4, 1945. Rowalt-Best Meeting with People. 
Yesterday a meeting was held on the outcbor stage at whi ch Rowalt, the Deputy 

Director, and Raymond Best, the new Project Director, made i mportant speeches. The 
meeting was announced at noon and at dinnertime in the m esshalls by block managers, 
and the people were impressed with the fact that the meet ing was an important one. 
Probably the largest crowd that has ever turned out for any occasion gathered at this 
meeting, and it covered the ground in front of the outdoor s tage beyond the street in 
front of the flag pole. The crowd was made up of Isseis an d older Niseis, generally 
above 20, with probably more Isseis than Niseis. The pe ople seemed anxious to hear 
the results of the Denver conference, but there was no feeling of tension that would 
have existed at a strike meeting or where the crowd was ind ignant. 

Mr. Carter opened the meeting in a sincere sort of way, e xpressing desire that 
misunderstandings be avoided as much as possible. His s peech was not translated, 
however, and consequently probably did not have much effe ct on the people one way 
or the other, Rowalt next spoke on the fundamental policie s of the  YfRA  concerning 
segregation. He was not particularly frank, but attempt ed to present the official 
stand of the WRA in regard to segregation. He touched on both segregation and 
resettlement in the same speech, showing a lack of unde rstanding of the feeling of 
evacuees who were listening to him. Mr. Tsuda, the tran slator, was given the diffi-
cult job of translating the whole speech all at once from notes, and introduced his 
own interpretations, consequently giving an entirely di fferent impression to Isseis 
than Rowalt gave to those who understood English. Best s poke with the best welfare 
of Tule Lake in mind, and brought up points which made the f uture here rather rosy. 
The meeting had been planned with sane care, it seemed, a nd the speakers showed a 
desire to explain things as fully as possible and to avoi d any kind of misunderstand-
ing. But some gross misunderstanding did result, through mistaken translation into 
the Japanese of Rowalt*s speech, and the mention of segreg ation and resettlement at 
the same time. 

Rowal' * 
mechanically gave the official interpretation of the seg regation, » 



not bothering to make a direct appeal to the audience by showing signs  of  friendliness 
or sympathy. Explaining the cause of segregation, he said that  it was  not due to public 
clamor. It was due to the realization that there existed in the centers two groups 
of people.' One was those who desired to be Japanese and retu rn to Japan after the 
war, and, those  who  preferred to lead the American way of life. Having these two 
groups within the center had caused some conflicts, not too much, and it was thought 
funfair to both groups to continue this state of affairs.  The registration served 
to bring the existence of these two groups to the eyes of th e public and cause 
segregation. 

He outlined the history of the segregation movement, and s aid that it was 
not a new thing. At the time of evacuation, as early as Ma y, 1942, various pro-
posals has been made to segregate the loyal from the disloya l. It was felt, how-
ever, at that time that segregation could not be accomplish ed fairly and consequently 
was not undertaken. The matter was again discussed at the P roject Directors' meeting 
in Washington in May this year, where it was decided that se gregation would take 
place. A committee was set up to make plans, and up to the time of the Denver 
conference practically the whole WRA Washington staff wor ked on details of plans for 
the coming segregation. Then at the conference at Denver f urther discusson was 
held on the matter. 

Rowalt then explained why Tule Lake had been chosen as the segregation center. 
The reasons were: First, it was estimated that from 13,000 t o 15,000 persons would be 
segregated, and Tule Lake was one of the few centers that wo uld hold such a large 
number. Second, there were work opportunities here in Tule Lake. Third, there would 
be less transportation problem because of the number of pers ons involved were greater 
in Tule Lake than in other centers. Fourth, Tule Lake was in a military zone and 
far from work opportunities, which made resettlement di fficult. 

He said that there would be no stigma attached to those who preferred to 
stay in the segregation center. It deserved as mu<?h care a s any of the other 
centers. 

He thought that the people should think of some of the advanta ges that 
segregation would bring to the people. Those desiring to re turn to Japan would pro-
bably find it easier to do so. Also, those who desired to l ive in the U.S. would 
find it easier to resettle. 

Rowalt explained fully the resettlement possibilities, but failed to make 
it clear that the "two programs were separate. In fact, he had already said that 
segregation would aid resettlement. For those who do not wa nt to go to another 
center anciesire to resettle directly, he said, as much ai d as possible would be 
given. Grants would be paid without question, transpo rtation would be paid for, 
baggage would be transported free of charge. VffiA office s were also able to 
guarantee jobs and housing in various sections of the count ry.. The WRA. encourages 
resettlement, but it didn't intend to force anyone out of a center who did not 
want to go.However, that did not mean that he, as a civi l servant, could guarantee 
the people that they could stay in a center indefinitely. The current appropria-
tion" of the WRA expires in June, 1944-, and no one knew wha t Congress would do the 
next year. This year "WRA has gotten every cent that it asked for. The ViRA approved 
the policy of relocation. 

Best's speech. 
Best made a short and friendly speech. He started out by say ing that he wished 
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to address the audience as fxiends because he intended  that they should become 
friends. Mr. Rowalt, he said, had given the reasons for se gregation having taken 
place. This, he said, had to be accepted. Then he went on  to outline the policies 
that would govern Tule Lake. No major changes in policy wer e contemplated. The 1JHA 
would continue to regulate the inside of the center. T he Army would have no part 
in the internal government. The Army would guard the outsi depf the center, and he 
did not know how the Army would choose to do it. Except in ektra^ordinary cases, and 
then only with Myer's permission, would visits to and l eave from the Project be 
allowed. There would be a good school maintained and a s tandard hospital kept up, 
and he would do his best to make Tule Lake a livable place. In order to work out 
peaceful relationships with the people, he asked that a com mittee be chosen from 
the people to work with the administration, since such a committee would be a great 
help in promoting peaceful relationships. 

Translation by Mr. Tsuda 
While Rowalt and Best made their speeches, Mr. Tsuda, In vestigator for the 

Internal Security Division, took notes, and gave the t ranslation from the notes 
that he took. Evidently he did not know what Rowalt w a s going to say because he 
translated many parts of his speech incorrectly. Under t he circumstances one could 
not expect Mr. Tsuda to make an accurate translation, b ut he was responsible for 
some gross mistakes in translation. 

The greatest fear of the Issei public was probably that if they left Tule Lake 
they would have to stand the chance of being forced ou t of a center, and it was on 
this point that Mr. Tsuda made his greatest mistake. Mr. Tsuda stated that the 
cause of segregation was a desire on the part of the WRA a s early as May, 1942 to 
get people out of the centers. He also stated that segreg ation was taking place 
because it was unfair to the loyal group to be kept with t he disloyal, and made 
it more difficult forthfitm to resettle. By the time he m entioned that Tule Lake 
would be offered jobs first, that as much expense as po ssible would be paid, that 
jobs and housing v/ould be guaranteed, they sounded as though they were a part of 
a scheme of the IRA to get people out of the centers. He tr anslated correctly that 
the WRA did not mean  "to  force anyone to resettle who did not want to. However, Rowalt 
as abublic servant, could not guarantee that anyone coul d stay beyond June, 1944 be-
causfe appropriations expired then and no one could tell w hat Congress would do. 

Tsuda brought in parts of Carter's speech besides adding his own ideas. 
He also used the vrords "loyal" (chusei) and "disloyal" (f uchusei) throughout 
his translation, which Rowalt had avoided in his speech. Best's speech was trans-
lated without distortion for one thing, because it was shor t. 

Reaction of the Public 
Many Niseis noted the discrepancies between Rowalt's spee ch and the translati n 

given by Mr. Tsuda. This was noted by JS, by Hattie Kurose , by George S., by 
Yuki Katayama. Many Isseis, without being aware of the dis crepancies, thought that 
the translation was poor. One man, Mr. Sakahara, when aske d what he thought the 
reason for segregation was, said that he had forgotten wh at he had just heard. 
Others thought that Mr. Tsuda had done a fairly good j ob of  translation,  not knowing 
that he had made mistakes. 

To understand the reactions of the Isseis to the speeches i t is necessary to 
know the underlying fear which motivates them. At the pre sent time the greatest 
fear held by the greatest number of Isseis is that they will b e forced out of 
a center and forced to make their way in a hostile world. Thi s fear was widely 
spread among Isseis when the WRA embarked upon a program of resettlement last fall. 
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This  -was  accentuated at that time by the threat that those who w ent out on indefinite 
leave would not be allowed to return to a center, and this f ear of not having recourse 
to the security of a camp once Isseis went out has/^s®? a live ever since. At the 
time of registration many Isseis did not want to re gister because the leave clearance 
form was used to register them. They were afraid that if they signed any paper of that 
sort they would be forced someday to leave the center. N o assurance on the part of 
the  VIRA  would have served to allay this fear entirely, and no t even a statement 
from the National Director was forthcoming to assure t he people that those who did 
not want to relocate would not be forced out of a camp. The p eople had come to attach 
the motive of wanting to get the Japanese people out of ce nters with any program instituted 
by the "WRA. The more recent program of cutting down the amount of money to be spent 
fon food and the cutting down the number of evacuee emp loyees to about two-thirds their 
original number was interpreted, and rightly so, as a mo ve in this direction. When 
segregation was announced, it was announced without a n explanation as to why it was 
taking place. The vocal group, especially those who wer e likely to be most pro-
Japan, began to broadcast that segregation was just an other step in the process of 
getting the evacuees out of camps — or in their own words; "Omaera Chusei-gumi wa 
hoori-dasareru no dakara (You loyal ones are going to be th rown out.)" Many people 
were doubtful on this point, and those who suspected tha t it was untrue generally kept 
still. People here in Tule Lake did not want to move to another center, especially 
because they thought that Tule Lake was the best center of all. They-were afraid 
of venturing outside on indefinite leave because they wer e not sure of being able 
to make a living. "While the pros and cons of staying or  leaving made it difficult 
for many Isseis to make up their minds, their greatest concern was whether they would 
be allowed to stay in another center for the duration if the y wanted to. 

With this underlying fear in mind, the effect of the transl ation on Isseis 
who heard it should be analyzed. It was stated, in the first place, that segregation 
was taking place in order to facilitate getting people out of centers. The re-
settlement program, which was to be speeded up in Tule Lake, was only another link, 
in that chain of design. It was mentioned that the W A did not intend to relocate 
anyone who did not want to relocate, but this uvas nullifie d by the statement that this 
could only be assured till June, 1944. The people were giv en the impression that 
after that date anything could happen — the assumption b y many Isseis was that most 
likely the evacuees would be asked to leave. This inter pretation became easy when 
the statement was made soon after the above one that Congr ess was in favor of the 
relocation program. In other words, if Congress were in f avor of relocation and 
it had the power of doing as it liked with the centers, then t he likelihood was that 
the centers would be closed. This interpretation was bac ked up by a false s tatement 
in one of the papers (Denver, I believe) that nine centers would be closed, and only 
two kept open, and one of them would be Tule Lake. 

The ironical thing about last night's meeting v/as that Bes t made a good impres-
sion on the people, whereas Rowalt did not seem especiall y friendly. Best made a 
short speech, and it was translated in full and at length.  He painted a rosy picture 
of the Tule Lake camp after segregation, and this impressi on was gotten over to the 
Issei audience via the translation. Consequently, it m ade many Isseis feel that 
there would be no disadvantage in staying here in Tule La ke — not too much, anwyay. 
For one thing, it did not sound as though it would be bad for their children since 
it v/as mentioned that good schools would be maintained her e. For the invalids, it 
was stated that a good standard hospital would be main tained, which was a better 
assurance than they had been able to get with Dr. Pedicor d heading the hospital. 
It could have been stated that even those in Tule Lake mig ht not be able to stay for 
the duration — only their stay till June, 1944 could b e assured. But it was an-
nounced by Best that there would be no visits and leaves f rom Tule Lake, giving the 
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/that i?iy nin Tule Lake was permanently assured for the duration, w hile Tsuda gave 
the impression that stay in any other center could not b e expected after June," 1944. 

Another point of confusion was the basis of segregation. The point was put over 
that one camp was to be for those who wanted to return to J apan and who wanted to 
remain Japanese and that the other camps would be for thos e who wanted to lead the 
American way of life. This was confusing to many Isseis becau se even if they moved 
to some other camp, or even if they resettled on the outs ide, they still wanted 
to return to Japan at some future date. Except for a few e xceptions Isseis in general 
have always dreamed about some day returning to their home country a success. And 
if their leaving Tule Lake meant ceasing to be a Japanese, ma ny would rather stay. 
After all, they were Japanese and they were not allowed to have American citizenship. 
There was no way in which they could cease to be Japanese an d become American. The' 
other interpretation was that of political loyalty or disl oyalty. Tsuda used the 
words "loyal" and "disloyal" over and over again, impres sing the people with this 
idea. Many Isseis, however, could not see how the word could apply to them, be-
cause they were Japanese citizens, and their loyalty was d etermined already. They 
might be willing to aid the American war effort, they might  consent to obey the 
laws of the U.S., they might go out to work, but many Iss eis could not see how this 
would make them "loyal" to the U.S. and "disloyal" to Japa n. The basis for segrega-
tion was unclear to Isseis. Rowalt had said that it was not being done because of 
public clamor. Out of this confusion there emerged the int erpretation on the part 
of some Isseis that segregation into the "loyal"~and "di sloyal" or "American" and 
"Japanese" only applied to Niseis. For the Isseis it wa s only a matter of how they 
wanted to bring up their children. For the Niseis the ch oice was a real one — 
for the Issei parents it was merely a matter of takring the cat egory of their children. 

These reactions have already been observed, and more do cumentation will be 
made on these points in the next few days. How different p ersons interpret segrega-
tion will be observed along with other points, such as th e""push" and "pull" which 
operate to encourage staying or leaving, the extent to whic h official Announcements 
are misinterpreted, etc. 

Mr. Akahoshi on Rovralt-Best 

This morning JS talked to the block manager about the me eting last night. He 
had heard the speech .̂ but was-not greatly aware of the fa ct that there had been dis-
crepancies between/Kowalt said and Tsuda's translatio n. He said that most of the 
people had gotten the Impression that the "WRA was getting r eady to throw people out 
of centers, and the people in this block (#25) were say ing that it was going to be 
better to stay. He said: 

"The people in this block were saying this morning tii at it was going to be 
better to stay here, after what they heard last night. Th e thing that they were 
worried about most was whether they would be allowed to stay i n another center or 
not. They got the impression that after a year they would be thrown cut of a «loyal» 
camp. And if segregation is going to mean that they are going to separate the people 
who want to be  -  »Japanese« and those who want to be »Americans*'a lot of p eople are 
going to think twice before they leave this place." 

Mr. Akahoshi thought that it was unfortunate that the re had been mistakes in 
the translation. While he could see that no one could insur e that a person could 
stay in a center indefintely, he could also see that a perso n wouldn't be thrown out 
of a center, either. JS pointed out that for one thing' there were too many American 
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captives in Japanese hands, and he agreed to this. 

Kibei 

A Kibei in the block said, '̂e're staying, We've made up our m inds,and so 
there isn't any trouble,  lie  shouldn't go around advising people what they should do." 
Mrs. Akahoshi thought that the Kibei's place was in Japan , anyway. 

Mrs. Akahoshi 
Mrs. Akahoshi agreed with JS that Niseis would have a di fficult time in 

Japan unless they took back enough money tojget an educa tion over there. But when JS 
said that for Niseis who could not get more than a middle scho ol education it was 
better to stay in America, she said, "That's right. But the only trouble with this 
country is that you'll always be called a 'Jap.*" 

Mrs. Kaya 
The effect of the Rowalt-Best Speeches on Isseis was evide nt from what Mrs. 

Kaya said to JS. She wanted to write a letter to her former C aucasian employer in 
Walnut Grove for whom she had worked for a long time, and wh o was sympathetic to her 
and her husband. They had said that perhaps for their own g ood they should stay in 
a relocation center for the duration, and they could come b ack to work after the w ar 
was over. Now with segregation imminent,'Mr. and Mrs. Ka ya were faced with the choice 
of either staying in Tule Lake or leaving. Mr. Kaya had regi stered because there was 
nothing wrong in that. He had made his wife answer «no' to Qu estion 28 because he 
wanted her to be on the same side as himself, who was an a lien, and therefore owed 
loyalty to Japan. Now they could either stay, or Mrs. Kaya could change her answer 
and both leave. Mrs. Kaya wanted to write to Mrs. Brown t hat they were at a loss what 
to do because Mr. Kaya was an alien, and his acceptance outsi de of a center by people 
would be doubtful. If all Americans were good people like t he Browns, it would-be all 
right, but there were other sorts of people, too. On the o ther band, they "understood" 
America and wanted to do the right thing. They were at a  loss what to do, and wanted 
their opinion on the matter. 

Mr. and Mrs. Kaya had been comtemplating going out to work as domestics. Since 
they had no children, they could go wherever they wanted t o, and were assured of being 
able to save some money if they worked. Mr. Kaya is said to  have claimed that the value 
of the American dollar wouldn't become lower than half of th e Japanese yen, and that 
money was still necessary. Mrs. Kaya said that they wanted to work a few years until 
things settled down even if the war ended. But not knowing th e outside condition very 
well, they were afraid that they would not be able to make a living. Mrs. Kaya pointed 
out that the feeling against the Japanese in Denver and Chi cago was already becoming 
bad.̂  Vie 11,  where could they go? On the other hand, they did not want to be classified 
as disloyal. The Browns, for instance, may not treat them as before if they were 
classified as disloyal. They were at a loss to know what to d o. 

JS pointed out to Mrs. Kaya that going to another center did not mean that 
they would be forced to leave it. Mrs. Kaya's answer was: " But I hear that after 
June, 1944 we aren't going to be allowed to stay." JS then poi nted out the mistakes 
that had been made in the translation, arid the possibilit ies that the centers would be 
closed. He also pointed out the advantages of their going out to work, and the chances 
of their finding a suitable employer. Mrs. Kaya then agre ed that those who didn't like 
Japanese wouldn't hire them; it was better to find employme nt among Americans than 
among Japanese, that it was doubtful which way the war w ould turn out. 

— Don  Elberson on-Denver conference. 
Yesterday JS talked to Don Elberson briefly. Don was indig nant because he 
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had heard that Coverley had "sold Tule Lake down the rive r" in having it made the seg-
regation center. Segregation had been decided upon at the time of the Washington 
conference, but he had told his staff nothing about it. 

In the morning there had been a staff meeting in which Best w as introduced to 
the staff. In the afternoon those who were handling segr egation had another meeting. 
He commented that those who were handling segregation w ere different from those who 
handled registration. The whole attitude was different thi s time, he thought. He 
thought that the WRA had learned a few things. He had bee n included in this meeting. 

Opler 
JS saw Opler again yesterday. He seemed reluctant to reveal what went on in the 

staff meeting and what was in the Administrative Instru ctions. JS hinted that he 
wanted to see the instructions, but Opler put him off by s aying it was too technical 
to understand and that a pamphlet would be issued for the benefit of the people. He 
said that the good points of the segregation should be s tressed to the colonists, and 
seemed to be holding back something. 

JS prodded him on the meaning of the segregation, and wan ted to know if an 
official explanation had been issued at Denver. He also wanted to know whether the 
pressure groups had been a major factor in segregation taki ng place. Opler vaguely 
admitted that the pressure groups had had their effects,  but said that the WRA couldn't 
admit publicly that they were the cause of segregation. He  thought that the WRA 
would have difficulty explaining to the congressmen t he sociological significance 
of the whole affair. From Opler JS gathered that the expl anation of the segregation 
vacillated between two bases — one the cultural prefere nce idea and the other political 
loyalty. Opler himself felt that it was best to get away f rom the idea of political 
loyalty being involved in the segregation process and tha t the cultural angle be stressed. 
In other words, one camp would be a "Japanese" camp, wh ile the others would be "American" 
camps, with no stigma attached to the former. He saw the incongruence of mere Isseis 
being considered loyal than Niseis because of the way the y registered. He said that the 
ViRA was trying to get away from the political interpret a.tion_.of the registration as much 
as possible. But JS pointed out that the  w yes" answers on Question 28 were not going • 
to be given a hearing. If the basis for segregation were  going to be cultural, then 
everyone should be given a hearing. 

After his conversation with Opler JS could not help feelin g that segregation 
was taking place because of political pressure, and a the oretical basis to explain it 
adequately to the satisfaction of everyone had not been wor ked out. Opler himself 
had found difficulty trying to explain it to JS. 

Mrs. Ishizuka 
Yesterday Mrs. Ishizuka said, "If "they aren't going to close the other centers, 

it's better to leave than to stay here." It is doubtful th at she feels the same after 
the Rowalt-Best meeting last night. 

August 5, 1943 John Matsumoto 
Yesterday JS spoke to John Matsumoto in the latrine. He sa id "Yeah, the trans-

lation was awful. About 60 per cent of the people in this bl ock are now saying that 
they are going to stay here. We'll have to wait for the pam phlet to get more accurate 
information." 

Nishidas 
The Nishidas were discussing their leaving with the ot hers. Mr. Nishida said, 
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"People are saying that Rowalt said that we could stay h ere if we want to. They aren't 
going to let the loyal ones stay when they are trying so har d to get people out of here." 
Mrs. Nishida said: "We might as well go see another  center. We'd like to go to Colorado 
because we have friends there. It's not makeoshimi (alib i) that I'm saying, as Mrs. Matsu-
bara thinks." 

August 6, 1943 Gunderson vs. Harkness 
Sunderson and Harkness seem to represent two different points of view on the 

segregation question. At a meeting with teachers day befor e yesterday, both gave their 
views in explaining the coming segregation. Gunderson k ept using the words "loyal" 
and "disloyal" while Harkness avoided their use. The latt er stressed the fact that 
there are going to be a lot of loyal children. When the possi bility of a Japanese 
school here was brought up, Harkness said that it should n ot be mentioned at the 
present time because it \¥ould give the outside public t he wrong impression. 

Appropriations 
According to FO, Dr. Jacoby is said to have explained at a meeting that the 

fact that the WRA appropriations would give out in June,  1944.,  did not mean that the 
evacuees were going to be forced out of the centers. 

Yamamoto Family 
From now on special attention will be paid to patternsof fa mily split on the 

segregation issue. Naturally splits at the time of regist ration will also become evi-
dent, since segregation is being based on the registration results. 

The Yamamotos are a married couple, falling in the age gro up between the majority 
of the Niseis, who are below 25, and the Isseis, who are above 40. Mr. Yamamoto is a 
Kibei in his thirties. He has had a normal school educatio n in Japan, and v/as teaching 
Japanese school in Sacramento prior to evacuation. His id eas are typically Isseish, 
and he maintains urban cultural standards of a Japanese v ariety. 

Mrs. Yamamoto is in her late twenties, and was brought up in a typical Japanese 
home in Sacramento, While she speaks Japanese fluently, she still prefers to speak 
in English. Mrs. Yamamoto believes that she is the boss of th e family. She relates 
that when Mr. Yamamoto proposed to her, she knew that it wa s coming, and she had to 
sit and wait for half and hour before he came through with -what tie wanted to say. When 
jTasked which one was the boss in the family, she replied; " Well, you know, G., when 
you get married, the wife is the boss in the family." 

At the time of registration Mr. Yamamoto spoke in favor of Ni seis, as well 
as Kibeis, returning to Japan, and went to take out repa triation papers for himself. 
Mrs. Yamamoto evidently was not influenced by him and regi stered "yes." Now that 
segregation is imminent, the split has become evident. M rs. Yamamoto recently s aid 
that she wanted to go out, and she didn't mean to stay her e. She thought that her hus-
band would have to change his mind and join her, if he wish ed. She thought of going 
ahead to another center -with her family, and have her hus band change his status and 
join her later. 

Analysis. 
It should be noted that the status of a Kibei fellow in Americ a is generally 

inferior to "that of a Nisei fellow. This is especially t rue in their relationship with 
Nisei women. Kibei fellows are generally disliked by Nis ei women, while the latter are 
desired by the former. Also, Niseis in general have the ba cking of their families 
on their side, which again puts the Kibei at a disadvanta ge. In many families the 
Isseis were in favor of staying in Tule Lake, but this does not seem to be true of 
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Mrs, Yaiaamoto's family. 

Matsuda ̂ ^ ^  & k . ^  w h o h & s r e c e i v e d a co l iege education and technical 

training in the field of aeronautics in America. He had inte nded to return to Japan 
prior to the outbreak of the war, but with that possibility  out of the question at the 
present, he wants to go out to work to make a place for him self. At the time of regis-
tration he favored it, along with a great many others who had  foresight and education. 
Until then he was respected in his block as a leader of the y oung people, out after 
that he was considered a inu, and lost most of his friends. His father threatened to 
disown him if he dared a i ^ r "yes" to Question 28, and  c o n s e q u e n t l y  when he did register, 
he registered, "no." Because he had an offer of a job to d esign machine tools he 
tried to change his answer immediately, but was not succe ssful. Having been alienateo 
from the block people, the majority of whom were on the oth er side of the fence from 
him (Block 41 in lard V), he no longer feels a strong tie wi th the people that surround 

khim. 

Matsuda*s family is a very conservative one. His sis ter is a Kibei just 
like himself. His parents were very strict about the way h e was brought up, and 
even now Matsuda cannot reveal to his parents that he goe s to dances on rare occasions. 
His father seems to be especially hardheaded, perhaps typ ical of farmers from the hills, 
of Placer County. His mother sees his point of view, but his father only holds his 
his own. Matsuda once mentioned that he wanted to go ou t to work, and his father 
wanted to know what sort of work he was going to do. When he heard that it rns a 
job as a "machinist," he exploded and declared that people  even objected to ^nose 
goine* out to do farm work. A machinist would be helping the A merican war effort, 
which would be treachery toward Japan. Matsuda's fathe r believes that Japan is 
-oing to win the war soon and there is no hope for Jap anese in America. He's 
already sent some money back to Japan, and took out repat riation papers for everyone 
in the  f a m i l y  except Matsuda. The latter thought that there would not b e much ox a 
chance for hin/ifi%pan at the present time. The split du ring registration was settled 
quietly, and when he"received his clearance he would have slipped quietly off to work. 
Segregation, however, has brought the split out into t he open again. 

Bein- repatriates, the rest of Matsuda's family has to rema in in Tule Lake. 
They have no intentions of ever changing their status. T he father insists strongly 
that Matsuda stay with them. His argument is that he's t he eldest in the ^amily, 
and it is his dutv to go back with them to Japan. Matsud a does 110. want to be tied 
up in a "disloyal" center, where his future will be ruined. H e knows that the war-
may last a long time and that Japan may lose the war. He fe els that if he goes out 
to work now, he cangpin valuable experience, make som e money, and make a place lor himseli 
someplace. If he is in a war industry, he feels that he ca n get draft deferment. His 
parents are afraid that if he goes out he may be drafted , but evidently they don't truot 
the possibility of being deferred. His mother sees his poi nt of view, and does not 
object so strongly to his leaving for another center. Ma tsuda feels the inevitability 
of a split between himself and his father. The only thing now is for him to leave 
without causing too much hard feeling between himself an d his father. He^felt that it 
was useless to try to argue with him logically, because  their points of view and lacts 
were entirely different. He thought that perhaps the be st thing for him to do was 
to keep as quiet about the matter as possible, and quiet ly leave when the time came. 

A block meeting was held to discuss segregation, but Matsu da did not attend it 
and does not know what went on in it. Next door the Nis ei son was heard arguing with 
his parents that he wanted to leave Tule Lake, and Matsuda 's father went over to help 
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the other parents argue with his son. Such seems to be the t enor of life in Ward V. 

Issei confusion. 
The following is a conver ation of three Isseis in Block 25 in the shower room. 

"I understand that in those families where there is a split, the loyal ones aren't 
going  fb  be allowed to stay here." 

"Yes, they say that they are going to send them out first, and perhaps return them 
later on." 

"Why do they go to all that trouble. "Why don't they let them stay here in the 
first,  place';" 

"They're trying to get as many people out of here as possibl e. How can you 
expect them to send anyone back here?" 

"This is a big problem. If we leave this place, it's goin g to mean that we are 
loyal to America and not loyal to Japan. We are still Japan ese citizens. The only 
reason we were able to come to America was because Japan al lowed-us to. That stamp on 
our passport is something we have to be thankful for a nd which we can't forget." 

This morning Mr. Kaya said to JS: "They mean to tie up the dis loyal ones here, 
don't they, so they can't get out? Isn't that being done t o make people want to leave 
this piece and get out of the centers? They know very well th at Japanese don't like being 
stamped as being  *  disloyal*. n JS explained the history of the segregation movement, 
beginning with the idea -that a small group of pro-Axis s ympathizers caused trouble in 
the centers, and how the pressure groups hounded the T;EA an d finally demanded segregation 
of the loyal and the disloyal. Mr, Kaya then saw some light , but only partially, for he 
explained it to himself in this way: "I see, they want to s egregate the troublesome 
ones so that they TO n't interfere with the otheis leaving th e camps." 

Mrs. Kaya said: "Isn't the Army going to take over Tu le Lake?" 

Analysis of Issei Confusion. 
During registration the issues were fairly clear. The Army wanted Niseis 

to make up their mind whether they were going to remain loya l to the United Stabes 
or not, as an initial step to getting the loyal ones back i nto the Army and into war 
industry and normal life. For the  NJ.sei3  it was only a matter of getting leave clearance 
applications from everyone at onetime in order to faci litate resettlement. The Isseis 
were only asked whether they would be law-abiding or not . The only trouble during regis-
tration was that care was not taken to explain it fully . Many Isseis felt that it was 
a scheme to force people out of the centers, while others f elt that the issue at stake 
was loyalty or disloyalty. 

An attempt is being made to explain segregation carefull y so that there will be no 
misunderstanding, but it is an issue that is very difficul t for an Issei to understand 
clearly. Conflicting stands have been taken by different se gments cf the RA personnel 
and added to that is the difficulty of translation and of g etting over even a simple 
idea to the people — especially the Isseis. Then there are rumors who play upon the 
fears of the people, making it difficult for them to see the  issues clearly, even if it 
were presented in a straightforward manner. 

To go back a little ways, segregation has always been disc ussed in terms of 
separating the dangerous and potentially dangerous from t hose who were not dangerous, 
those who would turn against the U.S. in order to help Jap an from those who would remain 
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law-abiding. The final allegiance of an alien Japanese to  his country could not be 
questioned, because he was not allowed to become an America n citizen. Therefore, 
the terms "loyal" a n d i s  loyal"  could not be applied appropriately to Isseis when speak-
ing of segregation. They could be and were applied with rea son to Niseis because they 
were American citizens, and their loyalty to America could b e questioned. Consequently, 
the terns "loyal" and "disloyal" were used quite generall y, and vver̂ applied with reason 
to Niseis, since many persons did not make a sharp distincti on between the first and 
second generation Japanese,  '-.hen  trouble occurredmti/a center and cooperation "loyal" 
schemes interfered with by a certain segment of the eva cuee population, this opposition 
was referred to generally as being "agitators" and "troub lemakers^ 1 They were also often 
thought of as being "pro-Axis" or loyal to Japan. Here a gain the use of the "words 
"loyal" and "disloyal" became popular, and came to be used widely by the outside public 
which read newspaper accounts of the more serious incidents — especially the Poston and 
Man z ana r  inc  i  dent  s. 

The registration added a complication to the segregation pr ocess. For the 
Niseis it was a matter of determining loyalty or disloya lty, but so many other factors 
were involved that it was recognized by many WRA offici als, especially those sympathetic 
to evacuees, that registration did not fairly divide the l oyal from the disloyal. The 
Isseis were asked the same question at first, but this ques tion was later changed to 
ask whether they would be law-abiding or not. Consequent ly, for the Niseis registration 
could be looked upon as the first step before segregation o f the "loyal" and "disloyal" 
took place. But -this was not applicable to Isseis, who wer e only applying for leave 
clearance —  which  presumably was a process which determined whether the y were dangerous 
or not. Nevertheless, the words Chusei (loyal) and Fuchus ei (disloyal) were used to-
ward Isseis. . 

Now that segregation is taking place, Isseis are confused by the f act that 
the words "loyal" and disloyal" are being applied to thems elves. On August 3, in the 
Rowalt-Best meeting the translator, Mr. Tsuda, had emp loyed the words Chusei and Fuchusei 
throughout, even though both speakers meticulously avoi ded their use. On August 5 " 
in the Tule.an Dispatch parts of Administrative Instructi on No. 100 were printed and 
translated into Japanese, and the following terms used to de signate Tule Lake: "Which 
is set apart for the residence of persons of Japanese ances try residing in relocation 
centers who have indicated that their l<yalties lie with J apan during the present 
hostilities." The Japanese translation could be retransla ted into: "Those who indicated 
that they were loyal to Japan." (Jibun wa Nippon ni tais hite chusei de aru koto o shiji 
seshi ...) 

The reaction of the Isseis toward the use of these two wo rds is generally a 
protest of its appropriateness. This is well-express ed by Mrs.  Murayama.  who stated 
that they couldn't be applied to Isseis. She thought that  they should be reserved 
for  x *iseis only, Mr. Kurose, who is willing to help the Americ an war effort says that 
he is not being "loyal" to America or "disloyal" to Japan . He is merely doing the 
right tiling. He is a Japanese too, and can't be disloyal to Japan. Conseauently, 
he feels that the Y/RA does not intend that the words loyal and disloyal should apply 
to Isseis. He feels that the parents are given the classific ation of their children 
for expediency. Those who have made up their minds to dec lare their loyalty to Japan 
do not seem to mind being classified as "disloyal" since  it carries the connotation that 
they are loyal Japanese. Those -who are wavering at the pr esent time and cannot quite 
make up their minds one way or the other seem to be having t he hardest time inter-
preting the situation. Mr. Akahoshi, the Block Manager of B lock 25 ; indicated this when 
he said that the people in the block were beginning to hesita te in making their choice 
to leave because they were being asked definitely whether t hey were going to be "loyal" 
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or "disloyal." or "disloyal." 
:. _  '  . The fear was that by leaving Tule Lake they would be acc used 

later of being disloyal to Japan. On the other hand, they d id not want to be stamped 
as being "disloyal" and their future for themselves and their children here in America 
jeopardized. Practically all Isseis who registered answ ered "yes" to Question 28, which 
asked whether they would be law-abiding. Now the segregati on process was separating 
those who were "loyal to Japan", which could mean that t hose who left were "disloyal 
to Japan." 

Attempts were made on the part of TMRA officials to avoid the use of the words 
"loyal" and "disloyal." Rowalt in his speech on August 3 indicated the two g roups to 
be separated as: "1. Those who look to the United States a s their future home, and 2. 
those who look to Japan as their future home." (TD, August  4, 1943) "WRA officials 
sympathetic to the e acuees, such as Opler, the Social A nalyst, desired to interpret 
"loyalty" and 'Hisloyalty" in terms of cultural, rather t han political allegiance. There 
seemed to be a feeling on the part of these people that it was unfair to hold evacuees 
responsible for the choice they were asked to make. At th e Denver conference the 
possibility of considering someone who insisted on not chan ging his "no" answer to 
Question 28 as still being "loyal" on the basis of other evi dence was considered. 

Other factors might contribute to the interpretation that there should be 
no stigma attached to those remaining in Tule Lake. One is the fact that registration 
did not determine loyalty or disloyalty. Another is a realization that segregation 
was being undertaken as a means of appeasing the reactionary public to protect the 
"WRA, in spite of Rowalt's statement to the contrary. Opl er, Jacoby, Silverthorne 
all stated before they went to the Denver conference that the pressure groups were 
a major factor in segregation taking place. Another is the realization that as long 
as families were kept together there could be no adequate separation of the loyal 
from the disloyal. There is a feeling among many people that the population in 
Tule Lake after segregation is not going to be so very dif ferent from that in other 
centers. 

August 7, 1943 Talk with Dr. Jacoby. 
Dr. Jacoby went to the Denver conference and was able t o talk to other directors 

and people from Washington. He has a good background in so ciology and also has a good 
understanding of the Japanese people. He is sympatheti c toward them without being ir-
rational and emotional about it. Consequently, he probably represents the most impar-
tial view one could possibly get of the segregation moveme nt. JS was able to ask him 
a few questions, and Dr. Jacoby's answers seem to bear o ut this point. 

Segregation, Dr. Jacoby thought, was definitely influe nced by the pressure 
groups . He feels that it is only a "second best" step, which  the WRA took against 
outside pressure. He acknowledged the fact that Rowalt w as right in saying that 
discussion of segregation took place in San Francisco at t he time of evacuation, but 
he still did not agree with Rowalt on the segregation no t being caused by public clamor. 

JS asked whether it wasn't recognized that it wasn't quite fair to many people 
to ask them to make a choice between loyalty and dislo yalty under their present circum-
stances. Dr. Jacoby said that it would have been better if it had been done a year ago. 
He said that many of those who stayed in Tule Lake would be jus t as law-abiding as those 
in other centers. Consequently, he preferred to consider t hose in Tule Lake as having 
decided to make Japan their future home rather than Ame rica. However,-in spite of Rowalt' 
statement to the contrary, he thought that the outside pu blic was sure to put a stigma 
of disloyalty on those remaining in Tule Lake. 



James Sakoda on Segregation • • • •• •  i  • •• i — • •  m • •• i • • i  •  i •••  •  i •  ••  •  mm • 

Dr. Jacoby pointed out, however, that some good came of t he segregation, even 
though it was unfair for some. It would make it easier fo r those in other centers to 
relocate, for instance. 

VJhen asked what would happen to those who were "loyal" an d wanted to stay he "said, 
"I don't think that they'll be forced out at the point of a bayonet." He did not mean 
that people could either stay or go. They were expected t o go if they were "loyal," 
He only meant that he did not think that force would be use d to get anyone out. 

JS explained that it was not quite appropriate to use the w ord "loyal" to 
Isseis. Dr. Jacoby agreed to this, although he himself used the word to apply equally 
to both Isseis and Niseis, vtfien he did use it. He thou ght that the word had more than 
just a narrow meaning in terns of policital loyalty. He agreed wit h JS that it meant 
more whether a person was dangerous or potentially danger ous to the U.S. or not. He 
was interested to know, however, that Isseis were conce rned about this point. 

Frank Nishida 
Frank Nishida is a Kibei who has taken up Nisei ways. He is alone here. During 

registration he registered "no,no" but changed his answ er. He is trying to get out 
to do some sort of work. He thought that Kibeis ought to g et out and get some education 
or training, ".hen asked about the draft he said that he wa s willing to take a chance 
with it. He said that most of his Kibei friends were going to  stay here. 

August 9, 1943 Frank Nishida 

Frank Nishida is a Kibei, but one who has gone to school he re in America, and 
who has taken up Nisei ways, such as jitterbugging and g oing to church. He said, 

"I want to go out directly from here if I can, It's best to get an education 
or some training, rather than to stay in here. Most of m y Kibei friends, however, are 
staying here. They don't see things as I do." Frank, howe ver, changed his answer 
from no to yes and cannot go out until he goes through a lea ve clearance hearing. He 
says  thaî he'  11 take his chance with the draft. 

Masami Ha^ashi 
Mas ami is a quiet type of Nisei. He has gone to college, but has never mixed 

in with the opposite sex very much, prefening to stick to h is studies and to his judo. 
Recently, he had lost interest in judo, and has taken to goi ng to church and to other 
places with girls. His fundamental nature, however, i s one of lack of independence 
in thought. His parents were against his registering "yes" a nd an uncle was most vociferous 
on this point. Consequently, he registered 1 '^," and later changed his answer, although 
he didn't do it in time to get it accepted. He was thinking of going out to work or 
perhaps to teach judo. His uncle wants him to stay in here o r stay clear of the draft 
because he wants Masami to return to Japan with him to start a cleaning business, 
which Masami is studying now. His uncle believes that he can make a success of the 
business in Japan, and seems to have given up the idea  of doing anything more here in 
America. If Masami is to go out, his uncle asks that he b e guaranteed a job which will 
defer him from the draft. JS asked Masami whether he was afraid of being drafted. He 
said he wasn't, but he didn't want to be sent tolthe fron t. He thought that perhaps 
if he taught judo he might be able to be deferred. OxWen if he isn't deferred,/he^, 
couldn't quite make up his mind as to whether he should stic k with his uncle or go 
out on his own. His family all registered and will stay with him, whichever he does. 

Masami is definitely a fence-sitter.  S 
thought that he could still teach 
it in the Army. But 
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Block Meeting» 

.v, ^ . SOm! t ^ f  n ° W "  h a s b e e n t h e C 0 R s e n s u s  of block opinion that block meetings 
should not be held to avoid the sort of coersion that occurred during registration! 
Everyone seemed to realize that the problem this time was primarily a family problem. 
The Planning Board however, requested that an Issei and a Nis ei be selected as block 
representatives to handle problems which might arise, in c onnection with segregation For 
this purpose a meeting was held yesterday afternoon. The me eting was not large, only 
about forty or so having attended it. The majority of the pe ople felt that representatives 
were unnecessary. This was upheld by such persons as Yamamot o, Tanabe, Kaya. ?heir 
argument was that representatives would cause more troubl e than help to solve them by 

d e c i s ^ n s '  T h e b l o c k  ^ a g e r , too, was doubtful as to the value of such 
representatives. His comments were: "Planning Board sti cks its nose into things too 
much (deshabari sugiru)» A few persons, including Nishida , the Planning Board represent*, 
tive at present, and Makamura, favored the plan. Becau se of the arguments pro and con, 
those who were not m favor of the plan began to leave the mee ting. The block manager 
suggested that representatives be selected only to relay d ecisions to the block go along 

a ¡J  s ®l ec
T

t in S representatives only as a matter of form. The few remai n-
ing de cided that the block manager should select the Isse i and Nisei representatives. 

August 10, 1943. Questions; Consultant Meeting, August 6. 

„ ^ ^ H 1 6 firs-c meeting of oonsul-fcants on the .evening of August 6, 1943. the purnose 
ll  f r  y C 0 U n S e l i n g t 0 b e  ™ t 0  ^ami l ies/ te^fect waf exp i red iy M s 
Dorothy Montgomery and Miss Gifford, the latter from the Was hington office. Some of the 
questions asked at that time were: '  1 x n e 

Frank Nakamura: "This question was asked by someone close to the people. «Can it 
be guaranteed that the other centers will not be closed?" 

D # M , :  S ^ t i 3 ^ 0 1 9 a n d t h i n k a b 0 u t h o w m u c h  ^y 0 1 1 6 c a n  guarantee anything. We 
can't guarantee that Congress will appropriate the money t o keep the Army going Y!e 

can't guarantee that they will keep the United States Tr easury going, W u s e  It's 
up to Congress to vote the money. We are just the same as an£ o ther agency. As far 

i L I L w w r ? V e a s o n t 0  that axy relocation center will be closed up." 
E ° t  h  population in a center becomes too small and two centers are combined. 

D.M. knows the possibility of this.) 

of rf ̂  ^  t 0 f ° r C e  ° U t 0 f a c e n t e r a  P e r s o n w h 0 h a s  no means 
of support Mr.  USyer  said that. We are in favor of relocation, however. It is not in 
the minds of the WRA that segregation is the first step to forc ^ the people out YouUl 
have to take my word fbr it. There's no force behind this." 

(Note the inadequate way in Which this  is  answered. The people could not be 
assured of being able to stay in a center unless the argume nts are stronger.) 

real r e f s l k ^ '  e T i d 6 n C e  ° f t h a t i s t h a t  ¿ o b s a r e  cut down. Is that the 

morfi  n Z h Q r e a T T S n , t t 0 f 0 r 0 e p e 0 p l e 0 U t -  I n  ^ there were 
more people than the amount of work to be done. The move was to make a better adjustment 
between the two." (Miss Gifford probably knows that cutt ing do™ the number ofjobs 

a ° * t h e  relocation program. See Barber's statement on this point l ater, al-
though the allusion to this program is indirect.) " 

Nish Kumagai: "Are we going to be frozen in this job until segr egation is over?" 
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D.M.: "There is going to be work until the very end in som e departments, but I 
think it's going to be on a voluntary basis." 

Nish Kumagai: "When you are interviewing the people and  they insist on choosing 
only one center and say that they won't go to any other, what  do we do?" 

D#M.: "Then you l^ve to explain the advisability of making a second choice, 
because otherwise we might have to make that choice for th em." 

Nish: "But it was explained (by Dr. Jacoby) that we aren't going to be forced 
out at the point of a bayonet." 

D.M.j "Do you like to answer that question?" (To Miss Gif ford.) 

Gifford: "We don't want to threaten anybody. And we don't w ait to make 
selections for people. But I suppose one of the alternative s is that we'd have to 
designate a center for such individuals. W© might choos e a plaoe which has the most 
space. If there are a great many people of that sort, then I don't know how the adminis-
tration is going to handle it. There is going to have to be enough space made here 
to accommodate those coming in." (Miss Gifford evidentl y does not see the desirability of 
speaking very softly about an evacuee having to do anythin g. And she doesn't seem to 
realize the danger in threatening an evacuee with a big stick. While she does speak 
of the 'mistakes made during registration,' she is not in timately acquainted with 
•where the mistakes lie*" 

D.M. "W®  a r ® going to insist on a second choice. Explain why it's i moortant. 
Don't lose your temper. If they don't nak£ a second choice, then your responsibility 
ends with a thorough explanation." 

JS: "If a family which should move out onsists on stayin g?" 

Dr. Jacoby: 
"We have been told which groups are to move and which grou ps are 

to stay. There are no techniques outlined that I know of wh ich will allow those who 
should leave to stay. It is felt that if enough reason s are gotten out about what 
segregation 

is about, such cases will not appear," (Dr. Jacoby still tho ught that 
force would not be used to get anyone out of here. He prob ably saw the danger of making 
people heroic if that were dene. On the other hand, he didn't want to say that openly. 
He didn't want to open up the possibility for anyone insis ting on staying because he 
felt that many of them -would stay just for convenience's  sake. When asked specifically 
how he could handle such a case, he said that he would ha ve to take orders from Best 
on that. He also pointed out the possibility of going t o the other center, taking repatria-
tion papers, and coming back to Tule Lake.) 

JS: "Does going to another center mean disloyalty to Japan? " 

Dr. Jacoby: "No, I don't think so. I don't think the choice has international 
implications. They can be loyal Japanese subjects and show a desire to live in the 
United States with their children." 

Gifford: "We have to watch out for people  who  aid Japan as far as the war 
is concerned. But still they can have concern for relatives in Japan. The fact that 
they have that concern is not enoughto show disloyalty t o America." 

JS: "Can we take disloyalty to mean whether a person is d angerous or not 
dangerous?" 
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Gifford: "I think it's a very good way to put it, don't yo u think, Dr. Jacoby?" 
Dr. Jacoby: "Yes." 

(The explanation dangerous or not dangerous, of cours e, is not entirely adequate 
because people in Tule Lake are being assured in offici al pronouncements that the dan-
gerous and troublesome ones are being put in Leupp, and.not Tule Lake. There is confu-
sion of policy here, and WRA officials themselves find / difficult answering questions such 
as these clearly«) 

Obayashi* "Suppose some Nisei who are loyal to this country and on account of the 
family made up their mind to stay here. If they did so, wo uld they lose their citizenship?" 

D.M. "No. We recognize that young people who did not regi ster might have done 
so for any number of reasons. For the young persons who s tay we are going to have a great 
deal of work to do on  thesi','  (She has hopes of keeping some of the young people lef t in 
Tule Lake loyal.) 

Gifford: "Under the laws of the United States it is not p ossible to remove the 
citizenship of a person because he elected to stay here wit h his parents." 

Teranishi: "Is it possible for a minor to stay here unt il 17 and make his 
own decision at that time and be transfered to another reloc ation center?" 

D.M.: "Yes, there will be an appeal board set up. This appea l board is being 
set up to work that out." 

Fish K.: "Couldn't I have my other question answered? Pos sibly from l-ty-ers." 
D.M.  s  "Do you think that's necessary? Segregation has been decided upon, and I 

think that the people know that." 
There is talk of what the various centers are like, an d it is mentioned that 

pictures and descriptions of the centers will arive soon . And Corky Kawasaki comes 
out with the comment: "Join WRA and see the world." 

Murayama: "Do you say that no one can change from 'yes' to 'n o'?" 
Dr. Jacoby: "Not during this period." 
Nish: "Will expenses by paid after going to another center  when they relocate?" 
D.M. "Yes." 
JS: "How about counseling before the hearing?" 
It is explained that the hearing is going to be individual and not a family 

matter. JS felt that the counseling was going to come too late for many individuals, 
J.S: "Will there be stigma attached to the people here?" 
D.M.: "As far as the public is concerned, they may attach a stigma to staying 

here. We have to be realistic about it. We may not want to , .but the public may." 

Consultant Meeting, August 7 

Miss Montgomery answers the questions as they are asked b y those sitting around 
a table. 

Some answers: Parolees belong in no particular group. 

Whether leave clearance hearing is compulsory for thos e in group 3 or not is not 
definitely known. Washington probably has hot decided on that yet, according to Miss 
Gifford. 

The segregation hearing board will hear cases of those answering "no" and 
those not registering. Many answers were not meant, and a chance is to be given cor-
rect errors. If the answer is changed, such individuals will fall in group 3. 

Those families who are to stay in Tule Lake and are not divide d will not be inter-
viewed. 
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The segregation board is headed by Mrs. Silverthorne. Mr. Ca rter and three others 
are on the board. There will be five persons from other cen ters. One from each --roup 
will probably team-up to carry on a hearing. "We've got a go od board. They wanted to 
get people who knew the people." The board was chosen by the project director, who con-
sulted those "who went to the Denver conference. 

Those denied leave clearance now probably won't count. 

"Remember, if you don't know an answer, don't give an ans wer." 

Obayashi: "When a person transfers and repatriates, ho w about the transportation 
back to Tule Lake?" 

D.M.s "It'll ba paid." 
Obayashi: "Relocated person, can he go back to a center?" 

^ , " I t , S  ° n t h e S a m °  b a s i s a s b e f o r e -  I f h e  can show a goo.d reason, he can come 
back. (Note the way in which it is answered—with a bi g if.) 

Obayashi: "Many brought in can goods. How can he escape conf iscation?" 
D.M.s "I think that it has to be identifiable." 
Obayashi: "Can ajperson take lumber if he paid for i t?" 
D.M«; "Straight lumber may involve difficulty." 

Crating: D.M.s "We are trying to get an expert crater. W e also hope to get in-
specting done in the apartments." 

Obayashi: "A wife and grown-up children wishes to remain l oyal to the United 
States for the duration, but will return to Japan after t he war. What category 
will they be in?" ° * 

D.M;: "By the way they answer the question." 
Q.s "Animals?" 
D.M.: "Not definite. On some projects pets are not allowed. "  1 

Q.s "Can you come back here if someone is ill?" 
D.M.: "I think so." 
Q " M a n u a l ? " 
D.M.: "It was written up in Washington as a plan for segr egation. Only 9 or 10 

copies of this manual are on the project. Shows a grealide al more planning than we 
have ever had before—more thinking than on registration , certainly. Still, it doesn't 
cover everything. Miss Gifford, who helped write this is a sking Washington for answers." 

Q.s "Student grants?" 
D.M.s "None so far." 
JS: "Shouldn't segregation and relocation be kept separat e?" 
D.M.s "Yes. Send those interested in relocation to the re location team." 
Murayamas "Is it possible to return to the center?" 

" Rel °cation offices have guaranteed jobs and housing. If the y do not come 
through, then they have no recourse except to allow  them to return." 

Murayamas^ "It depends on what kind of housing and job." 
Graves: "The guarantee involves only temporary jobs and o nly ordinary jobs." 
Murayama: Is it really hard to come back? How difficult i s it?" 

D.M.s "1^think that if a person really couldn't get along , he could get back." 
Graves: In Kansas City there was only one person who req uested to come back. He 

found it difficult to adjust himself. Social Security Bo ard is taking care of welfare 
cases, giving cash help." 

D.M.: "I think we have to think of it in terms of what peoole  really want. I 
think we need not hesitate in assuring people that they c an return to a center if they 
cannot make a go of it." 

Murayama: "Do you have to be penniless to come back?" 

Graves: "No, I don't think so. This soldier got a medica l discharge from the Army. 
He wanted admission to Tule Lake. His wife was expecting a baby. I questioned the real 
need for his coming here. The doctor said that the boy could work if he watched his diet. 
I found a chore job on a dairy, a house for two, and only part time job for him. He didn't 
want that. He wanted to go back. Homesickness, unwilling ness to face the situation, 
hospitalization for the wife. Mr. Holland thought that 
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the boy shouldn't be admitted. The boy wasn't cooperati ng — might have put something 
over on us. He said he wanted to be a welder, but he didn't  want the job. He wasn't 
willing to fac© his problems. We decided it was best to s end him back. He was able 
to pay his own way." 

Murayama; "it sounds to me as though it's pretty hard t o get back." 

August 11, 1943. Issei Stand on Loyalty. 
On Tuesday evening the people in Ward II met with Cart er and Jacoby to discuss 

segregation. One of the centers of interest of the Isseis , according to disoussion of 
the meeting later on, was the question on loyalty. One man th ought that it was improper 
to use the word loyalty and disloyally to Isseis because  they had no citizenship in 
this country. It was a word that to him could only be used when there was monarch 
(kunshu) one could be loyal to. The man. wanted to know w hether some other word could 
not be susbstituted for loyalty and disloyalty. Dr. Jacoby i s said to have replied 
that he was not at the meeting to argue with the people on mat ters of that 3ort. The 
point here is that the Isseis are concerned about the cho ice of words, which the Washing-
ton office does not seem to have given very much concern to, since they used the word 
loyalty in the administrative instructions. 

Nisei attitude 
During an informal conversation the fellow working in the floral arts department 

said: "The thing they're after is to get people out of the center." This was his 
explanation for the segregation process. While this view has been prevalent among 
Isseis, it seems to be believed by some Niseis, too. 

So far, no understandable explanation of the segregatio n has been made. RoYjalt 
did not clarify matters when he insisted that segregation was not taking place because 
of public clamor. A pamphlet explaining segregation has been promised, but none has 
been forthcoming so far. In the meantime, no additional information has 

been published except for a small column titled "Rumor C linic." The hearings are start-
ing possibly this afternoon, while family interview may begin tomorrow. In other words, 
the people are being called upon to make decisions without having all of the facts in 
their possession. Very few people so far have made use of the infonnation bureau. 

Assurance of not being thrown out of a center. 
Mrs. Freed was asked by one of the consultants what assur ance could be given the 

people that they would not be thrown out of a center. She tho ught that the word from 
one of the consultants to that effect was the best that c ould be done. She thought 
that it would be much more effective than rumors. Evide ntly she doesn't know the 
powerful hold rumors have in a center. She said that the Go vernment will not force 
people out without a plan for taking care of them althou gh the WRA could not guarantee 
such a thing because its existence was precarious. JS su ggested that one effective 
argument was that the Government would not force people  who could not take care of 
themselves out of a center because of fear of retaliationon A merican prisoners held 
by Japan. Evidently Mrs. Freed did not think that this exp lanation was acceptable be-
cause she ignored it and talked about social security age ncies. 

When asked about the possibility of being able to come ba ck to a center, Mrs. 
Freed said that that was answered by an administrative i nstruction. 

August 12, 1943. Information Station Questions. 
Gathered at 2508, August 10, 1943 
1. Are any boys of Japanese ancestry to be drafted? 

Frank Nakamura: "I don't think so." 
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JS would have said, "It's possible." 

2. If a boy stays in Tule Lake, can he volunteer into the Ar my, provided his 
record is clear? 

3. Are people notified if their application to change an swers have been accepted? 

Interview 

JS interviewed one boy from Block 52. He answered "no, ye s," but his brother 
answered, "no, no." He is going out to work on indefinite leave in Oregon, and wanted 
to know whether his family could go to Minidoka. At the time of registration his 
family was going to repatriate, but the application was n ot being taken at the time. Now 
they are making plans to leave Tule Lake. He wants to call them outside if there is 
a good opportunity. He was indignant because some people i n the block who were mostly 
for not registering, went and registered "yes" on the las t day and have gone outside. He 
said that the others in the block were indignant, too. 

Trend in Segregation: Confusion. 
The state of affairs in Tule Lake can be described most aptl y by the one word, 

confusion. So far very little information has been relea sed to the people. An informa-
tion office has been set up in four different places, bu t publicity concerning them has 
been poor. Consequently, only a handful of people have gone t o these offices for information 
The announcement of the existence of the information of fices appeared in Japanese only last 
night. A pamphlet 

was promised to the people, but this pamphlet is on its way from Denver, 
but has not arrived as yet. In the meantime very little inf ormation is being published 
in the Dispatch concerning the segregation procedure. Peop le do not know from news items 
when the hearings are going to begin, the nature of t he family counseling, when they 
are to start registering for choice of centers, why the relocation team is here, what 
it is like. There are meetings held in every three block s to discuss relocation, bulb 
these meetings have never been explained in the Dispatch.  There have been meetings 
on ward bases to discuss segregation, but they too have n ever been written up. Both the 
movie and poster programs are still in their planning stage , and a great deal of uncertain-
ty as to how the programs should be undertaken is being exhi bited. 

In the Social Welfare Department, things are being rushed in order to start 
the interview by this afternoon. The procedures for interv iewing have not been set up. 
Fifty notices were addressed yesterday at 5 p.m. to schedu le interviews for this after-
noon, but no provision had been made to deliver these notice s that evening or in the morn-
ing. There was no messenger boy appointed. The interview ers were to receive their ins-
tructions in the morning, and most of them had not gone throu gh the thick manual explain-
ing in detail the segregation procedure. Families were t o be called in to make their 
choice of centers to go to, but they were to be given nei ther the time in which to 
make up their minds, or the information of the various cent ers on which to base their 
choice. 

The Planning Board in the meantime was trying to get a Board t ogether composed 
of anlssei and Nisei representative from each ward, who in turn would be selected from 
block delegates consisting of an Issei and a Nisei. The P lanning Board had received word 
that a representative of the Spanish Consul would come to Tule Lake, but it was attempting 
to verify whether this was true. 

The Leave Office was swamped with work concerning both  segregation and relocation. 
On top of that it was swamped with people trying to find out where they stood on tte 
segregation question. According to people were being re ferred"to other offices, 
and people were wandering around among the maze of offices in the Ad. Bldg. Manv of them 
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ended up at Dr. Jacobyteoffice or even at Mr. Best*s off ice. In the meantime, no 
information had been gotten out as to where people should go for certain types of infor-
mation. 

The whole confusion is probably due to lack of planning and  lack of time and also 
to lack of coordination. Each division is trying to handle i ts own affair as best it 
can,and find even that too much at times. Dr. Jacoby's secre tary and a member of the 
Caucasian staff worked the night before to check up on a ddresses, probably of repatriates. 
Last night Dr. Jacoby was checking up on addresses by him self. Miss Montgomery, Mrs, 
Freed, and Mrs. Tift sat up till late last night trying t o formulate answers to some 
of the questions that were asked by consultants and by oth er evacuees. What is most 
urgently needed at this time is information about what is going on, and intfiis regard 
the Information Division has failed miserably in its ta sk, The fact that Mr. Best is 
new to the project probably makes coordination difficul t, Dr, Opler was working, 
supposedly, on a description of each center, and it is difficult to say how much he 
can clarify the picture for the project director and othe rs. 

In the meantime questions go unanswered, wrong impress ions gotten at the Rowalt-
Best meeting go undispelled, procedures are not clarified.  And people are already 
making up their minds about staying or leaving without a dequate information. They tend 
to assume that the existence of other centers is precari ous, that if a person left a center 
he would not be allowed to return to it, that loyalty to U. S. implies disloyalty to 
Japan — in other words, that it's better to stay if possi ble. 

August 13, 1943. 
The Block Manager of Block 25 seems to have stated the att itude of many people 

in his block aptly when he told JS: 
"Most of the people in the block want to stay in Tule Lake if it is only a 

matter of stricter control on the outside of the camp her e. They are afraid that if -they 
go to another center, after June, 1944, they will not be allo wed to stay in a center. 
They don't know who will take careof them in case they are no t able to support a 
large family on the outside. They are also afraid that i f they go to another center 
they will not be able to get jobs. Here in Tule Lake it w as mentioned that there were 
work opportunities for those remaining behind. In other ce nters there may not be enough 
jobs for everyone, in which case it would be very diffic ult to raise a large family. 
They could go out to seasonal work, o '̂course, but man y of them are afraid of that. They 
are more afraid of this than they are of the weather cond ition. They also believe that 
once they go out they will not be allowed to come back to camp again. This idea is 
generally accepted without reservation. Most of the peopl e seem to want to stay if they 
are allowed to." 

Analysis Note the strong economic motive in staying in Tu le Lake, Add to this 
the fact that many of those remaining believe that they will be entitled to indemnities 
from the U.S. Government by virtue of remaining in camp, a nd one can start to imagine 
the strong hold this place has on many. 

A Slip in Translation. 
A most serious slip in translation was made in the recen t issue of the Japanese 

section of the Dispatch, which included Dr. Jacoby's cha rt of the segregation process. 
This issue appeared on Tuesday, August 10, 1943. This sli p almost seems like a part of 
a diabolical scheme to confuse the people. Mr. Tsuda's translation of RowaIt's speech 
was very misleading, and the wrong impression given at that time was never adequately 
dispelled. The slip in translation only confirmed in a n effective way that segregation 
was only a part of a scheme to force people out of centers . In explaining the leave 
clearance hearing which would follow movement to other cen ters, "Persons denied clearance" 
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wasi translated as "those who refused to relocate (Gaibu iju o kyohi seru mono)," 
"While the difference in meaning is great in the English  translation, the difference in 
the Japanese translation is a matter of one word only. It sh ould have been translated: 
Gaibu ij.u o kyohi serareshi mono (Those who were refu sed relocation). Just offhand the 
mistake in translation is not so serious. The full effect  of the mistranslation can 
not be understood unless the fear of the people is known. 

At the present time it can be said that the greatest fear of the greatest 
number of Isseis is economic insecurity. Having lost mos t of their possession and 
their fomer means of making a livelihood and being refused the right to return to 
their former homes where they might live under familiar co nditions, Isseis feel a great 
deal of insecurity. This is especially true of those who  are too old to work very 
hard and have to support, even a wife who cannot work. This is more true of Isseis 
who have several small children to bring up yet for a nu mber of years before they can 
become independent. Even those who are able to work and -wh o have no children to support, 
still fear the outside because of possible harm that migh t come to them or of the dis-
crimination they might meet. For these and possibly man y other reasons many Isseis 
and some Niseis desire to cling to the security of the camp, at least for tne duration. 
They view the  "WRA as an agency which has been doing its best to try to tak e this security 
away from them by various means. They suspect that the seg regation is only another scheme 
to get the people out. They fear that at some future date the y are going to be forced 
out of the camps. As one Issei said: "But aren't they goin g to determine whether you 
are going to obey the laws of the U.S. or not? Then doesn' t that mean that if the W RA 
wants you to go out, you can't refuse after you sign a pa per saying that you are going 
to obey the law?" 

"Viewed with this fear of being forced out of a center in min d, tne mistransla-
tion clearly implies: If those who refuse to relocate are  going to be sent back to 
Tule Lake, then it means that everyone is going to be as ked whether they are going to 
relocate or not. They are going to be forced out. If they refuse to relocate, they 
are gping to be considered disloyal and returned to Tule L ake. 

According to Mr. Nakamura, who brought this slip in Trans lation to JS's at-
tention, the people are concluding that if they are goin g to be asked to relocate or 
to come back to Tule Lake, then it's just as well that they sta y here in the first 
place, because they don't want to be put in a position where t hey are going to be forced 
out. 

The seriousness of this slip and the fears held by some Iss eis is evidently not 
realized in some sector of the population for Mr. Eurose r emarked recently, "I suppose 
the majority of the people will be leaving Tule Lake," The W RA has estimated that 80 
per cent of those "who are to have hearings wll remain in Tule Lake. What the actual percen-
tage will be is worth watching. Many are going to chang e, but it's difficult to say 
how many. 

Niseis Being Drafted 
One fear which weighs on the minds of both Isseis and Ni seis is the possibility 

of draft for Niseis. Some say that if they relocate the n they stand the chance of 
being drafted. The more recent version is that if they lea ve Tule Lake, Niseis will 
be drafted. According to Mrs. Kurose a lady who intended to  stay here said: "Those 
of you who leave are going to have your sons drafted.  They t re  going to draft Niseis some-
timepetween September and December this year." This fear w as very great at the time of 
the registration but after that many Niseis expressed t heir willingness to take their 
chance with the draft to go out to school or to work. How great a factor this fear of 
the draft is in deterring people from leaving Tule Lake is dif fl cult to say but it is a 
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factor that is being considered by many people. Mr. Eurose probably exemplified one 
faction when she says: "Of course, we don't want to lose our sons in the Army. But 
when the time comes to give them an education, we don't w ant them to stay in a place 
like this." Mrs, Sato, on the same subject told an "agitat or" in her block who came 
to advise her at the time of registration not to register be cause her son will be drafted? 
Tou don't have any son of age to go to school or to work. Ho w can you understand our 

position." 

A recent rumor has brought out the attitude of the other s ide. Yesterday evening 
the elder SofyesVere saying* "Niseis who were discharged fr om the A m y are being re-
called if they answered 'yes.' Some of them are schedul ed to leave next Monday." Mr. 
Sofye was saying: "Everybody's got to answer 'no.' We can 't afford to go to other 
centers and on top of that have Niseis drafted." Wheth er this rumor is true or not 
has not been ascertained, but Mrs. Ishizuka was asking l ast night; "Is it true that 
Niseis who answer yes are going to be drafted?" 

August 14, 1943 Kibei Worry 
Nagata, the chief cook, came to JS with a worried look. Mrs. Yamamoto had said 

that his name was on the list of Group two's. He wanted  to know what he should do. JS 
told him to go to the Leave Office to find out where he was pl aced, and if he were in 
Group II, to go to Dr. Jacoby's office to see if his applica tion for repatriation had 
been accepted. Later he came back and told JS in a satisf ied sort of way that he was 
in Group I. 

Trend in Family Interviewing 
Anywhere from 15 to 25 per cent of those whctere supposed  to show up for interviews 

are not coming in for them. It may be that they aie not receiving their notices in 
time. But what is more likely is that some families tfho do not intend to leave Tule 
Lake have made up their minds not to come in for intervie ws. Of those who come in the 
majority come in with choices of centers and reasons for wanting to go to a center all 
decided upon beforehand. There is a definite trend toward wanting to enlarge the basic 
family unit to include more than the immediate family as  defined as parents and un-
married children. Those who give their choices of cen ters seem to have very few ques-
tions to ask on other aspects of the segregation program. A fe w who have come in'have 
either refused to give choices of centers, refused to ta lk, or have given lengthy testi-
monies to the effect that they wish to return to Japan and  consequently do not wish to 
leave Tule Lake. The overwhelming majority of the cases o f insistence on staying are 
bachelor Isseis. Some say that they have all of their frie nds here and see no reason 
for going to another center. Others say that they wish to r eturn to Japan and are wil-
ling to take out repatriation papers. 

Yesterday afternoon Mrs. Freed met with Dr. Opler, the Social Analyst, to discuss 
some of the resistance cases. JS was invited to sit/on t his discussion. The eight 
or nine cases of resistance were reviewed. Tabulations f or ward differences were made, 
but there did not seem to be axy. There were none from Wa rd V, probably for the simple 
reason that most families in Ward V had at least one perso n who did not register or 
answer 'no' to Question 28. The most interesting point was that most of the cases of 
of resistance were bachelor Isseis who did not have any  or only very few family ties. 
Mrs. Freed did not express any opinion at all. Dr. Opler fel t that some of the bachelors 
would be willing to go if they were attached to some famil y group, since some of them said 
that they did not have any friends in other centers. He al so felt that those who wanted 
to stay definitely might be treated as medical cases a nd be allowed to stay, although 
he foresaw a difficulty there because the medical socia l workers would not let just aiy-
one stay without good reasons. There seemed to be a fear on  Dr. Opler's part that the 
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whole segregation program would get out of hand if it b ecame known that bachelor Isseis, 
or anyone for that matter, were being allowed to stay. J ^ expressed the opinion that 
so far as he could see these Isseis who wanted to stay pro bably belonged in ^ule Lake 
aiyway. He did not see why a great deal of fuss should be made to try to get them to 
leave. They were the type of persons who were most likely to be irresponsible, with 
very little concern for the future of the Japanese in Amer ica, who were bitter about 
evacuation, and who relied heavily on obtaining aid and consolation from Japan. It 
was decided that a tabulation of those who did not com e in and of further cases 
of resistance be made before the data was analyzed to f ind trends in resistance. Dr. 
Opler was desirous of writing up a report on the trend in segregation. 

Segregation Hearings 
According to D r . Opler, there was resistance at the hearings to the que stion: 

"Do you want Japan to win the war?" He said that even the in terpreters objected to 
the question being asked and mentioned that the party s hould not be required to answer 
such a question. ITihen JS mentioned that practically e very Issei Wanted Japan to win. 
Dr. Opler said that he could not mention such a fact in h is report. He was curious 
to kncwthe reason why there was so much objection to answ ering the question. JS could 
not give him a good explanation. One consideration was th at it was considered an unfair 
question by Niseis because of the treatment they had rec eived. The attitude of many 
Negroes of desiring Japan to win was brought up as an analo gy. Mrs. Freed thought that 
the individuals were not willing to commit themselves fully one way or the other. 

From Dr. Opler JS received the impression that it was be ing made difficult for 
a person to change his answer from "no* to 'yes.* He aske d the Social Analyst on 
what basis the hearing was being held. The latter said tha t at the Denver conference 
they had received instructions to test the loyalty of the individuals before passing 
on their change of answer. "Which side a person desired t o win the war was presumably 
calculated to determine in part a person's loyalty. 

From another person comes a report that Dorothy Montgome ry said that at this center 
changing of answer from »no» to 'yes 1 would not be as difficult as it would be in 
other centers, where there was less confusion than here. Only a few simple questions 
were asked, such as wherebne's future lay, and the whole proceeding was over in about 
five minutes. 

August 16, 1943 Kishiyama 
On Saturday Kishiyama said that he was undecided as to w hat he was going to do. 

This may be an indication that he wants to stay. According to Mrs. Ishizuka, Mary, his 
wife, wants to go to another center, but Kishiyama doesn't.  He tore up the notice for 
Mary to appear for a hearing when it came. 

Kishiyama said that Tanabe was too dogmatic to have his wa y with people. He 
was not suprised that the mess crew threatened to quit  if he didn't. 

Tatsuo Egi f s Hearing 
Tatsuo' is a Kibei married to a Nisei. He is a reasonable fellow, and gets along 

well with his wife. If the two were alone, one would suppose  that they would leave 
Tule Lake. His wife's family — the Sofyes — however, have d ecided to stay in Tule 
Lake. One of the reasons is that the parents do not want to h ave their sons drafted. 
Consequently, when Tatsuo went for his hearing, he did n ot change his answer from 'no' 
to 'yes'. Mien asked what went on at the hearing he said: 

"They asked me whether I wanted Japan to win or not, an d I said, 'Yes.' Then they 
asked me whether I wanted to stay in Tule Lake, and I said 'y es.' When they asked me 
why I wanted to stay, I said that I didn't want to be dra fted. They told me that many 
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people who wanted to stay in Tule Lake were not disloyal. 

Block 71 Type A 

Block 71 is a mixture of people from other blocks, some of wh om moved in because 
they were no longer allowed to stay in their own blocks. There is a small group of 
vocal old Isseis, who like to talk about the war. This ty pe of man is found in every 
block, but the ones in this block seem to be as active as th e most active in other 
blocks. They are more active than the few in Block 25, wh o are relatively quiet. They 
are often seen congregating in front of the boiler house of the latrire, discussing the 
current topic. The Block Manager of the block is a former law yer from Seattle. Accord-
ing to one source, he 'milked* the Japanese people at the time of evacuation by render-
ing legal aid. He was smart enough,, however, to stay in th e background most of the 
time and avoid becoming an object of suspicion and hatre d. He was compared with Dr. 
Iki, who also made money but was not smart enough to conc eal the fact. During regis-
tration the Block Manager earned the reputation as havin g caused unnecessary trouble by 
calling meetings and by the things that he said. Although he is disliked by the quieter 
people in the block, others respect his opinion and knowl edge. Recently he has been 
suspected of being the center of agitation, although the re are no signs of definite 
organization. It is difficult to say whether way one or two persons are responsible, 
but the people in Block 71 have been disturbed by rumors sufficiently to be the center 
of resistance to the segregation program. 

Several weeks ago the assertion of this vocal group was t hat those who were 
loyal were going to be thrown out of the centers. A few days ago some of them went 
around telling people that the war between Japan and Ame rica was just about over. 
The claim was that Russia had made a separate ¿peace with Ge rmany, and therefore 
the war could not last much longer, ^his rumor was also heard in Ward II and was 
attributed to Radio Tokyo. Over the weekend, however, thi s rumor was admitted by 
a member of the vocal group to be false. 

Another rumor, which seemed innocent enough,, but which had  some earmarks of a 
desire to cause disturbances, was started late last wee k. On Friday the steward of the 
messhall in Block 71 announced in the messhall that he r eceived a notice to appear at 
a hearing ( or an interview). He was asked to sign a paper, which he refused"to do. 
He was not sure what was written on it because he could not read English. Even if an 
expert read it, he thought it could not be easily underst ood. It was written in such a 
fashion that it could mean that those signing such a pap er and leaving the project would 
have to give up all claims to $50,000 or $60,000 of indem nity which was due^them. He 
asked that the people be careful of what they signed when they were called. A group 
stayed behind after eating to discuss the matter seri ously. The stew ard is also supposed 
to have mentioned-: "It also says that you can stay here i f you like." This can be 
interpreted as a means of trying to get people to keep f rom going, even when they should, 

although this interpretation may not be correct. Members of the vocal group came to 
Mr. Kurose to ask to see the notice that came to his plac e, but he wanted to avoid 
trouble, and gotaway by saying that his daughter had talce n the paper Tudth her. The 
notice that he had received was for the family intervie w. 

Since then there has been no confirmation of this rumor, b ut it has continued to 
spread. K m j i Ito, the Block Manager, is said to have bee n consulted on the matter, 
and he promised to look into the matter. According to rep orts via the Planning Board, 
he is supposed to- have spread the rumor at a ward meeti ng. He was also heard telling the 
same story to saneone in the block. Evidently, he was not v ery eager to. look into the 
truth of the matter. The most recent news on the issue was t he statement made by members 
oi the vocal group that from the second day (of the inter view or the hearing — no signa-
ture was required at either) the paper to be signed was no t produced any more. But it 
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was hidden away and was sure to appear again at some point, for persons leaving the 
project to have to sign. They might be required to sign it when"they received'their bag-
gage, ,hoping that no one would bother to read what it wa s all about." Many block people^ 
in the meantime, were afraid of receiving notices of int erviews, or if they did receive' 
it were afraid of appearing for it. 

Said one source close to the administration: "I have resp ect for that fellow*s 
(Kenji Ito, the Block Manager) intelligence — he's smart as a whip. But I don't like 
him. I don't think that the movement is organized, but I wouldn't be surprised if 
he planted that story just to stir up trouble." Others al so have branded him as an "agi-
tator  ."  6 ' 

Want Japan to win? 
fhere has been a question as to why people at the hearing r esented having to be 

asked Aether they wanted Japan to win or not. It seems that m any Niseis and probably 
most Isseis are desirous of having Japan win — at least not s eeing her lose. Henry 
Kaihara's casual remark is probably typical of a Califo rnia Nisei. He is thinking 
of going to another center, but he said: 

"Of course, we don't want Japan to lose because we have o ur own future to 
think of." in other words, he feels that his own future w ould be worse off if Japan 
lost the war, 

Suyetake family 
There are several older boys in the family. During regis tration the whole family 

v living in Ward  V)  was against registering and did not do so. Later the boy s regretted 
it because they wanted to go out. They had made applicati on for leave clearance°before 
and were subsequently cleared. Now they are not being c alled up for a hearing, and the 
boys are glad because they can go out. The  parents,  however, are worried because they 
may be sent out of the center. The boys are a bit worri ed now about being drafted if they 
go to another center. The possibility of being drafted is an important factor which tends 
to keep people here. 

Mrs. Ishizuka. 
Mrs. Ishizuka is a Kibei married to an Issei. She had an swered 'no, no', orobablv 

on instructions from her husband. She had her hearing Sa turday. They asked her"whether 
she had changed her mind about the answer to Question 28. She said that she hadn't. She 
was asked why she wanted to stay, and she said that she cou ldn't go out and make a living 

very easily. The Board told her that she might have to lea ve just the same. Evidently 
they were not convinced that she was disloyal, although sh e had intended to have herself 
classified as such. When she came home, she was told by JS and George S. that she might 
have made a mistake. If she stayed in Tule Lake she wouldn 't be able to have her husband 
go out to earn a little money. Y/ith one baby and anothe r on its way, the family could 
not live on what the husband alone earned here. She seeme d to feel as if she had made 
a mistake in her choice. But she retorted that if she we nt to another center, she would 
have to leave it sooner or later, and living on the outside  would be much harder than 
here in Tule Lake. She then said that she was told that she might have to leave, anyway. 

Mr. Oda 

. ^  0 d a  P rob ably represents the quieter type of Issei, not highly ed ucated or 
intelligent, not too difficult to get along with. He is n ot one of those who is always 
talking abom; tfie war, and ̂ ¿10 is trying to attract attenti on. He is very much concerned 
for his children, and his children are on the quiet and conforming side. He dropped/tB 
see George 3i and JS to ask their opinion of the segregatio n. He has one son in the Ararv 
and several other boys. He said: 
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n i 'm willing to go out now if it weren't for the draft. I ha ve one son in the 
Army now, and I don't want my other sons to be drafted one by one. It's different if 
my sons wanted to go to the Army or to another center. My  eldest son says that he's 
now going to move from this place. The son in the Army wro te and said that his brother 
should try to stay out of the Army if at all possible — no m atter how hard they had to 
work. I suppose it's because Japanese are discriminated i n the  Army,  The Ketos are able 
to advance, but Japanese are hardly ever allowed to. You can't blame them for no't wanting 
to serve in the Army when they've been treated the way they  have. In Walnut Grove they 
had to attend a different school. If we hadn't been evacuat ed,  I  wouldn't mind their serving 
in the Army I'd be glad to see them go, but it makes you m ad when you've been discriminated 
against so much. Ever since I came to America there wasn't a day when I didn't have to 
feel small because I was a Japanese. Even when I went to a sh ow and paid the same price, 
I couldn't enjoy it as much as the others. 

I've lost all hope of a future in America. I can't make mone y here, anymore. 
I've lost everything.  My  wife feels worse than I do about the whole thing. She want s 
to send the younger children back so that they can get a Japanese education over there. 
We we re going to return to Japan anyway if the war hadn' t'come for half a year. I'm 
thinking of staying by myself to look after the son in the Army in case he comes back 
wounded or something. He's in the hospital unit, but you n ever can tell. I really don't 
want to go back until Hie war is over. I don't think that an exchange ship will come, 
anyway. 

I wouldn't mind going to another center, but I just can't st and the chanoe of  my 
sons being drafted one by one. I would be willing to go to the Army in their stead. After 
all I haven't more than ten or fifteen years more to live,  I don't forget for a minute 
the son who is away from home. Unless you are a parent you can 't tell how we Isseis feel. 

August 17, 1943 Mrs.  Kay a's  Hearing. 
Mrs. Kaya recently had her hearing. At the time of registrat ion her husband had 

advised her to answer 'no' to question 28 because te ras an enemy alien and he didn't 
want a split in the family. Her husband decided, however, that it was best to leave 
Tule Lake and take their chance in another center. Even if t he war is over, they want 
to stay a few more years before returning to Japan. E ven if they are forced out, they 
know that they can find employment opportunities in hom es. One of Mr. Kaya's rationaliza-
tionsof his position is: "You've got to repay an obligati on (on o kaesu). Many of these 
Japanese are ungrateful (on shirazu)." ~~ 

At the hearing Mrs. Kaya answered the questions in the fol lowing manners 

Q: "How is your feeling now toward Question 28?" 
A: "I want to change n$r answer from 'no' to 'yes.'" 
Qj "How is your husband's answer?" 
A: "No, yes." 
Q: "Do you want to go to another center or go outside?" 
A: "Go to another center. Whether I go outside or not wil l depend on my husband." 
That was all that happened at the hearing. But she asked : 
"Will people be forced out of a center?" 

The answer was: 

"It will be the same as here, with the added possibility  of going out if you 
wish." Mrs. Kaya feels that she has made the right choice i n changing her answer. 
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John Matsumoto 

John talks of returning to Jgpan because he finds no ho pe for himself in this 
country. He thinks that he might go to Java. 

Best's Speech. 
Sunday e veiling Best made a speech on the outdoor stage to clarify some of the 

rumors that have been floating around the Colony recent ly. The translation was prepared 
beforehand and delivered by Father Dai, who did an exce llent job- of it. One source'of 
mistake, then, had largely been avoided by taking the pre caution to have the speech 
translated beforehand. According to Opler he had worked on the speech, although it 
did include some ideas that Best had himself. The speech  was started in the rirht tone. 
The people were praised for their understanding, and th eir cooperation was asked for. 
Then some of the major rumors were clarified, not mech anically, as it was coverley's 
custom to do, but with a view to convincing the public t hat they were false. 

The first rumor that was explained was that if a person le ft Tule Lake he would be 
drafted. The answer to this was that selective service w as handled by a different 
agency, and there was no reason to believe that Tule Lake would be exempted. Those who 
were loyal and tiiose who became of age ifoile in Tule Lake would  be drafted even if they 
were in Tule Lake. No mention, however, was made of iho se who answered 'no,no.« Major 
Marshall had issued a signed statement saying that those wh o answered »no, no* would 
not be drafted. In other wrds , the answer was not entirely s atisfactory, because the 
people still felt that if they remained in Tule Lake the cha nce of their being drafted 
was much less than if they went to another center. 

Another rumor which was touched upon was that those who l eft  T ule Lake would be 
considered disloyal by the Japarese government. This q uestion was answered in an unfortu-
nate way, according to the doubt it raised in the minds of  some Isseis later on. The 
answer was that the documents of the 1/TOA would be kept  confidential (himitsu) and that 
foreign govemmenbs would not have access to them, and the pe ople should make their 
choice without fear. In other words, the explanation recog nized the possibility of 
being considered disloyal by the  J apanese government if they pledged loyalty to"the 
American government and went to another center. In a way, t he people were being told 
that staying or leaving would mean that they had made a choi ce one way or other on the 
loyalty question. They would be either loyal to the U.S. or t o Japan. This was the 
very thing that the people -- especially the Isseis — wante d to avoid. 

Mr. Akahoshi's reaction to this answer indicates the rea ction found in one block: 

"Whatever did Best mean when he said that the documents w ould be kept secret? 
Many people had made up their minds that they would go if they had to. None of them are 
going willingly. But if they have to go and then try to keep the fact a secret from the 
Japanese government, many of them don't want to leave. I'm  not sure what Best meant, 
but he shouldn't have said what he did. Do we have to ke ep the fact that we are leaving 
Tule Lake a secret?" ^ 

Mr. Nakamura's reaction is similar, and indicates a desir e to stay on the fence. 
"No Issei would disobey the laws of the United States. Th ey've always been law-

abiding. In that sense they can be called loyal to the U nited States. On the other 
hand, none of them are disloyal to Japan. You can't us e the word 'loyalty' or 'disloyalty' 
to the Isseis because it just doesn't apply to them." 

Mr. Shibutani sees the issue more clearly, and speaks wi th confidence: 
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*When General Terauchi passed through the West Coast I heard this from his very 
lips. He saidi 'if there should be a -war between Japan a nd America, I want you Japanese 
in America to help America and be loyal to it. You don't have to worry about Japan. 
Leave the fighting of the war to those of us -who are in Japa n.' I'm sure that the Japanese 
in America have this in mind. Wh a t Mr. Best said, of course, was very unnecessary because 
it disturbed the people. It would have been better left unsa id." 

The reluctance to be considered loyal or disloyal on the part of Isseis who are 
contemplating leaving Tule Lake is evident. They want t o avoid being stamped or consider-
ing themselves either one or the other. In other words, the y want to sit on the fence, 
where it is convenient. The fear that those leaving th e center would be considered dis-
loyal to Japan should have been handled in some other wa y, or left untouched. 

Another answer "which raised questions later was the indic ation that the people 
would have free and individual choice in determining wh ether they wanted to stay or not. 
This was in answer to a question as to Aether people were b eing asked to relocate before 
being allowed to change their answers from 'no' to 'yes' a t the hearings. This emphasis 
on the individual choice was good in one way because-it so unded very democratic. On 
the other hand, it had its danger because actually the onl y ones #10 were being granted 
hearings were those in Group H . Three other groups were not being given a hearing. 
Those in Group IV, in fact, were there by virtue of the f act that they had answered 'yes' 
to a question (if they were Isseis) which asked if they would be law-abiding, and were 
to be considered 'loyal' to the United States by virtue of  that fact. They were having 
no choice in the matter. 

Misunderstanding on this score was evidenced by the follo wing remark by a man in 
Block 71 right after the speech. He had answered 'yes' to Question 28, but wanted to 
stay in Tule Lake. Undoubtedly he was influenced in his pe rception of -what Best had actually 
said, by his owndesires. 

"Well, everything is all right. Best said that everyone woul d have an individual 
choice to decide one way or the other. Regardless of wheth er you answered 'yes' or 'no' 
you can go if you like, and you can stay if you like." Gro ss misconception of this extent 
does not seem to be general — not in Block 25, at least.  But in the minds of many 
people "the factor of individual choice has been registe red. 

One of the most common questions that is asked interviewers is: "Do we have to 
go if we answered 'yes'?" On the one hand, there are peop le who believe that the WRA. 
should be firm and not give in to the stubborn type of indiv iduals -who believe that they 
can't get their own way by not complying with the wisnes o f the administration. This 
attitude was expressed by one of the interviewers: 

"The Army's behind this. People are going to be moved wh ether they like it or not — 

they might as well understand that." 

Fir. Kurose, -who is for cooperation with the WRA and doin g his duty to .America, said: 

"I don't think that the government should let people -who agitate stay even though 
they want to stay here. It wouldn't be right to those who are going quietly." 

The attitude of many people seems to be that of watchful waiting. On the one hand, 
they fear the power of the administration to enforce any thing they want to. On the 
other, theyhave a feeling that the administration is help less if the people decide to 
sit down and not move unless they are moved at the point of a b ayonet. Some feel that 
the WRA is bluffing and that its bluff can be called. Oth ers fear that it is not 
entirely bluffing when it says that people who are schedu led to go must go. Yukichi 
Washizu, interviewed on August 16 by JS is a good exam ple of an individual who is wavering 
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in his attitude toward the WRA. He came in and poured o ut a number of reasons why he 

•

didn't want to leave Tule lake. He h a d many things stored in a Japanese school which 
was going to be shipped up here and had to be taken care of. He had property in Calif-
ornia. He had an only 20 years of age son who might be drafted if he went to another 
center. If he went to another center, he may be forced o ut. He tried to be/^Snvincing 
as he could, as the interviewer listened quietly. 

"But," he said, "if we have to go I'd like to go to Granada w here my wife's 
family is farming nearby and where we have friends from W alnut Grove. Some people have 
told me that if we were insistent (gambaru) we wouldn't have to leave Tule Lake." 
It would only take an organized move to resist segregati on and movement out of Tule Lake 
to make Mr. Washizu a supporter of such a movement. Evid ently, such a move has not 
crystallized in his block. 

A few especially bachelor Isseis come in and.state that the y will not move oub 
under any circumstances, unless they are forcibly moved. Still others do not show up 
for interviews, probably hoping that if they don't they w ill nat have to move. 

There is still a doubt in the minds of the people as to whet her an organized 
resistance is possible or not. Unless there is a clarifi cation of the alternative 
measures — perhaps punitive — that may be put into effect for those who do not 
leave voluntarily, there is a chance for an organized res istance being started by a 
small segment of the population. Such a situation, if mish andled, could develop into 
something serious. 

Two other important questions which were clarified by Mr. . Best were that people 
would not be forced out of centers, 

•

and that jobs would be available to chose going to other centers and for those who 
stay behind till segregation is over. The latter were p ractically guaranteed jobs in 
the new center as "key men." 

Mr. Best received some applause for the remarks that he ma de. The applause was 
not loud or extended, but it was a favorable sign. He is w inning the confidence of the 
people. 

August 18, 1943 Handling of Resistance to Segregation. 
In Tule Lake the resistance to the segregation program is taking the form of the 

so-called 'loyal' ones being unwilling to move to anothe r center. This resistance is not 
by a large group of people. About 20 per cent of the families  do not come in for inter-

views, and perhaps this is an indication of the extent of the resistance. Some in this 
group have made up their minds definitely that they are not going to leave unless they 
are forced out. Others are less adamant and can still be p ersuaded or scared into leav-
ing. At the other extreme are those who are holding out m erely because they liave heard 
that those who wanted to stay were going to be allowed to stay. 

Roughly three different ways of handling the situation c ould be postulated. One 
is tomake it clear that those who are on the removal list ar e eoing to be forced to leave 
if necessary. The second is to allow those -who want to stay ,/do so at their own risk. 
The third possibility is to leave the, situation unclarif ied — neither to say that 
people will be forced to leave or to say that they will be allowed to stay. In the 
Administrative Instructions forced evacuation from Tule Lake has been counseled against: 

'The project director of the proposed segregation cen ter should be prepared for some 
^ o p p o s i t i o n to the idea of moving on the part of these peop le. To physically force them to 

move would be to turn them into potential segregees and so de feat the whole purpose of the 
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segregation program. If a crisis arises the project direc tor should do all in his 
power to gain the assistance of evacuee leadership ..." 

The second possibility of allowing anyone to stay if the y so wish is frowned 
upon by the administration because it would upset the se gregation program. Even as 
it is, Tule Lake is expected to be filled. If others sched uled to leave were allowed 
to stay in large numbers, additional facilities would ha ve to be built or another 
center selected as a segregation center. Also, as Dr. Ja coby claimed, it would be 
unfair to some to allow them to stay merely because of imm ediate reasons, when for 
their ultimate good they should move to another center no w. 

Up to this point the third alternative has been selected.  When people came in 
to ask whether they would have to move even when they did not want to, they were told 
that they would not be forcibly evicted. On the other han d they had to leave  if.  they 
were on the removal list whether they wanted to or not, u nless they were médical cases 
or were a member of a split family. 

The time was approaching when the administration should m ake its policy on this 
matter definite. JS discussed the matter with Dr. Opler on M onday. Opler had discussed 
it with Best, and he felt that the project director was "ve ry clear" on the matter. 
Opler felt that it would be best if there were stern words f rom Washington, saying 
that all those on the removal list would have to leave, t hus relieving Best of the 
responsibility of threatening the people with forced ev iction. Opler realized that 
there were some people who insisted on staying at all cost and who really belonged 
in Tule Lake, and saw the possibility of allowing them  to stay, after all. But he 
insisted that the people could not be told that they would be allowed to stay if 
they belonged here, since that would start a movement  to stay. Anyway, he did not 
think the people in Washington would be in favor of such a  liberal policy. They were 
very much concerned about putting the segregation program  through successfully. He 
thought that the best policy was to follow the middle course  of keeping the people 
guessing as to what would happen to those who wavered. Op ler felt that if large 
groups started to leave, it would serve as a pull to make others in the wavering 
group leave. What he was afraid of was organized resistance , and he thought that 
if they could be spotted soon enough, they could be broke n up before they got too 
big. 

JS agreed that the people should not be threatened with f orced eviction and 
neither should they be told that they could stay if they wi shed. But he pointed out 
the danger of not clarifying the administrative policy . If the people did not know 
the alternative punitive measure, they might get it into  their heads that if anyone 
did not leave no one would have to leave. In other words, it w ould invite organized 
resistance, which could be easily whipped up by agitators who did not want people to 
leave. JS suggested that the wavering group who refused to come in for interviews 
or to state their choice of centers be penalized by not bei ng given their choice if 
they did not come in for their interviews on time. This woul d serve to cut down the 
number in the wavering group, making them less suscep tible to agitation not to come 
in for interviews. The residue of the wavering group coul d be dealt with toward the 
end of the segregation program, when most of those on th e removal list had left» 
Then those who were considered disloyal could be told to  stay in Tule Lake, and the 
small number remaining in the wavering group/ïïî£Ëtly to ld to leave because they did not 
belong in Tule Lake. The policy then would be to say that th ose who were on the removal 
list and who did not have a very good reason would not be a llowed to stay in Tule Lake. 
There would be no individual choice in the matter except in  cases of split families« In 
medical and other cases permission to stay would only be granted as a result of investi-
gation. It could also be stated that it is to the advantage of  the colonists to come 
in for interviews and state their choice of centers, in c ase they are not allowed to 
stay in Tule Lake. 
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Opler thought that the ideas JS expressed were fairly go od. He thought 
that those who wavered in their decision should be penalize d for not coming in 
for interviews or not stating their choices. 

John P. Cook 
Cook had been called on the carpet by Best for the mistakes th at he had 

allowed to appear in the Japanese translation of the Di spatch. He in turn blamed 
his translators and was ready to fire them. The whole TD sta ff was ready to 
resign because of Cook's attitude. Best was prepared to close up the TD, if 
necessary, if Cook could not handle it properly. Opler was sent down to the TD 
office to straighten matters out. H© found that Cook had n ot taken care to see 
that the translations were done correctly and in good styl e. The translators 
were retained and the staff did not resign. Opler set up a translation board 
(presumably in the PB office) to review all official translat ions. All this 
according to Opler. 

Mizunos 
The Mizunos of Block 25 are typical of the more Japanesy ty pe of family« 

There is a son in the Army, but still the rest of the family ar e planning to 
stay in Tule Lake. Ray, one of the sons who answered  n no, no" insists on not 
changing his answer. For one thing, he is afraid of being d rafted if he should 
leave Tule Lake. Mr. Mizuno came to the information offi ce to find out whether 
his family could stay or not, and he was told that if his f amily contained a "no" 
person, the whole family would be allowed to stay. Eddy Sasa ki, a son-in-law 
to Mr. Mizuno, came to JS to find out whether his family  could stay or not. He 
had taken out repatriation papers, but had cancelled i t because he thought that 
it might make it harder for his interned father to be releas ed. He was a Kibei, 
but he spoke fairly good English, and was rather quiet. JS told him that he would 
have to leave Tule Lake, and that there was nothing that he could do about it. 
Eddy said that he himself was not afraid of the draft, but t hat Ray was. Also 
his brother, Yukio, washesitating about changing his answ er form "no" to "yes" 
because he did not want to be drafted. JS explained that even if he went to 
another center he could come back if he took out repatria tion papers. Also, he 
might find out that he liked the other center better than Tul e Lake. He could 
go out to work for a while if he wished because he wou ld certainly need money 
in order to bring up his children. Eddy wanted to know whethe r he would be for-
ced to relocate, since he did not want to leave camp just yet. JS assured him 
that the TVRA had no intention of making anyone leave wh o did not want to leave. 
He said that the WRA would not dare force people out for f ear of retaliation on 
American prisoners. This seems to have calmed most of Eddy's fears. He seemed 
to realize that going to another center was not entirel y disadvantageous. But 
he said: 

"But you know what people will say about a person leav ing his parents." 

He seemed to be more worried about what people would say abo ut him. JS's 
answer to this was that Ray could take care of the famil y, and he was now leaving 
because he had to, not through his own choice. Another q uestion that he asked 
was: 

"If I should be drafted, do you think that I can send my  wife back here to 
Tule Lake?" 
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This desire for married sons to want to stay with thei r parents and for 
relatives to stay together may "be difficult for Caucasia ns to understand, "but it 
is a definite trend among Japanese. Even Niseis will sincer ely say that they 
wish to stay with their parents if at all possible to look a fter them« 

Ray's comment on Eddy's situation was interesting. He sai d: "It's certain-
ly sad if Eddy can't stay, because he doesn't want to g o at all." 

JS pointed out that he could come back again. Ray's answer was: "Yeah, 
if I were him I'd go to Arkansas, the farthest center. I'd  stay about three or 
four months, and about the time I got tired of the place, I' d come back again." 

Ray is young yet and craves fun and adventure. He probabl y realizes that 
he'll miss out on something by staying here. 

Mary Kishiyama 
Mary had her hearing Sunday. JS stopped her and asked he r if "they" 

succeeded in making her change her answer. She didn't know. JS asked her what 
that had asked her. Mary said: 

"Theyasked me if I would like to change my 'no* answer, an d I said 'no.' 
Then thê r  askedme why, and I said that I could not say. Then they as ked me if I 
wanted to part from my husband, and I answered, 'of cours e not.' That's all." 

JS said that she may have to go, and she said, 

"I don't care." 

JS pointed out that her husband might not like it, and sh e retorted: 

"I can't help iti" 

JS believes that she is glad It it is true that she has to leave» 

Resistance to giving second choice 
In general there are two types of resistance that can be n oticed among 

those who come for family interviews. The first is the re sistance against giving 
a second choice of centers. The second is the resistance a gainst leaving Tule 
Lake. In the first case the second choice is often menti oned as Tule Lake. If 
they cannot go to a center of their choice, they do not wa nt to go anywhere else. 
They say that they will stay if they can't go where they lik e, but they really 
don't want to insist on staying if they have to go. Some co me with the intention 
of giving only one or two choices, but can be prevailed upo n to list the rest 
when they are asked which centers they wish to avoid. With t he more stubborn 
cases, however, more persuasive arguments are necessary . 

One good argument is that it is unfair to others if a second  and thrid 
choice is not made by everyone. Although this is usually  sufficient to arouse 
a sense of guilty conscience in an individual, it is usua lly not sufficient 
to get a second choice from the more stubborn ones. The ar gument that works 
the best with the stubborn ones is to say that they will hav e to go whether they 
make a choice or not. If they don't make a choice, they'l l be sent wherever is 
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felt most convenient. If their reasons for going to the ce nter of first choice 
are good, they'll be allowed to go* Otherwise, they won' t be allowed to go there» 
Iflhen this is explained politely even the most stubborn o nes are willing to name 
at least a second choice* 

Resistance to leaving Tule Lake 
The second typeef resistance is more serious* It is presume d that many 

of those who do not show up for interviews don't come in  for this reason* One 
girl this morning was sent by just such a family to find o ut what would happen 
if the family did not come in for an interview. She said: 

"The family has made up its mind that it won't leave no ma tter what happens* 
They're afraid that if they leave Tule Lake they won't be  able to get money from 
the government* They took out repatriation prior to ev acuation, but they 
have never been found. They know that they/cMA back here even if they go to 
another center, but they feel that if they leave here onc e, they'll lose their 
right to indemnity from the government* I know they won't  come in, because they've 
got their minds all made up." 

Nobushige Oye, interviewed by JS on August 17, is a good e xample of a 
person showing resistance to moving. He lives at 1501-D * 

JS: "I see that you are all alone. Is there any family tha t you would 
like to go with to another center?" 

NO: (Somewhat taken aback) "I want to stay here if possib le. I don't 
have any friends in any other center* I answered that I would obey the laws of 
the United States, but anyone would have answered in tha t way* I didn't mean 
to say that I would help America, or anything like that. I'm a lone, and there 
is no sense in my going to any other center. I intend to stay here. I helped 
make the Japanese room in 3008, and they have asked me to s tay if at all possible*" 

To break down such resistance takes patience and persuasio n. JS's line 
of argument ran somewhat as follows: 

"I'm sorry but you'll have to go. If you do go, it's better to go with 
some friends and go to a place of your own choice. "When y ou answered question 
28 thgy only asked you to obey the laws, and I don't thi nk that they would expect 
more/tnt^ from you. I don't think that you need to cons ider yourself disloyal 
to Japan just because you went to another center. Then ev en if you went to 
another center, you can come back if you take out repatri ation papers. I know 
it's troublesome, but I don't think we can help that. And there is a chance that 
you might like the other center better than you do Tule  Lake. You said that you 
didn't have any friends in other centers, but you certai nly have friends here who 
will be leaving* You might talk it over with them and also  see what center you 
would like to go and see. Until now the government hasn' t given us any choice 
about where we wanted to go* This is the first time that it is  giving us any 
choice in the matter. If you had taken out repatriation p apers, you would have 
been able to stay. But since you haven't you'll have to w ait till you get to the 
other center*" 

After half an hour of talk of this sort, Mr. Oye finally deci ded to go 
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home and discuss the matter with some friends. He admitte d that when he came in 
he had intended to stay, but he would consider leaving now . These cases of 
resistance on an individual basis are relatively easy to ha ndle. What must be 
avoided is organized resistance. 

August 20. Mr» Akahoshi 
Mr« Akahoshi said in front of Mr. Mizuno, whose family is staying: 

"We've been tricked into going. That's what all of the peo ple believe« 
If I didn't have to, I wouldn't go out. I'd rather just set tle down here." 

He says this in spite of the fact that he has made plans to relocate. He 
is probably putting up a front in order to keep good relat ionship with those who 
are staying. 

Ward II Segregation committee 
Wednesday evening a meeting of the Ward II segregation co mmittee was held 

in 2820. Six Isseis appeared—including Nishida from Blo ck 25 and Sakai, the 
block manager of Block 28. There were no representative s from Block 26» The 
only two Niseis present were Tsuda, the warden, and JS. Sakai and Tsuda had been 
sent as temporary representatives because not enough per sons got together to 
hold a formal election. This time only half of the repre sentatives showed up, 
but the Isseis decided that Sakai and Tsuda should be appr oved as the official 
representatives« It was pointed out that as a result of e xperience at the time 
of registration a great many people were opposed to b lock meetings. Consequently, 
this was given as one reason why some blocks did not sen d delegates. Nobody 
bothered to clarify the purpose of the committee, but Dr. Ichihashi was quoted 
as saying that a committee of this sort was necessary to ma ke demands on the ad-
ministration. The few present sat around and talked infor mally, and this matter 
of demands was brought up« The Isseis agreed that demands s hould be made for 
guarantee of jobs in the other centers, or for pay and cl oihing allowance. One 
person suggested that 60 per cent of the pay and clothing al lowance should be 
guaranteed those not able to find a job, this payment to be m ade over a period 
of from three to six months« 

Qda family 
Mr. Oda informed JS that two of his boys had answered "no" a t the hearing. 

It seems that this was based primarily on the fear that t hey might be drafted 
if they left Tule Lake. Mr. Oda wanted to know whether he c ould stay with the 
boys, and he was assured that he could. He showed signs of having wanted to go 
out. His son in the Army had advised the family to go out to Co lorado to farm, 
and Mr« Oda wanted to do this. But he could not get hi s sons to change their 
answer. Even Kan, who is only 17 years old and an obedie nt son, insisted on 
retaining his "no" answer. Mr. Oda was optimistic about being able to leave 
Tule Lake. "They'll probably let us out about the beginnin g of next year. They 
want us to get out, anyway." JS told him that he couldn't be sure. Mr. Oda was 
afraid that the family would be sent back to Japan. He wanted to believe that an 
exchange ship would not come. If it did, he wanted to re main behind to look 
after his son in the Army. 

Takahashi case 
This case was brought to JS's attention by Mr. Oda. Mr. Ta kahashi was a 
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cultured person from San Francisco, He was the best gô  player in the Project and 
also taught yokyoku. He lived alone with his wife, who spok e a little English. 
She went to 1308 for her interview. According to her own acc ount, she had ex-
plained that her husband was diabetic. Tule Lake was go od for him, and he had 
improved a little since coming here. He was having Mr. Sofye massage him, and 
wanted to stay for that reason, too.(He thought that Mr. Sofye would be staying 
here.) AI30, he had a bloody nose several weeks ago whi ch did not stop bleeding 
for several days. He was in no condition to move from here, although he was able 
to walk around and play go. She was told by Miss Gottfried , the medical social 
worker, that he would have to leave. "You must leave," s he is said to have 
reiterated time and again. She asked Miss Gottfried (sh e reported the name as 
Garfield) whether they would be forced to leave. Here she seems to have made the 
signs of putting a rope around her neck and being pulled al ong. Miss Gottfried 
is said to have nodded her head. She was asked why Mr. Best  and Dr. Jacoby had 
made the statement that no one would be forced to leav e, and the medical social 
worker replied that she didn't know. She was polite, but s tern. She showed no 
sympathy, and as Mrs. Takahashi put it: "Toritsuku shim a ga nakatta." (There 
was no room left for appeal.) 

Mrs. Takahashi went back a second time, this time emplo ying a interpreter, 
rather than to rely on her own poor English. The interprete r informed her that 
the social medical worker insisted that she and her husban d had to go. Miss 
Gottfried asked that the husband come in himself for an i nterview, and offered 
to send an ambulance if he couldn't come. He came in, but t he answer was the 
same. He could not stay. 

According to Mr. Oda's account, Mr. Takahashi was an infl uential man in 
the community. He was a quiet gentleman, who would not do anything rash. If 
it were anyone else, it might be all right, but he was a man who should be 
treated with respect. Besides it was outrageous to threa ten to evict a man who 
was ill. He taught go in about five different place^4nd also taught utai. He 
had already told some people about being threatened wi th eviction, and the res-
ponse was that they'll sit down and see what the administr ation could do. Mr. 
Sofye in Block 25 had gotten wind of the matter, and had mentioned that it would 
be a good thing if the Takahashi's went on a sit-down strik e and made a test 
case out of it. That evening a block meeting was held in Mr. Takahashi»s block 
(Block 10), and he brought up the fact that he had been thr eatened with forced 
eviction. He declared that he would be willing to leav e if Best were to make it 
clear through a signed statement that everyone on the remov al list was going to 
be sent to other camps regardless of their condition. If Best did that he wanted 
the matter taken up with the Japanese Government via th e Spanish Consul—the 
block meeting was being held to discuss questions to be as ked the Consul. The 
reaction at the block meeting was a wave of indignation, a nd an increase in the 
determination not to leave the project. 

Mr. Oda wanted to know whether JS couldn't get special co nsideration for 
Mr. Takahashi, and in return he might be asked to keep q uiet about being told 
that he would be sent out by force. JS told Mr. Oda tha t no one was supposed to 
say that a person would be forced to leave, and offered to g o see Mr. Takahashi. 

The following morning (August 19) JS went with Mr. Oda t o see the Taka-
hashi s.  From them he heard their side of the story. He also goif this information. 
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Mr« Takahashi had no more intentions of living in -Ameri ca« He had bought 
most of the things that he wanted to take back to Japan, exce pt for furniture. 
He was ready to return to Japan* The only thing was that he  wanted to wait till 
the end of the war because he wanted to wind up his proper ty before he left, 
although there wasn't much of it. They had also understood Mr . Best to have said 
that no one would be forced to leave Tule Lake» 

JS apologized for what the interviewer had said. He did n't know who she 
was, but he was sure that she had made a mistake in sayin g that they would be 
forced out. At the same time he suspected that the inter viewer had not said more 
than that they had to leave. He also said that those -w ho had medical reasons 
could be allowed to stay. Mr. Oda broke in and said that J S wanted Mr. Takahashi 
to keep quiet about the fact that he had been threatened with eviction. JS really 
didn f t want this said, but he glossed over the point as smoot hly as he could. 
He did not want to give the impression that he was bribing  Mr. Takahashi into 
keeping quiet in order to get him special consideration. H e didn't know that he 
could get special consideration for anyone. 

JS saw Dorothy Montgomery, head of the Social Welfare Depa rtment, about 
the matter, and she relayed the case to Carter. Montgome ry mentioned that Miss 
Gottfried had the wrong attitude, and was angry because she seemed to be an-
tagonizing people. She said that she did not get "kickb acks," JS asked Grace 
Hashiguchi about Gottfried, and was informed that Dek i Nakazawa, the Japanese 
medical social worker, had a difficult time working wi th her. Also, the Social 
Welfare Deparianent and the medical social worker had never gotten along amicably. 
JS took the matter to Dr. Opler, the Social Analyst. He sai d that he would look 
into the case. He said that he wanted to go easy on Gottfrie d because she was 
a "pet of the medical social workers from Washington. S he was considered a 
sensitive girl who was misunderstood. H© thought that she w as a repressed type 
of individual, giving mechanical answers to questions.  Dr. Opler didn't want to 
be accused of "pieking" on her, as he had on Dr. Pedicord . That evening JS 
saw Miss Gottfried at a meeting, and was impressed with the mechanical smile that 
she possessed. 

That night JS informed Mr. Oda that he had told several Cauc asians about 
the matter, and that they would look into the matter. (Al so, see JS Diary for 
August 19.) 

Mr* Obayashi 
Mr. Obayashi told JS that the hearing had recently become  harder. It 

was more difficult now to retain the "no" answer. He was se lected as the tem-
porary representative to the segregation committee, but  he wanted to keep out 
of it because he would have to remain behind/fe8e project and take the blame for 
mistakes from those who might come in from other projects o r those who remained 
behind. He thought that Mr. Yoshida was a slight reacti onary, even though he 
kept very still. He thought that he might have started th is idea of the segre-
gation committee. Mr. Obayashi advised against handling t he segregation problem 
because he felt that trouble would be stirred up if the co mmittee did. 

Fear of those leaving 
There is fear expressed on the part of those who have made u p their minds 

to go that those who attempt to sit down and not go may no t have to go, after all. 
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In other words, they are afraid of "being considered fo ols for going without any 
sort of protest. This fear was expressed by the block mana ger, Tanabe and Nishida 
of Block 25 when they urged JS to get matters clarified. They said that if it 
were made clear that people on the removal list had to le ave, they would leave 
quietly. If they were kept doubtful on this point, more of t hem would be likely 
to sit down and not leave. They pointed out that there had n't been sufficient 
clarification of important points on the part of the admin istration. They hoped 
that JS could get the administration to make their stan d clear and swing the whole 
affair in favor of leaving, rather than of putting up a p rotest to stay. 

Advice to Opler 
JS advised Dr. Opler to publish more information on segr egation. Ke asked 

why there wasn't more coordination between him and John D. Cook, and why Cook 
printed so much relocation material* Opler's explanation that Cross, from the 
Washington office of the Reports Division, was handling rel ocation, and Cook 
thought that the Reports Division was the most importan t in the whole "WRA. One 
point that JS stressed was that the stand of the administr ation should be made 
clear. That those on the removal list had to leave. He al so asked that the draft 
deferment possibilities for farm workers should be pub lished, perhaps as news 
items taken from an outside paper. Opler felt that it was d angerous to play 
this point up for fear of outside criticism. Another poin t that JS thought should 
be mentioned was that people will not be forced out of anot her center. Another 
was that they can come back to a center if they so desir ed. Opler was cagey 

here, too, pointing out that the WRA was being criticize d for being too paternal 
with evacuees. JS also suggested that the fact that Tule  Lake would be crowded 
should be played up. He also pointed out to Opler that man y of the evacuees 
wanted to go reluctantly if they went at all. They did not w ant to go because 
of their own choice, but were willing to go if it were inevi table. He pointed 
out the Sofyes, the Kishiyamas, and Ishizukas as good exam ples» 

Sofye family 
The Sofye family has had a little friction. The boy in the fa mily, Bob, 

changed his "no" answer some time back. He wants to relo cate directly, if possib-
le. He's spoken to Dr. Jocoby and was told that he might b e able to get his 
leave clearance hearing before going to another center. T he father seems to be 
quite worried about the fact that leaving Tule Lake migh t mean disloyalty to 
Japan. If at all possible, he wants to stay. Even at the messhall he kept 
saying that everyone in the family has got to answer "no." Bob's sullen retort 
was: "I don't want to stay in a place like this." Yoshik o just came, and 
was prevailed upon by her parents to register  n no." But when she went to check 
up on why she wasn't getting a hearing, she was told that t here was no record 
of her registration. It might be that she registered too late to be effective. 
Now her folks are dismayed because they are on the remov al list. Aiko, still 
in grammar school, is glad because she won't have to retu rn to Japan. Mrs. 
Sofye doesn't seem to mind going to another center at al l, although she was voci-
ferous about staying for a while. Her attitude was one of,  "Shikata ga nai ja 
nai no." (What can you do about it?) Mr. Sofye seems to f eel pretty badly 
because he does not want to be considered disloyal to Japa n. 

Kato family 
The eldest boy repatriated, but was called for a hearing. He's determined 

not to change his answer. His two other sisters answere d "no." This is a good 
example of a quiet Japanesy family. Their adjustment is to J apan. 
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^ ^ The rumor about having to sign some sort of paper is stil l floating around. 
The Planning Board was trying to get hold of the paper that t hose leaving were 
supposed to be forced to sign. One man stated that two  or three persons were 
taken off the stage because they refused to sign the pap er. JS called up Mr. 
Huvcke in the Leave Office and learned that no one was ex pected to sign anything 
when they left. The only things they were given was a lea ve card, and some change 
of address cards. Their military permits were carried by the escort, ^heydid 
sign Form 130 when they applied for Indefinite Leave, but the Planning Board had 
aJcopy of this. When they received their grant, they had t o sign a receipt, 
darter was still trying to trace down the rumor, while Huyc ke was angry at Carter 
for not refuting the rumor as he had requested several days ago. The Planning 
Board was at a loss to know what to do. Carter didn't wa nt to announce that no 
one would have to sign for anything when they left, because an occasion might 
arise when a signature might become necessary. 

Hanako ^asux^ ̂  T a t r e 0 E g i t s s i s t er and is living with her foster father. Dorothy, 

Tatsuo's wife, asked JS whether it was possible for Hanak o to be considered a 
part of the Tatsuo's family. Mr. Yasuda wa^ted/ISay here in Tule Lake, and he 
could not unless he could find a good reason for doing so. Tatsuo had a faring 
and did noiJchange his answer, and consequently was on t he resident list. ll rae 
two families could be considered one, they could all st ay. W k o herself did 
not want to stay in Tule Lake. She's probably influence d by the fact that her 
boy friend, one of the Yagi twins, is scheduled to leave. JS made it clear to 
Dorothy that the two families probably could not be consid ered one. 

Education vs. counseling 
In a talk to interviewers on August 19, Carter pointed ou t two different 

types of programs within the segregation program—one was  educating the general 
public. The other was counseling individuals and famil ies. He stated that 
differences in opinion should not exist between the tw o. In JS's opinion the 
educational program has been very weak. The people had been called upon to attend 
hearings and make decisions without having all of the fac ts on hand and before 
rumors were sufficiently clarified. The success of the coun seling service would 
depend on the skill of the interviewer. A person like Mis s Gottfried could 
upset whole blocks and groups of people just by saying t he wrong thing to one 
individual. Because the interviewers weren't sufficien tly trained and trained 
uniformly, there are undoubtedly discrepancies in what th ey tell those coming m 
for interviews. 

Carter on use of force 
At the meeting"~of interviewers, Carter elaborated at gr eat length on how 

the question, "Will we be forced to leave?" should be answe red. He said: 

"W© are not giving a direct answer to this question. The r eason is simple. 
It corresponds to the situation where a teacher tells a boy to see the principal 
and the boy says how is she going to do it. The minute the tea cher says that 
she is going to force him to go the boy knowswhat to do. Th e minute we say that 
there is going to be force, there is going to be communit y resistance. So we are 
not going to commit ourselves. The attitude is this: we ha ve a segregation 
program ordered by Washington, and we are going through wi th the program. We are 



August 24, 1943 -  James Sakoda on Segregation 

explaining the reasons for the program, that if the progra m isn't successful it's 
going to have tremendous effects on the future of the eva cuees. We are going to 
show what the action of the individual will do to the rest of the Japanese-
Americans, We are also trying to show the advantages o f segregation. The WRA has 
made a great many preparations so that resentments and fears are not really 
justified because all of the problems have been taken c are of. 

"Actually we don't know what we are going to do when peopl e don't move. 
Washington is going to do that. We should keep away from  the problem. We should 
stay with the positive side rather than the negative sid e. If anyone uses the 
word, »force, 1 he is going to undo weeks and weeks^f work. There are i ndividuals 
in this project who will utilize the use of the word 'for ce* to disrupt the 
community. 

"Avoid the question. Right there hinges our biggest pr oblem. A while 
back there was a possibility that the whole community wo uld not go. We have 
the majority of,the people with us now. We have passed t he hump. 

"If this segregation program is not successful the Dies Comm ittee is 
watching carefully. If this fails, the evacuees are don e for. Avoid the 
question. 

"We have to make a train list to send to Washington by th e 24th, or 
mighty close to that. If the people don't come in, we ar e going to shuffle the 
train list without their preference. 

"Mrs. Freedman is making a report so that we will know ho wthe resistance 
is forming. If the resistance is in/froup then it is our pr oblem; If it is 
individual, then it is your problem. The same thing hol ds for those who don't 
come in." 

Group movement •  - • « " • • i. • • 

The emphasis at first was on keeping families and relatives  together. 
Then we got the report that friends and families wanted t o keep together. We 
had to consider  thi s  desire. We asked whether the feeling of unity was more im*" 
portant than the desire to go to a certain destination. T he answer came back 
'yes.' We've had applications from 14 groups so far. Th e block managers will 
help, but are not organizing the groups themselves." 

Miss Gottfried's attitude 
One gets a glimpse of Miss Gottfried, medical social worke r's attitude 

toward those vdio claim illness as an excuse for wanting t o stay in Tule Lake. 
From what she said to interviewers: "It is very easy to use  illness for doing 
or not doing something. It's something that everyone appr oves of as a reason. 
People are piling up medical reasons for staying. I think  that most people 
are sincere about it. However, that is something that th ey will not be able to 
do. We are trying to make everything as comfortable as poss ible for them. The 
final  deci  sion rests with the doctor. In most cases any person who is up and 
around and able to travel will  probably /158 allowed to stay. Don't try to make 
any explanation. Send them to us and we shall try to work  it out." 

August 21, Resistance to segregation 
Resistance to segregation is largely a matter of those wh o are scheduled 
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to leave Tule Lake not wanting to do so. Others refuse to gi ve more than one 
choice of centers to go to. Still others refuse to attend he arings. Quite a 
number do not come in for their social welfare intervi ews, but it is presumed 
that they do not do so because they do not want to move to a nother center. From 
the very beginning about 20 percent have not come in for  their interviews. There 
are reasons to believe that the resistance to segregatio n increased during the 
week. For one thing, recently there has been cancellatio n of former interviews. 
At the meeting of interviewers on August 19, it was mentio ned by several inter-
viewers that persons had come in to cancel their choice of centers. Kay Tift 
also mentioned that in the three days there were more pe ople who refused to give 
choices. Another indication of increase in resistance on the part of the people 
is the increased discussion among block people on the disa dvantages of leaving. 
One such discussion took place in Block 10 around the Takaha shi case. Another 
was brought up in Block 23 centered upon the loyalty que stion, and the dis-
cussion reached Block 25. Today a man came in to cancel his i nterview because 
there was talk in his block that those who left were goi ng to lose all of their 
properties and rights when they had to sign something a t the other end. 
Within the block the talk to stay has become louder and lo uder. According to 
Corky Kawasaki, "There are no definite signs, but it's b rewing. People come 
in to tell us that they are not leaving the project, and then go tell their 
friends that it's all decided that they don't have to lea ve." 

An analysis made by Mrs. Freedman of those who were interv iewed and who 
indicated that they were not going to leave the projec t even when they were 
scheduled to do so indicates some interesting points. Eig hty one of these 
have been tabulated according to blocks and wards. It is pos sible that there are 
more than 81 cases of resistance to movement which were |not brought to the atten-
tion of the social welfare department head. 

The tabulation by wards was: 
Ward I .22 
Ward II 14 
Ward III....13 
Ward IV 7 
Ward V 3 
Ward VI 14 
Ward VII....11 

The most obvious fact to be gotten from this tabulation is that the 
least amount of resistance on the part of those coming i n for interviews come 
from Ward V and Ward IV. One reason for this is that there a ren't very many 
families in those two wards who are forced to leave the pr oject because they 
had the greatest amount of trouble during registration. For that reason, also, 
they probably furnished the smallest number of families w holly in group II and 
III, which were interviewed up till August 20. The inter viewing of the split 
families did not begin till August 21. Only a tabulatio n of the families who 
failed to come in for an interview and the reasons why th ey do not will reveal 
the whole picture of resistance to segregation. These cases  of resistance also 
tend to be clustered around a certain block within a wa rd. Only further inves-
tigation will reveal the reason for these clusters. The p revalence of rumors 
in certain sectors of a ward may very well account for the se clusters. Another 
possibility is the existence of a rumor-monger in that se ctor. The attitude 
of the leaders in the block, such as the block manager, prob ably makes a great 
deal of difference in the attitude of the people in the b lock. 
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These 81 cases of resistance were also tabulated as to a ge, (plus-plus, 
plus, plus-minus, minus—ranging from above 60 to below 45 ), bachelor (B), 
family (F), couple ( c ) , female with children (f?), single female, and one 
unknown category (#). 

Bachelors 
plus-plus 15 
plus-minus.....15 
minus .-6 

Family 
plus-plus 3 

1 
plus 5 

3 

minus. 7 
4 

plus-minus*....  1 

Couple 
plus-plus .7 
plus•••••••••••2 
plus-minus•••••1 

f (?) 
pTus-plus......I 
minus*•••••••••2 

Single female 
p lus • ••  .1 
minus..........2 

U H 
plus..... 3 
plus-minus•••. •1 

While this tabulation is not accurate, it offers several clues. In the 
first place, the greatest amount of resistance is offere d by aged bachelors* 
They are the ones who have no family ties, or much comm unity ties. They have the 
least concern with the welfare of the Niseis, which make s their bond with America 
slim. They are also too old to work very hard, and the eco nomic incentive to 
go to another center becomes very small. In fact, many o f them believe that if 
they go to another center they will be forced to relocate  at some future date, 
whereas their stay in Tule Lake would be permanent for the duration, which becomes 
a strong economic reason for staying in Tule Lake. Beca use of their lack of 
community ties, they lack friends in other centers wha m they wish to join. 

(4 children) 
(3 children) 
(7 children) 
(1 with 6 children) 
(2 with 3 children each) 
(8 children) 
(3 with 3 children each) 
(1 with 6 children) 

(2 children) 

(2 children) 
(3 children) 

The old couples are f a M y strongly represented in the res istant group. In 
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many ways they are similar to bachelors, in that they have li ttle ties with 
Niseis and no economic motives for going to another ce nter» 

Among the cases of resistance among family groups, there s eems to be no 
age difference. "What characterizes this group is the num ber of children those 
listed possess. Here presumably there is some pull t o other centers for the sake 
of the children, but the economic security that Tule Lak e offers a family with 
many children might be the deciding factor in many of the se cases. 

In all,971 interviews were scheduled and 167 failed to rep ort for an inter-
view. If the 81 that reported and indicated their unwillingn ess to move' are 
added to the above, the total number of possible resistant s number 249, or over 
25 percent. However, since Groups I and II, which constit ute at least one third 
of the population in Tule Lake, would have little reas on for resisting movement 
to another center, the actual number involved in the r esistant group would 
represent a smaller percentage when compared with the whole population. In other 
words, the resistance is not wholesale, and as far as it is known, it is not 
organized either. 

August 22, The loyalty question for -̂ sseis 
One factor which is holding up the segregation program is the fact that 

in the minds of the Isseis the program is inconsistent. This inconsistency is 
most felt by those whose families are in Groups III and I V, and consequently who 
have no choice of either staying in Tule Lake or leaving. I sseis who answered 
"yes n to Question 28 are on the removal list and are consider ed "loyal" to the 
United States. However, the only commi-biient they have mad e is to state that 
they would obey the laws of the United States and not i nterfere with the war 
effort. Nevertheless, those staying are spoken of as bei ng loyal to Japan, and 
those leaving are loyal to the United States. The impres sion is also given by 
the administration that the people had a choice in the ma tter—whether they wanted 
to return to Japan or whether they wanted to live in Ame rica, whether they wanted 
to be Japanese or whether they wanted to be American. Actua lly, however, those 
in Groups III and IV had very little choice. Many Isseis de mand that they be given 
a choice of staying or leaving if segregation is going to be conducted on the basis 
of loyalty or disloyalty. It is more than the reluctance t o burn bridges behind 
them. If bridges have to be burned, they want to be conside red loyal Japanese sub-
jects, and not disloyal ones. They feel that their loya lty to their country can 
not be questioned, because they have only one citizenshi p and one country to call 
their own. Many of them would be willing to live the res t of their lives in 
America or contribute what they can to the war effort,  but practically no Issei 
is willing to have himself considered loyal to America an d disloyal to Japan. 
The ties of Isseis to America are largely made up of eco nomic ties and ties with 
the second generation. They are also willing to help Ameri ca in the war effort 
to return a debt (on) they owe to<the country they ha ve resided in for the greater 
part of their lives. If they were American citizens, they  would not hesitate to 
consider themselves 'loyal* to the United States. Still o thers are willing to be 
1loyal* to the United States and help her beat Japan becau se this is the wish of 
leaders in Japan, because this is the right way for a Japan ese immigrant. However, 
as long as they have one country and one citizenship, m ost Isseis cannot think of 
hesitating to say where his loyalty belongs. 

An Issei's concept of loyalty is based on a relationship. S ince they are citi-
zens of a country, they must be loyal to that country. A merica, to some, could be 
considered a country of adoption, but this sort of thi nking is prevented in the 
minds of the majority of the Isseis by racial discrimination , persecution, segregation, 
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ineligibility to citizenship. An Issei's concept of Japan i s not that of a militarist-
fascist nation. Those words are practically never used by Isseis in referring to the 
war at all. Their attachment is not to a certain politica l way of life or philosophy 
of living, but to a country, whose political composition is n tit of too much concern 
to Isseis. In other words, Isseis are very naive politically . Among those who are 
aware of the political  implications,  of,loyalty to.Japan, one  is.,  likely  to.find.  Isseis 
who would prefer to be loyal t8 °iSr ?ca 
an extremely small one. For the vast majority of immigrant I sseis Japan has very 
little political significance — their attachment to her i s apart from any political 
consideration. 

Opler, the Social Analyst, could not understand the attitud e of Isseis toward 
the loyalty question. Consequently, he made the mistake o f making Best say that 
they should not be afraid of burning bridges behind thembec ause WRA documents would be 
kept confidential. This matter of loyalty bothered the Is seis from the very b eginning 
and was aggravated by Best's statement as to the secrecy of t he documents. 

The Issei's concern over this matter of loyalty is clearly b rought out in the 
discussion on this question held between Mr. Akahoshi, Bl ock Manager of Block 25, 
and JS, whom he came to consult on the morning of August 19. 

Mr. Akahoshi came to see JS with a copy of the family intervi ew notice. He 
pointed to lines in the first paragraph, and wanted to know e xactly what they meant. 
They readi 

This action has beentaken in order to provide a place of pro tection and 
promote the general welfare of all evacuees who prefer to liv e in Japan or are known 
to favor the cause of Japan in the present hostilities or who se loyalties do not 
lie with the United States." 

Mr. A. explained that these disturbing lines had been call ed to the attention 
of persons attending a Block meeting in Block 23. The feeling was that if leaving 
the center meant loyalty to America and disloyalty to Japan t hey would rather 
stay in Tule Lake. Many had gone to cancel their interviews, a nd the discussion 
had reached Block 25. 

JS's answer and explanation was significant because it s erved to allay the 
Block Manager's fear. The same day the Block Manager spoke t o four other persons, 
and they too were satisfied with the explanation. JS point ed out that segregation 
was announced as being done on the basis of loyalty and dis loyalty, and the impres-
sion was given that people had some choice in the matter. A ctually, however, the 
only ones who had a choice were those in Group II. A H those in th e other groups 
really did not have a choice. Those in Group I — the repatri ates — were considered 
disloyal. Those in Group III — those who changed their an swers or registered late — 
were considered loyal with some reservations. Those in Gr oup I v were considered 
loyal without any question, The only commitment made by I sseis had been to answer 
'yes* to Question 28 — which was not a loyalty question. S ince they were being 
required to leave without any choice in the matter, they were only being stamped by 
the WRA  as ̂being  loyal — they were not signifying that they would be loyal . ~ After 
the war this fact would be published and made clear to the Jap anese Government, so 
that Isseis should have no fear about being forced to leav e Tule Lake against their 
wishes« 

It is clear that many Isseis are afraid of being stamped as disloyal to 
Japan and more afraid of being thought of having made that choice themselves. Those 
in group II have a choice, but having made the choice, th ey can no longer be on the 
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fence. Those who leave Tule Lake of their own choice mu st rationalize it in some 
way. Those who are forced to leave Tule Lake have the adva ntage of 3tiil being on the 
fence and being in another center. They are right back fr om where 

they started, and the segregation program has failed to  get them 
committed on one side or the other. 

Tanabe on Loyalty 

One man was heard telling Tanabe" heatedly why he w a s not leaving Tule Lake. 

He said: "I can't leave this place. If you do you're going to be considered disloyal 
to Japan. Best said that they would keep it secret -wheth er you've been in one center 
or another, but how can you keep a matter like that secre t. You just can't do it. 
I tell people: Doii't get fooled!» What do they think we are, fools? (Baka ni 
shitoru ja nai ka.) They should make it clear that people w ill be able to go back 
to Japan even though- they go to another center without ha ving to keep it secret. 
In some other center so many people have applied for rep atriation that they had to 
cancel them after August 30 because there were too many o f them." 

Tanabe was the typical Type A in Block 25. Since the rest of t he block registered 
over his protest, he went and registered too. He has signified intentions of 
going to another center, but not without showing some resist ance. He toB the 
interviewer that his first choice of center was Grana da, where he had close friends. 
His second choice was Japan, and his third choice Tule Lake. H owever, if he is to 
leave he must rationalize his stand in some way. He wasjh eard to reply: 

"Loyalty and disloyalty concerns Niseis, but it doesii't concern Isseis. 
Anyway, to Japan it's not going to make any difference wheth er you are in one sort 
of center or in another." 

Hearing. 
According to Mas Tanaka, an interpreter for the segregatio n hearing, it is run-

ning smoothly. On Friday they were calling the Y's. He s aid that the hearing was 
very easy, and for some it didn't take more than a few minute s. They were allowed 
to say what they pleased. Those who were hazy about their s tand, however, were 
questioned in detail more to determine definitely where th ey stood. Isseis who in-
sisted on telling the board all of their grievances als o took some time, although 
their stand was clear from the very beginning. Mas tho ught that most people did not 
change their stand — perhaps only about 20 per cent did . 

Kaya's Rationalization on leaving Tule Lake. 
Mr. Kaya said: "How many people are there here who have e nough brains to make 

up their minds for themselves? It's better for them if  the Government made up 
their minds for them and told them where to go and what t o do. ^his idea of giving 
them a choice is making them miserable. Whoever asked that question about losing 
his citizenship if he left Tule Lake was foolish, but th e Project Director was foolish 
too to answer the question and say that the documents wo uld be kept secret. The 
Japanese government asked the people to find the best so lution (zensho seyo). Why 
should they be ashamed of going to another center? It means  that the Japanese should 
take the best way out for himself and his family, even if they have to bootlick the 
ketos (keto no mata o kuguttemo). 

Bachelor vs. family man. 

This story, told by Mr. Kaya, illustrates the relationship o f a bachelor to a 
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family man in the segregation question. A bachelor came to a friend's place and 
asked him: "Don't you think that you'll be disloyal to Japa n by tartÄ to*-

answered!^ 11 ^  0 h U d r 9 n  ^  g ° i n g  ° U t f o r  of thelhiidren He 

"You owe me #250 from the outside, but whv don't vou  N« V 1+- W V T , 

« - - Ä 3 5 -

The man shut up and went home. 

Fall of Kiska 
This was heard in the shower room last night. 

y o u k n ™ t h a t w h e n t h e  ^ericans landed on Kiska they didn't find a 

(MeLLf?hrjapa Snefe!)* ^ (Umai S t o yatta ne.)» 

Mrs. Ishizuka 

r - ^ ' r - • C Ä S T i r ' Ä S a c a , u s s v - j r -one example of a person who wants to be forced out. 
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Segregation committee report: 

Mr. Nishida made a report of the segregation committee, wh ich met Sun-
day evening in 2820, at lunch time yesterday in Block 25» T he segregation com-
mittee was to be made up of an Issei and a Nisei from each w ard, who in turn 
were elected by block representatives—an Issei and a Nise i* At the committee 
meeting, according to Nishida, it was decided that seve n members, one from each 
ward, would constitute a working committee, the others b eing called in whenever 
necessary« It was also decided that the committee wou ld not be called a segre-
gation committee, but would be considered a committee to re present the whole 
project» It was not limited to those going out or to those stay ing in Tule 
Lake, but was composed of members from both groups» 

Mr. Nishida also announced that the segregation committ ee discussed the 
possibility of making the following demands on the admin istration: 

1. To demand 300 pounds of baggage to carry on the train  when leaving 
for another center because winter would be setting in and 150 pounds of baggage 
was not sufficient» 

2. To demand payment of grants for those who are unable to fin d jobs in 
the center they move to. The assumption underlying this i s that jobs for new-
comers from Tule Lake will not be available in other centers . 

3» To investigate the papers that the "WRA will require p ersons to sign 
when they move to another center. Mr. Nishida stated th at Mr* Tsuda made the re-
port in Ward II» He is reported as saying that it was usel ess to make excessive 
demands of the TfRA, but he thought that these demands wer e reasonable» 

Mr» Nishida made the announcement during lunchtime becau se it was diffi-
cult to get block people together to hear any sort of rep ort. 

Mr. Kaya attended the meeting, too, and he did not believ e that the 
demands were unreasonable» But he said; "There's only t he two of us, and I 
don't have any dissatisfaction. After all, this is wart ime, and you can't 
expect very much»" 

He would probably not be an ardent supporter of the demands ma de by the 
segregation committee» 

Bottleneck in segregation process: 
A bottleneck has been created in the segregation proces s. This can be 

seen for one thing by the number of interviews conducted at 2508, where the 
largest number of interviews were being carried on. 

8/12 42 8/18 17 
8/13 102 8/19 5  • 
8/14 99 8/20 12 
8/15 144 8/21 42 
8/17 176 8/22 none (Sunday) 

8/23 none 
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The split family interviews were begun on Saturday, August 21* On August 24, 
which is today, 50 interviews were scheduled, while 75 w ere scheduled for the 
following day. From Thursday the previous day the interview ers had just hung 
around with -Tery little to do. On top of that the number of C aucasian inter-
viewers -were increased by three or four, creating a discou raging condition for 
those who were capable and wanted more work to do. This lack  of work discouraged 
the evacuee workers, especially, because they had a feel ing that the Caucasian 
workers, who were new to the situation, did not know thei r work thoroughly, 
Hannah, the receptionist, felt this, and avoided givin g them the interviews on 
Saturday because, as she said,  n I knew they couldn't do it. M Corky Kawasaki 
and Mrs. Marayama esqjressed discontent with the work be cause of the lag and 
also of the use of more Caucasians. 

The family interviews were supposed to be over by August 21, accor-
ding to the original schedule. On Saturday the segregat ion hearings were in 
the Y's, and Mas Tanaka, the interpreter, reported that t he hearings would 
probably be completed on Monday. Then why weren't more s plit families being 
interviewed when interviewers were remaining idle and th e whole process was 
behind schedule? JS went to Carter and asked him point bla nk why the procedure 
had been held up. Carter said that the papers from the he aring were still being 
processed and families were being scheduled for interv iews as fast as possible. 
He had looked into the matter suid had made arrangements to  break the bottleneck. 
It seems that in some cases the hearings were not conduct ed properly, but this 
may be only a rumor. JS asked whether the trains would leave o n schedule, and 
Carter said that he hoped to get everything rolling accord ing to schedule. 

Segregation committee: 
The segregation committee requires watching, for it occ upies an 

interesting position politically. The City Council was never revived because 
of the restrictions imposed by the administration on th ose who were not in Group 
IV. The Planning Board, consequently, was the only re cognized political or-
ganization on the project. The block managers had no poli tical power on the 
project. The Segregation Committee was launched by the Pl anning Board. In 
his first speech, Mr. Best had suggested that the people elect a working 
committee to deal with the administration. According to Har ry, he had suggested 
when Cover ley was still here and the colonist leaders wer e meeting with him, 
that the Planning Board should be allowed to handle the c ommunity matters. 
Dr. Ichihashi and Noboru Shirai, Executive Secretary of the City Council, 
were opposed to the Planning Board having such power. Acco rding to Harry, 
they had always "bucked the Planning Board." Consequentl y, another committee 
was formed to deal with the administration on matters conce rning segregation. 
Whose idea this was is difficult to say. It may be that Harry Mayeda himself 
had suggested it. He said:  tt The Planning Board was allowed to launch the 
committee so that it wouldn't feel hurt about being lef t out." It seems definite 
that members on the Planning Board were in favor of such  a committee, even 
though there were some oppositions to such a committee on th e part of the 
people because it might become the focal point for troubl e, as occurred during 
registration. This opposition was demonstrated in Blo ck 25, when representa-
tives had to be appointed because enough block people di d not approve of sending 
representatives. In Ward II the Nisei representatives b y and large did not 
show up for election, and temporary representatives had t o be selected by 
popular assent, which were later considered permanent r epresentatives. 
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The attitude of the Blook Manager of Block 25 is probably typical 
of the attitude of some of the people. He said: 

"The Planning Board wants to show off too much." 

The Segregation Committee was launched by the Planning B oard. There 
were indications of difficulty in some weirds in electi ng representatives, 
as indicated by what occurred in Ward II. Mr. Obayashi wa s elected temporary 
representative from Blook 4, but stated that he wanted t o stay clear of 
such a position because he might be blamed for the acts of t he committee 
by those remaining in Tule Lake or by those coming in late r. The fact that 
Mr. Shibutani of Block 4 did not know of the existenc e of the committee in-
dicates that it did not receive popular support. 

The Planning Board invited the Segregation Committee t o take part 
in the discussion with the representative of the Spanish Consul. Captai n 
Martin was expected on August 21, but he appeared on August 2 0. A meeting 
was called for 2 p.m. on short notice, and the agenda was not  yet completed 
by the Planning Board members. Block people were notified that they should 
hand in questions to the block manager, which would be rela yed to the Plan-
ning Board. In some blocks,meetings were held to discuss wha t questions 
should be asked of the Spanish Consul. Mr. Takahashi, who was given the 
impression that he would be forced out of the center in spi te of his poor 
health, had mentioned that if Best would issue such a statemen t in writing 
he would have the matter taken up with the Spanish Consul. Others who were 
refused a chance to apply for repatriation looked forward to asking the 
Spanish Consul to make it possible for them to do so. The questions sub-
mitted by the people are not on hand for analysis, but m any Issei,s seem to 
have hoped that the Spanish Consul could do a great deal for them as a 
representative of the Japanese government. The work of c ompiling the 
questions to ask the Spanish Consul was done by Plannin g Board members— 
the Yoshidas, Dr. Kuki, Mr. Ikeda. On the success of the ir work probably 
depended the prestige of those involved. But because Cap tain Martin arrived 
a day ahead of schedule, the questions were not ready whe n he arrived. 
Consequently, very little was accomplished at the meeti ng with him. As 
Mr. Yamamoto of Block 25 put it: 

"The Planning Board always bungles matters. The Spanish  Consul 
came a day too early, came at 2 and left at 5, and the Planni ng Board couldn't 
accomplish a thing. Mr. Ikeda was going home with a pale face (aoi kao 
o shite)." JS met Mr. Ikeda and greeted him with: "How was t he~~5panish 
ConsuIT"  Mr. Ikeda went off saying, "^ameda, dameda." (no good , no good.) 
The Planning Board had definitely lost prestige on the visit of t he represen-
tative of the Spanish. The Isseis were not given any hop e of definite support 
via the Consul, except to use it as a channel for protest . A message from 
the Japanese government only offered the Japanese citizens in America hope 
and sympathy. 

The Segregation Committee, in the meantime, held discussi ons on 
the possibility of making demands on the administration . They decided on 
three: 
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1« To increase the baggage allowance to 300 pounds. 

2« To receive grants in case jobs are not available at ot her centers* 

3« To investigate all papers that must be signed by those leavi ng 
for another center. 

A rivalry has sprung up between the Planning Board and the Segre-
gation Committee, it seems. 3he Committee decided that it would not limit 
its function to segregation issues alone, but would cons ider itself the 
representative of the whole project. This would be rega rdless of Isseis or 
Niseis, segregees or non-segregees. At the same time des ires were expressed 
by some members on the committee to keep it entirely indepe ndent of the 
Planning Board. This idea was put forth most strongly by Dr. Ichihashi, 
the most vocal member on the committee« In other words,  the committee 
aspires to carry on the function of both the City Council and Planning 
Board. It is a definite bid for power. 

The outstanding figure in the Segregation Committee is D r. Ichihashi, 
heralded by one newspaper as the "Emperor of Tule Lake." He ha s given 
lectures on Japanese culture, and has been suspected by the administration 
as being a "Fascist." His attitude of superiority over t he colonists has 
antagonized many of them, and the more intimately he is known the less 
people seem to respect him. He does not seem to have wiel ded much political 
power on the Project. During registration he claimed that he advised at 
least 800 persons who came to him personally for advice, f or which most 
people didn't even bother to thank him decently. "What cha racterizes Dr. 
Ichihashi more than anything else is his high degree of conceit. In the 
first place, he shows by his action that he considers himself on a much 
higher plane than the immigrant population. He likes to talk ab out him-
self, and seldom gives another person a chance to say any thing once he 
gets started on a monologue. He also picks faults with colonis ts and tries 
to show his superiority at their expense. Consequently, there is a possi-
bility of his using a committee to enhance his own prestig e rather than to 
serve the people. 

Harry Mayedareveals this trait clearly when he says: " It's so hard 
to work with some of these Isseis because they always wa nt to be in the 
limelight. You go to a meeting, and they talk on and on withou t getting 
anywhere. It just bores me. The trouble with them is that th ey're not 
working for the people but for themselves only." 

About Dr. Ichihashi, Harry said: "He needs to be watched; I don't 
trust him. The only reason I'm on the committee is that he a greed to have 
me on it. I can't watch him unless I'inhere." 

At the meeting with the Spanish Consul, Dr. Ichihashi h ad cornered 
Captain Martin with a technical question: "Isn't it inapp ropriate to use 
'repatriation' and 'expatriation' to evacuees?" Captain Martin had difficulty 
in answering the question satisfactorily, and members of the Planning Board 
construed the question as a means of showing off Dr. Ichihas hi's own bril-
liance. The insistence on the part of the committee to ke ep itself separate 
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from the Planning Board and to represent the whole projec t undoubtedly 
receives strong support from Dr. Ichihashi. It is diff icult to imagine 
how he would not use his position on the committee to enhan ce his own position» 

Other members on the Segregation Committee that might be m entioned 
are Harry Mayeda, Tsuda and Takasue. Harry has succeeded in maintaining his 
position within the colony and also retain the goodwil l of the administration» 
At the time of registration members of the Combat Team accu sed him of not 
doing anything to encourage registration» Throughout t he issue Harry was 
noncommital, and so was the City Council at whose head he s tood. He can be 
expected to continue to be noncommital where his own position  with either 
the people or the administration becomes endangered. Howev er, he seems to 
be willing to tackle a few troublemakers who are doing the c ause of the 
people no good» 

Tsuda is a warden investigator, who speaks about as goo d Japanese as 
he does English» In many ways he's more like an Issei th an a Nisei, but 
he probably is a citizen» He mistranslated Rowalt's speech and created many 
misconceptions which were later hardly dispelled at all» He is the represen-
tative from Ward II, and has expressed himself in favor of certain demands 
for those going to other projects, in spite of the fact t hat he himself is 
remaining in Tule Lake» Harry believes that his stand, while disturbing to 
the administration, is unintentional» However, he can s erve as a good tool 
to others — Ichihashi, for instance» Takasue is a former Planning Board 
member from Ward V, whom Harry believes is not dangerous » 

While it was Best who first suggested the formation of a representative 
committee of the colonists to work with the Administra tion, there are pos-
sibilities that it might serve as a focal point for organ ized resistance 
against the segregation movement» There are signs of re sistance on the part 
of about one fourth of the population who are supposed to leave» The resis-
tance is not organized, however, and is only expressed by individuals and 
sometimes at block meetings. The demands being made by the Segregation 
Committee can become the center of organized resistance,  although the Ad-
ministration understands the people enough to avoid open conflicts. The 
Committee is especially worth watching because it can be come the tool for 
a few leaders to achieve prestige and power for themsel ves» An agitation 
becomes enticing because it is one means by which unpopul ar persons can achieve 
leadership temporarily» 

Barber shop talk, August 25 

Yesterday JS went to the barber shop, and from the convers ation of 
the barbers, he gathered two sorts of resistance» One was t he resistance 
to taking a chance to relocate» 

The second resistance noted was toward segregation. The attitude of 
one or two of the barbers wass 

"I'm not going to go even if they want me to. I'm just going to 
stay here." 
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This feeling of wanting to stay does not seem to be so vigor ous. 
But indications are that this feeling is fairly prevale nt. 

Tad Ikemoto 
Tad Ikemoto's folks are scheduled to stay in Hile Lake,  while Tad 

is scheduled to leave because he changed his answer from no t o yes. He was 
at a loss to know what to do — whether to leave his parents or not. Being 
a quiet and obedient type of person, his decision recently  to stay with 
his parents is not surprising. Tad's comments were: "I d o n'^think that 
I'm going to mi3S much by staying, anyway." 

One reason for this is that he has always been thinking o f returning 
to Japan. 

Ken Yasuda 
Ken's view of the WRA seems to be slightly slanted. Yesterd ay he 

told JSs "I don't think that the WRA is sympathetic to the J apanese people 
at all. All they are trying to do is to get the most out of t hem. They 
have no set policy or moral code. The people in my blo ck are saying that 
they won't move unless they get enough lumber to pack their  belongings 
away. They don't want to go and leave the packing of their things up to 
others. Art Morimitsu was mad because he was volunteering, and they re-
fused to give him the #50 grant, which those relocating w ere getting and 
other volunteers got until now. They say it's orders f rom Washington. He 
also went up to the Ad Building to ask for boxes to pack aw ay his things 
in, and they told him to go to the canteen and get carto n boxes. I'm 
afraid that we're going to have trouble around here." 

Ken answered "yes, yes" and is on the removal list. But he wants to 
stay on the grounds that his brother-in-law is staying. K en is a person who 
has consulted Dr. Ichihashi on various matters, and seem s to agree with 
him on various issues. 

Tanabe, August 26 
Tanabe, the outstanding latrine philosopher in Block 25,  has taken 

a ratherquiet stand on the segregation issue. One reaso n for this probably 
is that he no longer has much of a following in Block 25. He ha s made up 
his mind to leave along with some of the others, althoug h he has stated 
that he won't go unless they send him to Colorado. Day be fore yesterday he 
said: "I can see through the strategy of the Keto. I felt  that if I didn't 
make my choice now, I would lose out on my choice entirely if I decided to 
wait and see what would happen." 

He even talks to JS now, where formerly there has been a de cided 
gap between the two. This morning for the first time th ey ran into each 
other and Mr. Tanabe said "Good morning." 

Conversation of non-segregees 
Right after lunch, Mr. Akahoshi, Mr. Nishida, and Mr. Ta nabe and 

JS got together and started to talk. All of them had one t hing in commonj 
they were on the removal list and were planning to leave. There wa» some 
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talk of war, and how it was a strategic move on Japan's pa rt to have with-

drawn from Kiska. 

JS then asked what the message from the Japanese House of Rep resen-
tatives meant by sending a "message of hope«" He wondered whether it meant 
that the government wanted the Japanese to return to Japa n. Mr. Nishida 
was sure that it didn't mean that. He thought that it j ust meant that they 
didn't want the Japanese to lose hope and wanted them to keep on living. 
He said that they had advised that they should make the bes t of their situation 
(zensho seyo). He thought that if they returned to Japan, t hey would have 
to become wards of the government (yakkaimono). Someon e brought up the fact 
that in a broadcast by a political figure in Japan over Rad io Tokyo, he had 
announced the beginning of a campaign to raise relief fun ds (Kyusaikin) for 
the Japanese in America (Dobo). JS remarked: "Then you c an't go back to 
Japan feeling big, can you?" (Okina kao o shite kaerenai ne?) 

Nishida's answer was: "Imin, imin' te baka ni sarete iru  no ni, 
iohimon nashi de kaettara gokutsubushi' te iwareru yo. " (They look down on 
us by calling us immigrants. If we go back without a cent they'll be sure 
to call us parasites.) 

Nishida's feeling was that it wasn't loyalty at all to re turn 
to Japan at the present time and have to be taken care of by the Japanese 
government. He felt that he was being more loyal by going o ut and taking 
care of his own needs. 

Segregation is not voluntary 
Monday, August 23, the English version of the rumor clin ic item 

stating that segregation was not voluntary appeared in the Dispatch. A 
translation of the same item appeared the following day in  the Japanese 
section. The translation was skillfully done not to hurt  the feelings of 
the Isseis. This was the item that JS had advised Opler an d Carter to 
publish, and which Mr. Akahoshi and others in the block h ad assured JS 
was the best for the Japanese people themselves. JS aske d Mr. Akahoshi what 
he thought of the item, and he said: 

"Why wasn't the article printed earlier? If they had done that, 
we wouldn't have had any trouble at all. That article was rea lly very 
good, it's a masterpiece on the part of the administratio n. You've got to 
make things clear to the Japanese people. If they say th at it's the order 
of the Senate and that it must be carried out, they'll  go. But if you 
start to talk about personal choice and give them the id ea that they can 
stay if they resisted, then you can't get them to move at all. It's bad for 
us because those of us who went ahead and made our choice s seem as though 
we were for the segregation and pro-administration. And if  those who re-
sist are allowed to stay, we're going to be called fools f or not holding 
back as long as we could. The Japanese have to be told ole arly what they 
can and cannot do. TShen I was in Oakland I used to talk to  city officials, 
and I know just isfoat works and what doesn't work. If I un derstood enough 
English to express myself and were not a block manager, I would go and 
tell the administration exactly what they should do." 
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Mr. Akahoshi feels that it is only through JS that he can ge t his 
opinions through to the administration, which is probabl y true. 

JS asked whether an article shouldn't be put in saying that t hose 
who did not come in and make their choice would lose the o pportunity to have 
their choices considered. Mr. Akahoshi thought that any thing like that 
would be too harsh (kakoku). All that wagkecessary was t o insist that 
segregation was not voluntary and that it would have to take place. 

Mr. Kaya had a similar opinion of the article. He thought  that it 
was good for two reasons that he mentioned. One was that it  has made it 
clear that segregation was ordered by the Senate, that it  was not a matter 
of personal choice. Another was that it had stated that eve rything possible 
would be done to relieve the trouble of having to move. He s aid that if a 
straight order had been issued, the Japanese would have b een antagonized 
and would not have moved. But when they were asked to mov e, they were 
willing to do so. 

From the standpoint of those who are willing to move to a nother center 
the article in question was extremely appropriate. Th e Block Manager felt 
that it had come a little too late. Perhaps it was timely. "W hat effect 
it has on the resistant group is the interesting questio n now. 

Kazuko Tanabe  , .  , , 
Kazuko  feels almost certain that she is going to Washington  to  work. 

She's been offered almost $200 a month since she insis ted on it. She's 
afraid of her health, however, and is afraid that she won 't be able to stand 

the strain of working eight hours a day. 

Her family situation has decidedly improved. Both of her p arents 
did not register, and only her father appeared for the hea ring because they 
thought it was useless for her mother to go and make a diff erent decision 
from her father. Evidently it was a desire on the part of  the father to 
control the situation in a manner suitable to himself, which is to stay 
here in Tule Lake. He was asked whether he would be loyal to the U.S., 
and he answered that he wouldn't do anything against it. He  was then asked 
whether he was thinking of returning to Japan, and he ans wered that he 
didn't intend to right away. JS' conclusion was that he wa s considered 
loyal and would have to leave, if her mother would only g o to the hearing. 
The father had associated with Caucasians too long, it s eems, to be able to 
seem disloyal just to stay here in Tule Lake. There seems t o be a dilemma 
on his part — he wants to stay and he does not want to be bra nded as dis-
loyal to the U.S. "While this sort of conflict would be commo n among Niseis, 
Mr. Taa abe's past adjustment leads to just suoh a conflict . JS advised 
Kazuko to urge her mother to go to the hearing. 

Slberson, Opler and Carter 
JS went to Elberson's place to get a package he had asked Elbe rson 

to purchase in Tule Lake, and found the three — Elberson, Opler, and 
Carter — doing the dishes, while some ladies were chatting i n the living 
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room. JS asked what the bottleneck in the segregation proc ess was. Carter 
informed him that the hearing results were being checked . Some of them 
had been conducted or recorded and written up inadequatel y. For this pur-
pose only one person doing the job, and Carter got two oth ers to work on 
it. He hoped that the bottleneck would be cleared soon» 

JS asked him if the train schedules were going to be made up on 
schedule. Carter thought that they were. The first train s chedule was al-
ready being made up. He said that room would be left for those wh o have not 
come in for their interviews yet, so that their choices woul d still be 
considered. 

JS suggested that an article be published outlining how t he mechanics 
of the making up of the train schedules worked, and how thos e -who did not 
make their choices would not be able to get their choices con sidered. 
Opler thought this was a good idea, and Carter didn't seem to think it was 
such a bad idea either. 

Talk with neighbors 
Mr. Kay as "Returning to Japan is not necessarily being l oyal 

(chusei). Those returning to Japan are going to be parasi tes (yak ai mono). 
If we go out, we can save over #1000 a year if we earn about #175 a 
month. After the war conditions arejgoing to be so bad t hat those re-
maining in the centers will not be able to get jobs. I kno w because 
I knew what happened after the last war." 

Mrs. Kayas (to JS) "Every Japanese is the same. Even you probably 
feel some loyalty to Japan because your parents sure over there, you expect 
to return to Japan, and you have had education over there. w 

Mr. Akahoshis "That recent article -was very good. There w on't 
be any trouble now." 

Mrs. Akahoshi: "Yes girls are like that. They say that  they're 
going out because they want to be stopped, tt 

Mr. Ishizuka: "It's the way you handle them (wives). You should 
bop them on the head once." 

Mrs. Ishizuka makes a funny face. 

Mrs. Kaya: "You do anything like that to Nisei girls and t hey won't 
stay with you for ten days. I wouldn't, anyway." (She wa nts husbands to 
treat their wives tenderly, probably because she misses  it herself.) 

Mr. Ishizuka:  n 0h, that's all right, those who were in Japan are 
used to it.* 

Ishizukas 
The Ishizukas are now on the removal list. The other day Mr. Ishizuka 

went to the social welfare interview. INhen asked whe re he wanted to go, he 
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told them that he did not m n t to go anywhere because he ha d asmall baby 
and had another one coming. He was told that he should send hiswife 
over» Mrs.» Ishizuka was rather upset because she coul dn't see why she 
should go« If they weren't going to let them stay, why shoul d they call 
her out? She went to 1308 and was told that she could stay a nd have 
her baby and stay a month after that. Beyond that they cou ld not guarantee 

her that she could stay. 

Caucasian Japanese relationship in 2508 ^ 
— When interviews were first started in 2508 most of the interviewers 
were evacuees. Mrs. Tift was the only Caucasian and the su pervisor, but she 
had such a pleasant personality that she was well-receiv ed by the other 
interviewers. The fact that they had started out togethe r helped to make 
the Caucasian-Japanese relationship pleasant. Also, at t hat time there 
were ouly about 7 interviewers working at any one time, an d they were 
kept busy with work. Mrs. Tift handled the Niseis, of whic h there ^ suf-
ficient numbers coming in. She was quite sympathetic to  evacuees, and did 
not put on any air of any sort. 

Recently several workers arrived from Washington, and we re sent to 
2508 to work as interviewers. Mr. Heath was made the supe rvisor of the 
building. He was a gloomy sort of person who did not make a n effort to put 
himself on a friendly basis with the rest of the workers . On top of that 
several Caucasian teachers 'volunteered' for work, but were being paid for 
it. They didn't know what the work was all about, and som e of them tried to 
learn by listening to other people's interviews. It was dif ficult to see 
how they could do the job of interviewing split family  cases when the 
whole family came in for interviews, because they would h aveto have inter-
preters to help them. The fact that they did not have the  information 
on hand to give to those wanting advice, the fact that t hey didn't for the 
most part seem to have sufficient insight into the Japane se family to be 
able to advise them well, the fact that they wer&Likely to  take a business-
like or superior attitude in regards to those who* cam e in — all made it a 
curious situation. From August 19 very few interviews we re being conduc-
ted. By August 23 the number of interviewers had increase d from 7 or 8 
to 11 Caucasians and 7 evacuees. For the most part the C aucasian teachers 
kept to themselves and read magazines or knitted. The eva cuees kept to-
gether, too. Mr. Heath, the supervisor kept aloof from bo th groups. 

Hannah Morimitsu, the receptionist, throws some light o n the 

situation. She said at various times: 

"Some of the Caucasian teachers were eager to do some int erviews, and 
they jumped up whenever I passed by with an interview. Bu t I couldn't let 
them have it because I knew that they couldn't do it. 

"Mr. Heath doesn't know a thing. He asks me every time how a thing 

should be done, and so I have to suggest to him how I thought it should be 

done. 
asked 

"Mr. Heath / Jimmy Fukuhara whether he was an interviewer.  Jimmy 
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said he was. Mr. Heath then said he could go home now since there wasn't 
much to do and take it <nA on his compensatory overtime. Ji mmy blew and 
told me that he wouldn't do anything of the kind. Look at th ose Caucasian 
teachers. All they do is sit and read magazines or knit«  And they're 
gettingpaid so much. Why don't they send some of them home . I ask some 
of them to take an interview and they tell me that they'd rat her listen to 
more interviews before they take one. So Jimmy and the others have to work 
harder at times»" 

Corky Kawasaki, Father Dai and JS and some of the others wh o volun-
teered for the interview  work,  because it was considered difficult, are 
discouraged with the slack situation. They do not want to continue the work 
if they have to waste their time sitting around in the off ice. They resent 
the fact that Caucasians who are not able to handle the j ob have been in-
creased» 

Kibei indignant of hearing results. 
At the hearing some people have indicated that they wish ed to stay 

in Tule Lake, and have thought that they would be allowed to do so on that 
score. But they find that they have been placed in Group II I and on the 
Removal List. This misunderstanding is due to the fact t hat the hearing 
board is supposed to determine loyalty or disloyalty, a person's desire to 
return to Japan or to stay in .America, his desire to become a Japanese or 
an American. It does not determine whether a person wants t o remain in 
Tule Lake or not. While some who have signified their des ire to stay in 
Tule i«ake are actually glad that they now have to go,  others are indignant 
over the outcome of the hearing. How such a misunderstandi ng came about is 
illustrated by a Kibei fellow -who came in for information on his situation. 

He was still in his early twenties. He lacked the superpat riotism, 
the strongheadedness, the stubbornness so often found in a Kibei. He spoke 
in Japanese, and evidently could speak English only im perfectly. He was 
indignant because his answer was changed from "no" to "ye s" as a result 
of the hearing, and wanted to know what could be done abo ut it to change 
the results to suit his real wish. He thought that people were going to 
have a free choice as to whether they wanted to stay or to go» At the 
hearing the panel members did not ask him many question s, and he gave only 
simple answers. He feels that if he had an interpreter he would have answered 
more fully. % e n he was asked why he did not register, he an swered that he 
did not intend to go outside and did not see any need for regis tering. Then 
he was asked when he returned from Japan. He was also asked wh at he inten-
ded to do after the war. His answer was that he didn't know wh at he would 
be doing 5 or 10 years from now. He feels that he has been duped because 
he was under the impression that people were going to be allow ed to state 
their choice freely. They hadn't asked him directly wh ether he was going 
to be loyal to Japan or to America. He was referred to Dr. Jacob y. 

Kadowaki Case 
One of the most difficult aspects of the segregation pro gram is the 

determination of loyalty or disloyalty of Isseis. Havin g only one citizen-
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ship, and being brought up to consider that loyalty to one 's country is un-
questionable, most Isseis would be forced to say that th ey would prefer to 
be loyal to Japan rather than to the U.S., if the questio n were posed in Just 
that way. The real problem, it would seem, is to determine t he degree of 
attachment that an Issei had to Japan as a political powe r vs. the degree 
of attachment that he had to America which would make him a good law-abiding 
and not-dangerous alien. Unless the problem is looked upo n in this way, most 
Isseis would have to be automatically as "disloyal." Even the question, do 
you want Japan or America to win the war," if used as a test of loyalty or 
disloyalty would make most Isseis — and many Niseis — "di sloyal" because their 
tie to Japan as a Japanese, racially and through their c itizenship, is strong. 
More sensible would be such questions as: "Will you abi de by the laws of the 
U.S.?" "Are you willing to work in the U.S.?" "Will you f ight for the U.S. 
armed forces if you are drafted?" (For Niseis.) "Do you wi sh to live in the 
U.S." "Will you live in the U.S. if your children remain her e?" Asking such 
questions as, "Do you wish to be an American or a Japanese ?" of Isseis just 
because it is in the administrative instructions is fo olish, because most 
Isseis are so much more Japanese than they are American. 

In questioning Isseis of doubtful status, his attachm ent to Japan 
should be considered, for one thing. He should be asked h ow often he has 
returned to Japan, whether he has close relatives the re, whether he intends to 
return to Japan right away, whether he has sent his children t o Japan. On the 
other hand, his attachment to America should also be nei ghed carefully. There 
are two important attachments that most Isseis can have t o America, both of 
which are definitely not political in nature. Isseis are s o naive politically 
that it does not help the situation to ask the common run -of-the-mill immigrant 
Issei where his heart stands on the matter politically. O ne attachment is to 
his children who are American citizens and who may desire to  live in America. 
This attachment to children is very strong, and if they are strongly American, 
the parents can be expected to be swayed in that direction  a very great deal — 
especially if the future and welfare of the children de pended upon it. The 
other strong attachment is economic. Those whose livelih ood depend upon 
staying here in America have a good reason for being law-a biding and doing 
his share of the nation's work. However, those whose ec onomic roots in 
America are shallow or are non-existent have that much less reason for turning 
away from America and to Japan for his future. This is true  of those who are 
not immigrants, but who work for the Japanese consulate or for Japanese firms 
such as Mitsui or Mitsubishi. 

The following case is reviewed to show the flimsy ground s upon 
which the father was considered "disloyal," while the rest of the family were 
considered "loyal." 

Tamotsu Kadowaki. Family number 27155 
4413-e — — Recommendation for 

Segregation 

Kadowaki, Tamotsu head M-24 No 
" Fumiko sister F-17 
rt  Charles brother M-19 No 
" Tsuro mother F-45 No 
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Recommendation for Segregation 

Kadowaki, Kenjiro brother M-22 
" Kenzo father M-61 Yes 

Segregation hearing results 
' 8/14/43 

Charles Kadowaki Age 18 4413-E 
Born in Biggs, Butte County, Calif* 
Never been in Japan» 

Didn't register—due to block pressure; also, father op posed it* 
Answer to Question #28 is "yes" and no doubt of it. 
He is very well Americanized-speaks excellent English- doesn't know much 

Japanese* Wants to be an American and help with anythin g he can* Re-
gretted not registering* 

Recommendations Removal list* If this case comes up bef ore the Board of 
Appeals, it is recommended that permission to relocate be g ranted* He 
has asked to remain in Tule Lake because of father's loyal ty to Japan, 
and he chooses to remain with the family at present* 

Martin P* Gunderson (signed) 

M* Kathryn Kosfci (signed) 

8/14/43 

Kenzo Kadowaki 
Came 1901. Never been back* 
Japan better than U*S. — very bitter — tried to forc e family to say "no*" 
Recommendations Segregation list. "Japan, better than Un ited States* tt 

Martin P* Gunderson (signed) 

M. Kathryn Koski (signed) 

8/14/43 

Tamotsu KodawaM 24 4413-E 
Born Stockton, California. Finished at Biggs High* 1938 * 
Grandfather and grandmother in Japan* Never in Japan. 
Didn't register — block pressure, family responsibility * 
Answer to Question #28 is "yes." He is head of family unit a nd does not 

wish to be separated nor have the family broken* Very well Ame ricanized 
and an excellent type of boy* His English is perfect* 

Recommendations Removal list* If this case comes up befo re the Board of 
Appeals, it is recommended that permission to relocate be gr anted* He 
has asked to remain in Tule Lake because of father's lo yalty to Japan, 
and he chooses to remain with the family at present* 

Martin P. Gunderson (signed) 

M. Kathryn Koski (signed) 
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8/14/43 

Tsuro Kadowaki, Age 45, 4413-E 

Came here 1918. Back 3 months 1938. 
No parents in Japan to her knowledge* 
Did not register — due to block pressure. 
Would obey the laws of U.S. and not hinder the war effor t. Would want to 

stay in U.S. if it is the best interest of the family. 
Recommendation: Removal list. She is more loyal to the Un ited States. She 

feels that it is to the best interest^of her children that they remain 
here. She believes that a better future forthem lies in the United States. 

Martin P. Gunderson 

M. Kathryn Koski 

8/25/43 
Family Interview (Interviewer, JS) 

Tamotsu and Kenjiro came in for the interview. The pa rents had 
said that anyone that wanted to go to another center could d o so as long 
as someone stayed with the parents to look after them. Only Kenjiro had 
made up his mind definitely to leave. The rest of the child ren were pon-
dering whether to stay or to leave. Tamotsu had thoughts of relocation, but 
has decided to stay with the family for the present. Mr.  Gunderson had 
promised him that he could relocate later if he so wished . The interviewer 
pointed out that there was a chance that their stay in Tule Lake might become 
permanent. All of the family except the father were wil ling to relocate* 
The two boys felt that if the father had been put on the re moval list he 
would have been willing to go along with them. They felt that a mistake 
had been made in his case in putting him on the resident lis t in view 
of the family situation. 

This seems to be a good example where the hearing was condu cted too 
superficially. It would have been better had the fathe r been considered 
loyal and sent to another center with his children. The ba sis on which the 
father was considered/Toyal and sent to another center with his children. 
The basis on which the father was considered disloyal was t oo flimsy — 
without basis at all. The lack of insight into the Japan ese on the part of 
the members of the hearing panel probably accounts for t he result. 

Comments.— The point to be contested here is that at  best the 
father was a doubtful case as to whether the pull toward Jap an was greater 
than the pull toward America. To decide the matter one way or other should 
have required full documentation of evidence — which is l acking in this 
case. 

Protest against hearing results, August 27 
Block 30. George . Age 19. Mother 49, sister 17. 

George came in with a very sullen attitude and wanted to kn ow whether 
he could have the hearing results changed. He had gone to th e Internal 
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Security Office, and the secretary there had sent him to th e social welfare 
counselor* At the hearing Cole had told him, he claimed, that he coujd 
stay. He had been asked whether he would change his answer from "yes to 
"no" and his answer was "no*" When asked whether he woul d return to -
Japan, he replied that he didn't know* He said that he wanted to s tay in 
Tule Lake* He thought he had made it plain that he wanted to stay* He 
was given to understand that everybody was going to be allow ed their own 
choice in the matter* 

(Questions by JS revealed that what really bothered him was  the fact 
that his mother was afraid of leaving the place because she th ought that 
she would be forced out of the center if she did* Conseque ntly, he felt 
that as the head of the family he had to do what hi8 mother  wanted him to 
do. He himself believed that if he went to another center tha t he would 
be forced out* 

Another thing that bothered him was the fact that he wa s afraid that 
if he went out to work he would be drafted. When asked wheth er he was 
afraid of being drafted, his defense was: "Everybody's a fraid of the draft." 

JS pointed out the possibility of being sent back to Jap an if he 
stayed in Tule Lake. He was willing to take the chance of being deported. 
He was willing, also, to take out repatriation papers if that was the only 
way he could stay here. However, he really did not want to return to 
Japan* He thought that common people like himself would no t be sent back 
on the exchange ship, and it was all right with him if he was sent back 
after the war. If he couldn't stay here -where he wanted  to, he would as 
soon return to Japan where he could live where he wanted to. 

When told of the chances he would be taking if he stayed here i n 
Tule Lake, his reply was that he thought he would have a goo d chance of 
getting out of here because they wanted to get him out so badly, anyway* 
He stated that Mr. Cole had told him that a board would be set up next July. 

He wanted to know î iat he had to do before his interview notic e 
came. He was afraid that if he received the order to lea ve he would have 
to do so. In other words, in spite of his strong feeling on t he matter, 
he was afraid that he would have to go if he were really forced t o. He 
kept repeating that he was told that no force would be used* "I 've been 
shoved around long enough; I*m not going to stand for it a nymore," was the 
way he put it. His toying with the idea of going to another  center was in-
dicated by the fact that when the choice of center was broug ht up, he 
indicated that he did have a choice. He asked whether h e would be allowed 
to go to the center of his choice, and became indignant w hen told that it 
couldn't be promised to him. Then he immediately went bac k to the idea 
that he was not going to leave Tule Lake. He was sullen and evidently 
determined in his intention to stay here, but he was nonet heless fearful 
that he might have to go after all. 

Saving his face with his neighbors and friends was also in volved, 
it seemed. He said that most of his friends were staying here, and those 
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who were going he was not sure he could go along with them. Pe ople from 
Sacramento do not have the incentive to go to other oenters a s people 
from other sections do because they have no friends in la rge numbers in 
any other center, since most of them came here to Tule Lak e. When he met 
a friend to whom he explained his predicament, he said: "I' m not going 
to leave the place. I»11 take out repatriation papers if it is necessary." 

He was sent to Mr. Silverthorne*s office to register his protest 
on the results of the hearings. 

Analysis: The primary motivating force in this young  fellow seems 
to be a sense of insecurity and unwillingness to take any chance. Mixed 
in with this is a feeling of resentment and a desire to op pose any move to 
"shove him around." He doesn't want to go to another eente r and he doesn't 
want to return to Japan. He's also afraid of being drafted. He wants to 
be left just as he is at present. He is unwilling to excha nge his present 
lot for that of any other. 

August 28, Oda family (2507-B) 
Mr. Oda (Tetsu, 51, I.) greeted me in the morning and aske d me to 

see the notice that his son, Kahn (17), had received. I t said that he would 
have to remain in Tule Lake. He felt a little sorry that Ka hn had done that 
because Mr. Oda did not want to return to Japan right now.  He had planned 
to go to Colorado to farm, for one thing because he could n ot to ave his 
son in the array over here alone. He laughed and said: 

"We'll go out nexijspring if I can get the boys to chang e their 
answers. They're bound to ask us to leave about then." His wife (I.) 
laughed and said that this was possible because this was Ameri ca. 

Mr. Akahoshi (Block 25, I.) 
Mr. Aiahoshi asked JS to do some typing for him. Then he sho wed 

him a request for a lette^of recommendation to Mr. Best that he himself 
had tried to write in his broken English. The letter st ated the fact that 
he had been block manager for a year and three months and that he kn ew 
how to "rule" the people through his experience. Also he ha d "cooperated 
with the Caucasian staff" during his term of office. On these grounds he 
requested a letter of recommendation to the project direc tor in Topaz to 
recommend him as a block manager. In the evening he was hea rd speaking 
broken English to George Ike. Evidently the fact that he i s leaving on the 
first train for Topaz is freeing him from the necessity of having to seem 
pro-Japan and anti-Caucasian. The block people have c ollected five cents 
per person and have presented him with a wooden cup. 

Mr. Akahoshi shows a fairly strong desire to be in a leader ship 
position. He is also cooperative with Caucasians, a fact  which he has had 
to suppress in his block, which was highly reactionary i n that regard. He 
and his wife also consider themselves superior to the pe ople in the block 
who are from the country. 
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Eddie Sasaki (Block  25, 26, K.) 
Eddie and his Nisei wife have put themselves in Group III p rior to 

the starting of the segregation program in order to fac ilitate the release 
of Eddie's father from internment camp. Eddie has discussed t he matter 
of leaving Tule Lake with JS and seems to have been convinc ed that it was 
to his advantage to do so. He recognizes, for instance, tha t if he stays 
here till the war is over, he would have difficulty in ad justing himself on 
the outside. It is his wife (22, N. from Mizuno family) who is the bottle-
neck in this case. 

Mildred's primary reason for wanting to stay in Tule Lak e seems to 
be her desire to stay with her family. Her parents and brot hers and sisters, 
with whom she has always been living, and with whom sh e is still very close, 
living in the next apartment to them, are scheduled to st ay in Tule Lake. 
She said that she didn't have friends elsewhere, and w ondered what would 
happen to her if Eddie was drafted and she was left alone to take care of 
her two little children. When she was close to her family, s he could be 
assured of receiving help from them. When told that she w ould have to have 
extra money to bring up her children properly, she did no t say anything. 
This seems to be one argument which those who are staying find hard  to 
refute. Then she was asked what she would do when the war was over. Her 
answer was that she didn't think that far ahead. She didn 't say that she 
would return to Japan — something so many said in defense of their desire 
to stay here in Tule Lake. Being thoroughly Nisei and young  yet, she 
probably does not relish the idea of returning to Japan. S he said that the 
only thing Eddie thought about was what would happen aft er the war. Eddie 
reiterated this point, although he didn't say very much. He' s a quiet sort 
of fellow, and seems to respect the words of his Nisei wife  a great deal. 
He seemed to be hoping that his wife would change her min d about wanting 
to stay here, but didn't argue with her in front of JS. Th e future and ^iat 
would happen to them after the war did not seem to bothe r Mildred. "It's 
so muoh trouble packing and moving/ she said. JS argued tha t it would be 
unfair for her children to leave them here, where they could not be brought 
up properly, where control by parents was very difficu lt. She did not say 
anything to this. Children are another vulnerable spo t of those desiring 
to stay here. Then she asked, "Will we be forced out?" She see med to want 
to stay if she could, but would consider leaving if she ju st had to leave. 
The only thing that JS could say was that he didn't know, but  that her leaving 
or staying should not be decided on that ground. Mildred thought that both 
George and JS had chosen pretty girls. 

Segregation planning meeting, August 29 
Friday morning Opler was discussing resistance to segr egation with 

Father Dai. * a r t e r and JS came along, and the four of them discussed a 
tabulation of resistance that Opler had made. It was decid ed that a 
meeting would be called at Carter's place right after lunch an d a few 
others be invited to discuss the problem. Carter agreed to this arrange-
ment. Opler was for inviting as many evacuees as Caucasia ns, and Harry 
Mayeda and Dr. Jacoby were suggested. 

The above six and also Don Elberson met in the afternoon. Ca rter 
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was primarily interested in finding out first what the cau se of resistance 
was, and then #iat could be done to^break down the resist ance. He was think-
ing of a series of meetings of about twenty families or so to explain to 
them thoroughly why they should leave Tule Lake. 

Dr. Opler had charted 390 odd cases (family, including b achelors) 
of resistances according to blocks and wards. By resista nce he meant those 
who did not come in for social welfare interviews 

and those who did come foyinterviews 
but who refused to give choice of centers. The latter g roup included 
those who insisted that they wanted to stay in Tule Lake and  a few who 
would give only one choice of center, saying that otherw ise they would 
stay here. Opler found that there were about twice as many cases w ho came 
in and protested as those who did not come in at all for int erviews. Bie 
wards were found to fall in the following order when arra nged according 
to the number of resistance casess 

Ward I 86 
Ward VII 72 
Ward II 68 
Ward III 57 
Ward V 38 
Ward IV 36 
Ward VI 33 

One of the first hypotheses raised by JS and others to e xplain 
the difference in reactions in various wards was that war ds and blocks which 
were "bad" during registration ware "Good" during segregat ion. 2he main 
reason for this was probably that those who were "bad" dur ing registration 
now had their choice as to whether they wanted to stay or go. Those who 
were "good," however, had no choice but to leave, and mos t people, it 
seemed, did not want to leave Tule Lake. So that in term s of number of 
people in the block or ward who had to leave without a cho ice one could 
account for the amount of resistance there. This was che cked up by blocks 
by comparing notes with registration reactions, and it seemed that this 
hypothesis accounted for a great deal of the differencein block reactions. 
A tabulation of the non-resistant blocks revealed that m ost of them could 
be identified as having been "bad'during registration« 

No cases—Block 48 
One case—Blocks 10, 11, 51, 44, 41, 43 
Two oases —Blocks 31, 45, 40 

Those with ten cases or more could not be identified as havi ng been 
particularly "bad" during registration: blocks 17, 7 1, 16, 28, 34, 18, 
37, 25, 23, 67. 

Resistance to segregation, however, could not be explai ned on the 
basis of the number being asked to leave without a choice  alone. The number 
of bachelors in each block was tabulated, but there seemed  to be no correlation 
between the number of bachelors and the number resisting in a block. The 
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possibility of agitators was considered. It was considere d plausible that 
the existence of a few agitators in a block could influen ce the people in 
that block sufficiently to increase the number of resistan ce cases somewhat. 
Block 71, for instance, had been the center of several di sturbing rumors, 
which might have been planted or spread by a few individual s. But the exis-
tence of an organized resistance was ruled out entirely. Har ry Mayeda said 
that in his block (23) there was a family which talked loudly  against leaving, 
but that there was definitely no organized resistance on a block basis. It 
is interesting to note that in Block 10, where the Tak ahashi Case came up, 
and where they were supposed to have had a meeting in which the ca se was 
discussed, there is only one recorded case of resistanc e. Another indication 
of lack of organized resistance is the fact that from a previ ous sampling 
tabulation taken earlier the present tabulation differ s but little — the 
development in most blocks has been even. There has be en no sudden increase 
in any particular block. 

Other causes for resistance were discussed. One was the fact that 
Isseis were afraid of being considered disloyal by leaving Tule Lake. 
Father Dai agreed with JS that this was an important poin t. Dr. Jacoby 
felt that the basic reason for resistance was that peopl e were just tired 
of moving and being shoved around. Father Dai thought t hat this was the 
basic reason for resistance. JS disagreed, and stated t hat there were more 
fundamental reasons. He pointed out the two main ones a s being economic 
insecurity in other centers and on the outside and fear of the draft. Dr* 
Jacoby thought that people wanted to give plausible reaso ns because they 
didn't want to bother about moving. He does not seem to ha ve considered 
that people do not usually announce these two reasons openly. JS could not 
help feeling that others were thinking of the situation in terms of such 
categories as bachelors, aged couples, those desiring to return to Japan, 
without actually being acquainted with the actual individ uals involved. 
They seemed to lack insight and intimate acquaintance wit h these people who 
were planning to resist segregation. When a counseling pr ogram for individual 
families was suggested. Carter wanted to know whether i t would be advisable 
to use evacuee interviewers. JS remarked that only evacuee s would be able 
to convince those resisting that it was best that they go . Carter does not 
seem to realize the importance of using as much evacuee hel p as possible in 
a program of this sort. 

The important part of the discussion centered around a p rogram to 
cope with the resistant group. First an educational p rogram to counteract 
some of the basic fears preventing persons from leavin g Tule Lake freely 
was suggested. Next it was discussed that a group of skill ful counselors, 
preferably evacuees, be gotten together to try to ccax the resistant group 
to leave. It was recognized that only part of the resist ant group could be 
reached for this, since they planned merely to send a per sonal letter from 
Best. There was also a feeling on the part of the group that persuasion 
would have very little effect with the resistant group . JS pointed out 
that this group of "loyal" individuals should not be ho unded to the bitter 
end, but should be persuaded to leave for their own good o nly, in view of 
the fact that the "disloyal" ones had their choice of either s taying or 
going. Harry Mayeda pointed out that it was going to make a lot of differ-
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ence if the other centers treated the arrivals from Tu le Lake well in terms 
of giving them jobs, etc. The plan that drew the greatest enthusiasm was 
to make it known that those who would not come in for in terviews would be 
scheduled for Jerome, The last three or four trains left f or Minidoka, 
unfortunately, and not for Jerome, but it was felt that th is idea could 
be put into effect. It was felt that such a threat could not be used while 
the majority of the people were here, but Carter felt that it might be 
started as a rumor, and when the majority had left it could  be announced 
as a definite policy. It was recognized that counseling of the resistant 
group should be done while they still had choice of center s or else they 
would have all the more reason for not leaving» 

At the end of the meeting, which lasted almost two hours, Opler 
suggested that this group be kept as a planning committee to  meet again in 
one or two weeks* 

John Matsumoto (2519-C, N., 30) 
John's attitude is probably typical of many who have tes tified to 

being disloyal to the United States* When John had his seg regation hearing 
because he was sick and did not get a chance to register , he was considered 
loyal and put on the removal list* He had told Cole, who was o n the panel 
which interviewed him, that he wanted to stay here with his family and also 
wanted to return to Japan with them* When he received hi s notice to leave 
he became frightened. He came to the social welfare interv iewing center 
at 2508 and met Mr* Heath, the supervisor. He told John that h e could not 
discuss the case unless his interview sheet came through * JS talked to 
him and calmed him down a little by assuring him that there was a good chance 
of his staying, because he could be considered a part of a fami ly unit with 
his parents, who were going to stay* 

John's main argument for becoming excited was the fact tha t he was 
closely tied up with his parents and could not leave them * His father was 
aged (67) and had a weak heart, and had to be looked after * He had the 
money, however, and John himself had to cling to him fo r support because 
he was not entirely healthy. He was recovering from pleu risy, and he was 
under doctor's orders not to work full time* Consequentl y, if he left with 
his wife and two children, he felt that he would not be  able to make a 
living on the outside* If his parents returned to Japan, a s they said they 
were, he had to return with them* 

Some statements that he made to Heath and JS showed that he did not 
want to be considered disloyal at the time* He had said: 

"Hell, you can't consider me disloyal. I've been loyal to o long* 
But if I can't stay by being loyal, I'm going to be disloya l* I told Cole 
that I wanted to stay here, and he said that I could." 

The next day he had his interview in another center. He to ld them 
that he did not want to leave, and Mrs* Freed told him that  it wouldn't 
do any good to say that because he was scheduled to leave. Nothing was 
said about the possibility of being able to stay because he could be con-
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sidered a part of his parent's family. JS had discussed the matter with 
Mr. Heath, and the latter agreed with JS that it was bettei f̂co keep the 
family together here than to have John making himself disl oyal just to stay 
here. But unfortunately the interview was handled in ano ther center. John 
became frightened and immediately went up to see Cole. 

He asked to see the interview sheet and pointed out that ev erything 
was put down wrong. It stated that he had a property to which he intended 
to return to after the war. John said that he had testified that he had 
no property, and that he didn't intend to return to anythin g at all. He 
intended to return to Japan because it would take his f amily too long to 
build anything up again. Cole apologized. They went t o see Best, who ad-
vised a rehearing. Cole took down the second testimony w hich stated that 
John intended to return to Japan after the war, that he was, i n effect, no 
longer loyal to the U.S. Cole's comments were, according to Johns "You 
can be sure of staying here for the duration if you have it d own like this, 
but I sure hate to see you do it." John's only concern seem s to have been 
to make sure that he could stay here in Tule Lake with his f amily. 

The same evening JS told John that he didn't have to make out a 
testimony of that sort because he could have stayed by m aking arrangements 
with the social welfare department to be considered one family unit with 
his parents. JS made an appointment with John for the fo llowing date to have 
this fact recorded, and perhaps to have the second testim ony scrapped. JS 
wrote up a memo stating that John Matsumoto and his fami ly should be allowed 
to stay with his parents because they were really one fam ily unit. Then he 
was going to add a memo to the Legal Aid Department statin g that John had 
probably made the second testimony in order to stay in Tu le Lake, and not 
because he was disloyal. As he explained to John: 

"You can't tell vfaat's going to happen. You may some day want to 
go out, and then you'll have some basis on which to appe al." 

John, however, saw it in another way. He was afraid that if such 
a memo was sent, his second testimony might be scrapped. He reiterated what 
Cole had said — he'd be sure of staying here if he sent in a te stimony of 
that sort. JS assured him that he could stay if the Socia l Welfare Department 
considered his family one unit with his parentis family. He did not seem to 
trust JS completely on this score, and thought that it wo uld be best if a 
memo were not sent to the Legal Aid Department. In other w ords, he now 
wanted to be put down plainly that he was disloyal to make sure that he could 
stay. He also added that he didn't intend to go out because  he couldn't make 
a living by himself. His folks didn't intend to go back to the  farm because 
they had lost everything and did not feel that they could r ebuild what they 
had lost. John wanted to return to Japan with his parents and make a fresh 
start over there. For these reasons he did not see how he  would ever want 
to appeal to leave Tule Lake and thought it was just as well  that he was 
considered disloyal. 

"What is loyalty or disloyalty? To Isseis it means a defin ite re-
lationship to a country, to a citizenship. To Niseis, at le ast many who 
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have lived over a year in a relocation center, it means very l ittle. 

Disorganization in 2508 
Mrs» Kay Tift was first put in charge at 2508 as supervi sor, and 

at first things were in fairly good order. After the spli t interviews 
started several workers from Washington arrived, and one of them, Mr. Heath, 
was made a supervisor in 2508. He never seemed to know what was going on, 
and never got to a point where he could talk to the workers in a f riendly 
manner. He lasted several days, and a couple of days ago anot her supervisor, 
a Mrs. Thompson (?) was appointed. JS never even got a gl impse of her, and 
even the receptionist did not know what her name was. In th e meantime the 
work was being carried on by Hannah Morimitsu, the recep tionist, and Kay 
Tift, both of whom tried to see to it that the work flowed sm oothly. The 
interviewing was largely done by Tom Sakiyama, Jimmy Ha maguchi, Corky Kaw-
asaki, and Charles (Caucasian). 

Whenever a change in procedure was made, the supervisor w as the 
only one who was notified properly. The workers were no t told properly, 
or were not told at all. When protests of the hearing resul ts began to come 
in, no one seemed to know what to do. The Internal Secur ity sent one person 
to the Social Welfare Department. JS interviewed him, not h aving received 
any instructions on how to handle such a case. He did not k now, for in-
stance, that Tom Sakiyama was handling such odd cases,  and that he would 
have been better able to cope with it. JS called up Legal Aid and learned 
from Silverthorne that testimonies were being taken in s uch cases and being 
kept on file in his office. When JS asked whether he should s end the fel-
low up to his office, he replied that it was all right to d o so. One or 
two days later word came back from the Legal Aid Departmen t that the office 
was being stormed with too many protest cases, and that n o one should be 
sent up there. They should be handled by the social welf are interviewers, 
their protests recorded, and sent back to 1804, where th ey would be directed 
into the right channel. If there were no interview she ets, then four copies 
were to be made. It was not till Saturday morning that genera l office 
procedures were clarified in writing. Kay Tift had take n the trouble to 
get the information and put them down clearly in itemized  form. 

Saturday afternoon all offices were to be closed. Hannah Morimitsu, 
the receptionist, had scheduled some interviews for S aturday afternoon 
herself, and had to keep the office open part of the day to take care of 
these few that came straggling in. 

Types of interviews at 2508 
At 2508 split families are being handled. By split familie s is 

meant families where one or more members is required to sta y in Tule 
Lake. There are some cases, however, of those who have gone thr ough seg-
regation hearing, and every member of the family is on the r emoval list. 
In other words, cases with members of the family in Group II  are being 
handled at 2508. 

The interviews completed on August 28 were tabulated by J S and 
the following results obtained: 
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Split families desiring to stay as a group........... 2 4 

Protest aginast segregation hearing and desiring to stay 
even though on removal  li  st.•••••••••.....••.•••»•••••6 

One or more members of a split family desiring to leave 
the family. ......»..••••••.•••••.•••••3 
(M-21, M-20, stepson and one girl) 

Protest against segregation hearing and desiring to lea ve....1 
(This is probably rare) 

One point brought out by this tabulation is that those -who went 
through the segregation hearing want to stay, by and lar ge, regardless 
of their status. Very few people are willing to leave th eir family, and 
when they do they are Niseis. Practically no one protests segregation 
hearing results because they have been considered dislo yal. 


